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CONTaCT 
dETailS 

Head Office
64 Clarendon Road
Watford
WD17 1DA
T 0845 671 5530
F 01923 201400

Customer Service Centre
64 Clarendon Road
Watford
WD17 1DA
T 0845 671 5530
F 01923 201304
enquiries.hq@britishwaterways.co.uk

BW Scotland
Canal House
Applecross Street
Glasgow G4 9SP
T 0141 332 6936
F 0141 331 1688
enquiries.scotland@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
 
North West Waterways
Waterside House, Waterside Drive
Wigan WN3 5AZ
T 01942 405700
F 01942 405710
enquiries.northwest@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
 
Yorkshire Waterways
Fearns Wharf, Neptune Street
Leeds LS9 8PB
T 0113 281 6800
F 0113 281 6886
enquiries.yorkshire@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
 
Wales & Border Counties Waterways
Navigation Road
Northwich CW8 1BH
T 01606 723800
F 01606 871471
enquiries.wbc@britishwaterways.co.uk
 

East Midlands Waterways
The Kiln, Mather Road
Newark NG24 1FB
T 01636 704481
F 01636 705584
enquiries.eastmidlands@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
 
West Midlands Waterways
Peel’s Wharf, Lichfield Street
Fazeley, Tamworth B78 3QZ
T 01827 252000
F 01827 288071
enquiries.westmidlands@
britishwaterways.co.uk
 
South West Waterways
The Dock Office
Commercial Road
Gloucester  GL1 2EB
T 01452 318000
F 01452 318076
enquiries.southwest@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
 

South East Waterways
Elder House
510-524 Elder Gate
Central Milton Keynes MK9 1BW
T 01908 302500
F 01908 302510
enquiries.southeast@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
 
BW London
1 Sheldon Square
Paddington Central
London W2 6TT
T 020 7985 7200
F 020 7985 7201
enquiries.london@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
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In April 2009 BW announced proposals to change its internal structure in England & Wales, 
including the creation of 11 smaller, ‘hands-on’ waterway units. Consultation is under way  
to decide the precise boundaries and names for these new waterway units ahead of them  
coming into effect in October 2009 when we will publish new contact details on our website,  
www.britishwaterways.co.uk/contact-us



British Waterways (BW) is a public corporation accountable to the Department  
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) in England and Wales,  
and the Scottish Government in Scotland. We manage a 2,200 mile long 
200-year-old network of canals and rivers.

Minister for Inland Waterways, England and Wales 
Huw Irranca-Davies MP

Minister for Transport, Infrastructure and Climate Change, Scotland
Stewart Stevenson MSP 

Strategic Priorities  
In England & Wales our sponsoring department, the Department  
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, provides strategic guidance  
on managing the waterways. The current ‘strategic steer’ sets out  
the following priorities:
1. Maintaining the waterway network in satisfactory order 
2. Achieving the shared Government/British Waterways longer  
 term vision of moving towards greater self-sufficiency 
3. Delivering a range of additional public benefits 

In Scotland we have continued to work closely with the Scottish Government.  
The breadth of British Waterways Scotland’s activities are both consistent  
with, and complementary to, the five strategic objectives set out by the 
Scottish Government:
1. Wealthier and Fairer 
2. Healthier 
3. Safer and Stronger 
4. Smarter 
5. Greener 

We have also worked closely with the Welsh Assembly Government  
and will continue to do so in 2009/10.

British Waterways Annual Report  
& Accounts 2008/09

Annual Report presented to UK Parliament by the 
Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs and to the Scottish Parliament by Scottish 
Ministers in exercise of the powers conferred by 
section 24 (3) and 27 (8) of the Transport Act 1962.
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

We live in difficult economic times when people are  
re-examining some of society’s values. Our waterways  
and surrounding countryside are no less valuable today  
than yesterday; indeed they are even more appreciated  
and valued with increasing numbers of people living,  
working and relaxing along them. 

Our waterways are valued because people come to see,  
touch and experience something that is timeless, something  
that is wholesome and natural, not ephemeral and affected by 
the latest fashion, something that engages the whole family, 
something that involves the local community in sharing rather 
than taking, something that is free and accessible for all, and 
something that protects our environment for the future in a way 
that delights and humanises all who are involved. Resourcing this 
wonderful asset will always be an issue, which is why we want 
local communities and individuals to feel an even greater sense 
of ownership and belonging to the canals and rivers with British 
Waterways as their steward and facilitator.

Along the network there have been so many individual successes, 
not least those involving an ever increasing number of volunteers, 
whose commitment to maintaining and extending the waterways, 
training others in new craft and social skills, and providing the 
opportunity for those less advantaged to experience the beauty 
of the water, its heritage, its wildlife and its countryside,  
is so much appreciated. We were also delighted to see  
the number of boats licensed on the network increase  
again to nearly 33,000 – another record figure.

The year has seen some major projects completed including  
the £23m Three Mills Lock Project and regeneration of the 
surrounding waterways in East London, the Liverpool Canal Link  
past the Three Graces into the heart of the old docks,  
and the first phase of the Manchester, Bury & Bolton Canal.  
The Droitwich Canals restoration is also progressing well. 

In Scotland we have finalised a partnership agreement with 
Falkirk Council to extend the Forth & Clyde Canal down the River 
Carron as part of the HELIX project. Each of these is stunning 
and the local pride and economic activity generated has been  
a joy to experience. I am also delighted that the Cotswold Canals 
Project continues to progress, despite our own inability to 
contribute financially. We wish the Partnership every success. 
Major restoration projects must be funded substantially by third 
party partners and I would like to thank the many outstanding 
partners, who contribute much more than just funding.

2  
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Much of our work is funded from our commercial activities, 
including property joint ventures. As with property generally, 
these are difficult times and our income and assets were 
adversely affected last year. Nevertheless we have again 
out-performed the Investment Property Databank (IPD) – 
the most widely accepted benchmark for performance in the 
property market, and our long-term track record has been good. 

We were also pleased that in the April Budget the Treasury 
recognised our successful record in managing our property 
endowment in England & Wales, following a detailed independent 
review by Gerry Grimstone as part of the Treasury’s Operational 
Efficiency Programme. Other commercial income from various 
sources has held up well in these challenging times with 
renewable energy initiatives providing the source for  
the latest new income stream.

Our priority is to use this commercially generated income, 
together with the income granted to us by the governments,  
to maintain our waterway infrastructure. During the year we spent 
over £100m on maintaining our waterways including the major 
repair of the Monmouthshire & Brecon Canal, completed  
on time and to a budget of £7.5m. 

We have also taken prudent steps to reduce costs to help us 
maintain our spend on waterway maintenance in future years,  
in the face of an inevitable squeeze on public expenditure.  
Our cost reductions, in a business where payroll is such a large 
cost, include losing some people. We do not do this lightly  
and I would like to thank all those who continue to do excellent 
work under difficult circumstances and also those who have  
left us for their contribution to our waterways.

While much of our focus is on maintaining the network and 
ensuring maximum public benefit in terms of health, education, 
regeneration, social inclusion, environmental protection and flood 
alleviation we and our varied stakeholders must also continue  
to think about the long-term plans and required funding options, 
including further diversification of funding.

The Board of British Waterways now believes it is right to review 
the long-term governance of the waterways. We want local 
communities, individuals and volunteers to have a greater sense 
of ownership and responsibility for their waterways. We have just 
published our document, 2020: A Vision for the Future of our 
Canals and Rivers, which sets out a long-term strategy for 
sustainable waterways based on the gradual migration of BW 
from the public sector to the charitable sector. We are glad  
to see the public debate, which has already started on this 
proposed strategy, and we are encouraged by its warm reception 
from our stakeholders. We will continue to consult extensively 
and look forward to receiving views and suggestions from  
all interested parties.

We also welcome Defra’s commitment to review the UK 
Government’s Waterways for Tomorrow policy document and  
the Scottish Government’s forthcoming update of the policy 
document, Scotland’s Canals: An Asset For the Future.

My thanks go to Huw Irranca-Davies MP, our Waterways Minister 
for England and Wales, and to Stewart Stevenson MSP, our 
Minister responsible for canals in Scotland. They have both made 
a great effort to see the waterways and meet our customers  
and both they and their staff have been very supportive.

Thank you to our many partners in local government, the 
Lotteries, the other agencies such as Natural England, Scottish 
Natural Heritage and the Environment Agency and, in particular, 
the volunteer movement for its increasing impact. Working 
effectively to make a real difference to our waterways can only 
be achieved by working in partnership. Finally, thanks to our loyal 
BW teams for their real commitment to the considerable task  
in hand. We have much to do and a passion to do it.

Tony Hales 
Chairman
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GROUP 
OVERVIEW 
PROGRESSING THE VISION

The ambition we set ourselves five years ago was that by 
2012 we will have created an expanded, vibrant, largely 
self-sufficient waterway network used by twice as many 
people as in 2002. It will be regarded as one of the nation’s 
most important and valued national assets. Visitors will be 
delighted by the experience and as a consequence many 
will become active participants.

4  
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That vision has served us well and we have made good progress 
towards it. The following key achievements highlight this:

•	 The	network	has	expanded	since	2003.	Phase	one	of	the		
 Manchester, Bolton & Bury Canal opened in September 2008  
 followed by the Liverpool Canal Link in March 2009. The lock  
 connection to the Olympic waterways opened in June 2009  
 and we expect the Droitwich Canals to open in 2010.
•	 We	have	made	good	progress	in	becoming	more	self-			
 sufficient with our own earned income growing from 57%  
 of turnover in 2002/03 to 67% of turnover in 2008/09.  
 Earned income per employee grew by 48% between   
 2002/03 and 2008/09.
•	 Visitor	numbers,	although	not	doubling,	have	increased	 
 in recent years with average visitor numbers in a typical  
 two week period reaching 3.4m in 2008, up 6% on 2007  
 and 17% on 2006.
•	 The	strength	of	support	for	the	waterways	has	continued	 
 to grow. In 2008, 90% of British adults agree that canals  
 are an important part of the nation’s heritage, of those 59%  
 strongly agreed, an 8% increase compared to 2007.
•	 The	number	of	people	who	strongly	agree	that	canals	 
 are good places to look around has increased from  
 37% in 2007 to 42% in 2008.

£½bn of public benefits
Last year, our network of canals and rivers provided more  
than £½bn of public benefit to society. This included wide 
ranging health and well-being benefits as a result of people  
using our waterways and towpaths for exercise and recreation; 
tourism benefits from both domestic and overseas visitors taking 
canal boat holidays; valuable biodiversity benefits; regeneration 
benefits and even important flood defences in many of our  
towns and cities. Overall, there is a compelling argument for  
the waterways to be one of Britain’s most treasured assets –  
this year effectively delivering more than a six-fold return  
on every £1 of government grant invested in them. 

The past 12 months have seen a continued interest in the 
contribution our waterways make to communities up and down 
the network – including a useful debate held at our Annual 
Meeting entitled Waterways for the 21st century. The debate 
included comment on how we could work more closely with  
local authorities to ensure communities reap the benefits  
of well maintained waterways and how we should harness  
the latent contribution that volunteering could make towards  
the running of the network.

Partners invest over £36m in the waterways
In addition to their time, guidance and support, our partners,  
from regional development agencies and local authorities  
to lotteries and local charities, invested £36.1m in our waterways 
in 2008/09. This was spent on a wide range of waterway 
improvements both large and small and reflects our often  
shared goals in delivering public benefit. We thank them all. 

  5
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More boats and more people 
The waterways are home to more boats now than at any other 
time since coming into public ownership. Today, this is primarily 
for a thriving leisure and tourism industry which generates 
£980m into the economy and supports 22,000 jobs. 

The success of our marketing campaigns together with ongoing 
access and waterway improvements and an increasing desire  
for ‘things local’ have led to an increase in visitors taking part  
in the impressively wide ranging activities that our waterways  
and towpaths offer. Walking, angling, cycling and jogging plus,  
of course, boating being amongst the most popular. During the 
last year, the number of visits to the waterways increased by 
 7% from 245.3m in 2007 to 262.6m in 2008. The figures  
are particularly important when it is considered that the number  
of visits to inland waterways as a whole is in decline. 

Safeguarding our heritage 
Our research shows that 90% of people think that waterways  
are an important part of the nation’s heritage. Last year  
we amply demonstrated our determination to safeguard  
the waterway heritage. The grade II* Navigation Warehouse on 
the Calder & Hebble Navigation in Wakefield has been 
magnificently repaired and restored.  It picked up the city’s Civic 
Trust award for its restoration and was commended by BURA 
(British Urban Regeneration Association) in their annual 
Waterway Renaissance Awards. We have also reduced the 
number of our buildings on local authority ‘buildings at risk’ 
registers. We continue to work closely with English 

Heritage who led a series of important regional seminars  
on Heritage Management Agreements (partnerships between 
heritage owners and heritage authorities) to which BW made  
a significant and highly commended contribution. Having hosted 
a UNESCO visit to Pontcysyllte Aqueduct in September 2008, 
we were delighted when this wonder of the waterways and 
Scheduled Monument was awarded World Heritage Status  
in June 2009.

Protecting our environment 
Waste management is a major challenge in terms of dealing  
with waste dumped on our land and the waste produced  
by our activities. AINA (Association of Inland Navigation 
Authorities) published best practice guidance this year which  
was developed largely by us to aid the navigation and drainage 
industry in dealing with dredgings. In the last year we saved  
£1m by recycling dredgings and avoided 10,000 lorry 
movements on Britain’s roads.

Earlier this year we raised the issue of abandoned shopping 
trolleys by launching a shopping trolley hotline for the public  
to report sightings of trolleys dumped in our canals and rivers. 
Seeking a cost recovery agreement with the UK’s leading retailers, 
widespread media coverage asked why retailers aren’t doing more 
to tackle the issue. Later in 2009 a Golden Trolley Award will  
be presented to the retailer who takes the most environmentally 
responsible approach, while an Off Your Trolley Award will  
be presented to the retailer who takes the least environmentally 
responsible approach.

6  

398BrWa_AR0809_TEXT_AW_v1.0.indd   6 8/7/09   18:25:01



Similarly, opportunities to use canal water as a more  
sustainable alternative to traditional air conditioning saw  
the West London canalside headquarters of pharmaceutical  
giant GlaxoSmithKline become the latest to introduce  
a scheme which is targeted to save 920 tonnes of carbon  
dioxide emissions per annum. Up to a further 1,000 waterside 
businesses nationwide could follow suit, resulting in carbon 
dioxide emissions savings of approximately one million  
tonnes – equivalent to some 400,000 family sized  
cars being taken off the roads.  

We continue to develop our Sustainable Development Action 
Plan based around four key drivers, raw materials, energy,  
waste and ecology.

Teaching the next generation about the waterways 
Our dedicated education website WOW (Wild Over Waterways) 
has been relaunched following changes to the national 
curriculum and a growing emphasis on learning outside  
the classroom.  

Visits to the website have increased to over 110,000 in 2008,  
up 34% on 2007. The educational offer has been improved  
at some of our key destinations such as the Anderton Boat Lift 
and Standedge Tunnel. The new resources, workshops  
and visits have been marketed to local schools and a general 
WOW promotion has been sent to all UK primary schools. 

One of the key features that attract visitors to the waterways  
is its wildlife and BW’s National Wildlife Survey is a way  
the public can register their interest and get involved.  
Biodiversity improvements are not only undertaken by ourselves, 
we work with partners such as the Environment Agency and 
BTCV (British Trust for Conservation Volunteers) clearing 
Floating Pennywort, and with Derbyshire Wildlife to remove 
unwanted plants on the Cromford Canal to improve water  
vole habitat.
  
As part of the transformation of Auchinstarry Basin on the  
Forth & Clyde Canal in Scotland, we introduced environmentally 
sustainable practices and The Waterways Trust Scotland worked 
with the local community and a broad range of funders to create  
Scents & Sensitivities, a sensory garden and nature trail. 
 
Waterways help combat climate change
Climate change, and adapting to the effects of climate change,  
is high on the public agenda with heavier storm waters  
and flooding an increasingly accepted consequence of global 
warming. Already providing land drainage benefits to society 
valued at some £67m, the contribution our waterways can  
make to the nation’s flood defences is becoming increasingly 
significant – with canal levels controlled and managed so that 
they divert flood waters away from deluged areas. The plans  
we announced during the year to generate renewable energy 
across the waterways will provide a valuable contribution towards 
the Government’s renewable targets. Together, the opportunity 
for wind turbines on waterside land and hydroelectric schemes  
at a number of our river weirs will generate 429 mega watts  
of energy – enough for 85,000 homes. As the schemes are 
developed over the next few years, the network will produce 
more than ten times the energy that it consumes.

  7
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Making sure we know what you think
2008/09 saw the introduction of our new Customer Service 
Standards. For the first time we have monitored People, Safety 
and Performance Standards on a continuous basis through  
our internal inspection regimes and external ‘mystery shopping’. 
The 81 standards that make up the detail of each category  
are published along with the individual scores on our website  
at www.britishwaterways.co.uk/customer-service-standards.

During this year we received a total of 417 complaints  
at the first level of BW’s complaints process, this is a reduction  
of 20% on the previous year (521 in 2007/08) and almost 50%  
on two years ago (762 in 2006/07). Of these first level 
complaints 63 went to the second level to be considered  
by a director. This represents 15% of all complaints received 
(13% in 2007/08 and 11% in 2006/07).

The independent Waterways Ombudsman is available to consider 
complaints at a third and final stage. During 2008/09 she 
received 72 enquiries, 12% of which did not relate to BW and 
65% of which were premature, i.e. the complainant had yet to 
complete BW’s internal complaints procedure. 16 complaints  
(29 in 2007/08) were accepted for consideration. The Waterways 
Ombudsman completed 16 cases during this year (39 in 07/08). 
Ten were not upheld, one was discontinued, the Ombudsman 
made no finding on another one and four cases were resolved  
to the satisfaction of the complainant after action by BW 
following the Ombudsman’s intervention. Information about  
the Ombudsman scheme and its independent committee  
is available at www.waterways-ombudsman.org.
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Riding out the recession
Summary of year’s results £m 
   BW Group 
 2008/09 2007/08  2006/07  2005/06 2004/05 
  Restated
Total revenue  223.3 219.1 188.9 190.5 179.1
 
Operating (loss) / profit  5.6 (1.5) (0.4) 0.4 (7.4)
Net interest payable   (3.4) (0.2) (0.4) (3.0) (3.5)
Share of profits and losses from joint ventures (33.3) (2.4) 7.3 7.7 1.1
Profit on sale of property and investments  4.7  19.4 8.3 15.0 14.8
(Loss) / gain on revaluation of investment properties (66.4) 17.2 44.1 43.8 56.8

(Deficit) / surplus before taxation  (92.8) 32.5 58.9 63.9 61.8
  
Group reserves  378.7 477.8 426.8 381.1 322.0
Comparatives figures for 2007/08 have been restated due to the transition to International Financial Reporting Standards

This year’s financial results are adversely affected by the severe 
downturn in the property markets and the recession generally. 
Commercial income, however, has increased by 11%, mainly  
due to a one-off property easement premium. Other sources  
of income have held up well against the recession with a positive 
underlying trend in all main income areas.

Despite increasing pressure on funding we have maintained 
expenditure on waterway maintenance and customer services  
at a similar level at £70.9m (2008: £68.8m) and expenditure  
on major works increased to £28.6m (2008: £21.5m). 
Expenditure on third party funded projects is driven by the 
availability of funding and activity reduced by 26% to £36.1m  
as construction on major projects reached or neared completion.

The value of BW’s non operational property portfolio has also 
shown the effects of the recession with a 15% reduction in the 
portfolio for the year (£66m). That reduction, however, compares 
favourably with the IPD UK index capital return for 2008  
of -26% for all commercial property and -18% for residential 
property. BW’s investment portfolio contains some very secure 
ground rent investments which have not been as badly affected 
as other commercial asset classes. 

At Wood Wharf in Docklands, the approval of outline planning 
consent during the year for redevelopment has had a positive 
overall effect of value reductions in the property development 
portfolio. The residential portfolio has been revalued upwards 
by 13% following a thorough and detailed valuation exercise. 
The overall reduction in value, whilst significant, should be set 
against a sustained rise in BW’s property values over the last five 
years. Group reserves reduced by 20% to £378.7m reflecting 
reductions in the market value of our property investments and 
joint venture property developments and an increase in the 
pension fund deficit. 

Total group cash balances as at 31 March 2009 were £61.3m  
(2008: £37.6m). The increase reflects the clear management 
focus on maintaining liquidity during a period of increased risk  
in the property development activity in our joint ventures. 
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Total Group income, including third party funding, increased  
by 2% to £223.3m. Group commercial income increased by 11%  
to £112.9m, mainly due to some one-off premiums in respect  
of third party property development activity adjacent to the 
waterways. Excluding this item, there has been a small 2% 
reduction in property income due to income foregone on property 
disposals. Utility income has held up well in the downturn 
showing an increase of 6% to £21.4m. While terminations  
from water sales customers are up significantly on previous 
years, new business, particularly with larger utility customers,  
is increasing. 

Boat licence income has increased by 13% reflecting an 
increase in yield per long-term licence of 6% and the 4% 
increase in the number of long-term licences issued. Part of the 
increase in numbers was achieved from further reductions in 
evasion as well as growth in the boating market. In December 
2008 we announced the introduction of a Late Payment 
Charge to encourage prompt payment and this was successfully 
introduced from 1 April 2009. Over the last year our specialist 
department focusing on developing new marinas for third party 
investors facilitated the creation of 1,600 new berths.

Contributions to third party funded works overall reduced  
by 26% to £36.1m. Activity on the larger restorations continued  
at a similar level to the previous year, with the main projects 
under construction being the Liverpool Link canal extension  
and the Droitwich Canals restoration. Contributions towards  
other third party funded projects reduced in 2008/09  
as projects reached or neared completion.

Grant-in-aid 
We took advantage of an offer from Defra to receive an 
additional grant payment of £5m this year on the understanding 
that it is likely to be taken off a future year’s grant. This meant 
that the grant-in-aid received from Defra was £62.7m (2008: 
£56.6m) which was higher than the previous year by £6.1m. 
Future grant in aid is not expected to continue at this level  
and some reductions in the next few years are likely. Grant from  
the Scottish Government increased by £0.3m to £11.6m.

10  
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THE
FUTURE

Integral to the plan is the programme of efficiency and cost 
saving measures announced in April 2009. This aims  
to save £10m per year in overhead costs. These savings  
will be reinvested in increased maintenance of the waterways, 
particularly in improving the long-term condition of major 
infrastructure such as embankments, bridges, aqueducts  
and locks.

Whilst looking ahead to the next three years we must also  
look to the long-term future too. That is why we have begun  
the public debate about a strategy for the waterways to 2020 
and beyond. Our belief is that a gradual migration for BW from 
the public sector to the ‘third’ or voluntary sector will bring many 
benefits and lead to a more secure future based on increased 
stakeholder involvement. 

We are encouraged by the warm response our ideas have 
initially received. We hope the debate will make a positive 
contribution to the UK Government’s review of its policy 
Waterways for Tomorrow due to be completed early in 2010 
and the Scottish Government will consider the feedback  
we receive in its forthcoming update of Scotland’s Canals:  
An Asset for the Future.

You can find out more about our strategic  
ideas and tell us what you think at:  
www.britishwaterways.co.uk/twentytwenty

Our first priority is to ensure that our waterways survive  
the recession and can continue to provide over £500m  
of public benefit each year for Britain. We have constructed 
a prudent plan for the next three years. In such changing 
and challenging circumstances it will take all our effort  
to deliver it. 
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ENGLAND & WALES 
REVIEW

Our primary role is to protect our 200 year old waterway 
network. Integral to this are the 2,650 listed structures,  
47 scheduled monuments and many unique pieces  
of working heritage such as tunnels, locks and bridges.

These features give the waterways their special appeal but 
maintaining them is costly because they cannot and should not 
be repaired with or replaced by low cost modern equivalents. 
Despite the long periods of under investment during the 20th 
century, in more recent years the basic condition of the network 
has improved with all safety-related repairs completed in 2004. 

However, the waterways are not sufficiently funded to allow 
maintenance of the network at a stable and acceptable quality 
level. Work commissioned from accountants KPMG in 2008 
confirmed that an extra £30m is needed every year to maintain 
the waterways at ‘steady state’ which means maintenance  
and repairs are sufficient to prevent long-term decline  
in the condition of the waterway infrastructure.

£100m spent on waterway maintenance 
2008/09’s total maintenance and repair expenditure in England 
and Wales was £101.6m (2008: £95.1m) out of a total operating 
cost of £175.2m excluding third party funded works. While new 
strategies are being worked up to address the issue of long-term 
funding already referred to, we have agreed with government  
that during this current spending review period, we will maintain  
the waterways in their current condition which we describe  
as ‘holding state’.

12  
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£10bn of regeneration generated 
Our waterways pass through some stunning countryside as well 
as many deprived, former industrial areas of our towns and cities. 
With half the network in government priority areas for investment, 
often the most visible public benefit is the regeneration that is 
kick-started by vibrant waterways – either as a result of a newly 
restored waterway or as the focal point of an area-based 
regeneration initiative around an existing waterway. 
Although the regeneration taking place alongside the waterways 
has slowed as a result of the recession, the waterways remain  
an important catalyst for positive community change and social 
inclusion. Landholdings of BW and its joint ventures, either 
independently or as part of a wider partnership, will eventually 
generate approximately £10bn worth of regeneration alongside 
our waterways in England and Wales. As the market recovers, 
these regeneration schemes will boost employment, support  
the local economy and enable the delivery of around 13,000  
new homes, of which 2,500 will be affordable housing. 

During the year, a number of exciting milestones were met  
on our partnership restoration projects. 

Liverpool Canal Link 
A brand new stretch of canal has re-established the historic 
connection between Liverpool’s currently underused South 
Docks and the Leeds & Liverpool Canal. The £22m partnership 
between BW, the North West Regional Development Agency, 
Merseyside Objective One programme, Homes and Communities 
Agency and Peel Holdings has opened up the city’s waterfront  
to the rest of the canal network – attracting boats and echoing  
a time past when waterways brought prosperity to Liverpool. 
Cutting a course through the World Heritage Site in front of the 
famous Three Graces – the Liver, Cunard and Port of Liverpool 
buildings – the new 1½ mile Canal Link will generate 200,000 
extra visitors annually to Liverpool’s docks with an additional 
tourism spend of £1.9m. 

2012 Olympics
The completion of the £23m Three Mills Lock and water control 
structure on Prescott Channel will ensure the Bow Back Rivers 
form an integral and active part of the 2012 Olympic Park.  
The lock restores these post-industrial waterways to navigation  
and has created a green gateway for 350-tonne freight barges  
to enter the Olympic Park enabling thousands of lorry journeys  
to be taken off local roads during the remainder of the Olympic 
Park and future construction phases. The project is part of  
a wider strategy to maximise the use of the rivers in the area  
for wildlife, boats and people, creating a thriving waterway legacy. 
BW’s partners and joint funders include Defra, the Olympic 
Delivery Authority, Transport for London, London Thames 
Gateway Development Corporation, London Development 
Agency and the Department for Transport. 

Droitwich Canals
The restoration of the Barge and Junction canals in Droitwich 
(one of the first and last canals of the industrial revolution)  
is progressing well – ahead of the Droitwich Canals re-opening 
to navigation in Spring 2010. The £11.5m project which includes 
2,000 volunteer days (to date) will create a 21-mile cruising ring 
and is set to generate £2.75m per year for the local economy. 

Manchester, Bolton & Bury Canal
September saw the opening of Phase 1 of the 15-mile 
Manchester, Bolton & Bury Canal restoration that reconnected 
the canal with the River Irwell. The £6m project is led by BW  
and supported by European Regional Development Fund through 
Manchester Enterprises, Salford City Council, North West 
Development Agency, and Valley and Vale Properties.
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Creating green routes
60% of visitors say they exercise more because  
of access to our waterways and, in the case of towpath 
improvements alone, upgrading a towpath will often double  
the number of people visiting and utilising a waterway for 
recreation or as a green route through our towns and cities.

The last year has seen many examples of towpath improvements, 
such as on the River Stort in Harlow where we partnered the 
local council to create a sculpture trail – part of a wider plan  
to improve almost four and a half miles of towpath and wildlife 
habitat stretching from the town centre. More people are now 
enjoying the local area with visitor numbers increasing from 
43,000 per year in 2007 to more than 61,000 in 2008. 

In South Leicestershire, we led the partnership to complete  
a £2.9m funded project at Foxton Locks on the Grand Union 
Canal. The winner of the 2009 BURA Waterway Renaissance 
Award for Outstanding Achievement, the five year project turned 
the area into a key regional tourism destination attracting close 
to a third of a million visitors per year. Works have included 
upgrading almost two miles of paths, installation of new viewing 
areas, interpretation and restoration works around the Historic 
Inclined Plane. 

Waterway volunteering 
During the year we employed a national volunteering manager,  
an important step in our journey to better understand existing 
and potential volunteering across the waterways. We also 
launched awards that go part way to recognising the significant 
volunteer contribution made on our canals and rivers – identifying 
a number which, through their dedication, have made  
a significant impact on their local waterway. All this helped  
us to double the number of volunteer days on our waterways  
to 16,000, valued at over £1m.

We are looking at how waterways volunteering can become  
more accessible to local communities, engaging them for mutual 
benefit – such as on the Lancaster Canal where the Canal Trust 
recently made important heritage repairs to structures on the 
Hincaster Tunnel Horse Path, a scheduled monument. 

In addition to looking at new opportunities and partnerships, 
we’ve built on already successful initiatives such as our annual 
Towpath Tidy week which, during March, attracted more than 
1,700 volunteers to help clear 149 tonnes of litter across  
216 miles of waterway.  

An important milestone this year, in partnership with The 
Waterways Trust, was the securing of a £300,000 funding 
programme from v – the independent charity which aims  
to inspire a new generation of volunteers (aged 16-25)  
in England. The support will fund an exciting trial programme 
across waterways in the North West to help overcome  
the barriers that stop people taking action to become  
involved in community-related volunteering projects.

14  
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Key performance indicators (KPIs) for England and Wales
We have agreed some KPIs with Defra, which are explained  
and reported below. These KPIs are derived from the business 
plan prepared by BW. The financial measures are based  
on management accounting information which is not included  
in this report.

The key financial measure is the net commercial income 
generated by BW that we use to fund works that deliver public 
benefit, such as waterway maintenance and major works, 
restorations and regeneration activity. This target is referred  
to as Net Commercial Performance for which the planned target  
was £29.4m for 2008/09 compared with £26.3m actually 
achieved (before permanent impairment losses on joint ventures).

The efficiency measure agreed was a KPI represented by the net 
cost of the centralised service function, administration and senior 
management of BW. The target was for 3% real savings against 
which actual real savings of 3.26% were delivered.

Our KPI target for the condition of principal assets was for  
D&E classified assets not to exceed an aggregate percentage  
of 21.5% of the total number of principal assets. The actual 
percentage of D&E assets as at 31 March 2009 was 20.3%

BW has defined Minimum Safety Standards for the waterways. 
The KPI target for this measure was planned to be 100% 
compliance by 31 March 2009. Our actual compliance was  
97%. The degree of non-compliance was due to a range of 
factors mainly associated with specialist consent requirements. 
Temporary risk mitigation arrangements were put in place in the 
meantime. We expect to reach full compliance during 2009/10.

We planned to develop a scoring system to reflect the overall 
condition/functionality of our waterways year on year. We set  
a target to have this system in place by March 2009 so we can 
establish a benchmark score by that date. Whilst progress on this 
measure is well under way we have not yet finalised the scoring 
system. The benchmark score as at 31 March 2009 will be 
determined during 2009.

We measure the public’s assessment of the value of our 
waterways and report this as a KPI. This measurement is 
assessed by asking 1,000 adults in Great Britain the extent  
to which they agree or disagree with the following statement, 
‘Canals are an important part of the nation’s heritage’.  
The target score is for 90% to say they agreed or strongly 
agreed with the statement. The result for 2009 was an on target 
score of 90%. We also survey users of the waterways in respect 
of their ‘propensity to recommend’ their particular activity to 
others. The KPI is framed on the percentage that would 
‘definitely recommend’ and were as follows for  
the year 2008/09:

 Target Achieved 2008/09
 % %
Boaters 75 46
Towpath users 70 52
Destinations 80 67
Holiday boater 80 73

The number of visits to the waterways is surveyed over fortnightly 
periods and averaged into an annual score. The KPI target for 
2008/09 was 3.3m visits in a typical two week period against 
which a survey achievement of 3.4m visits was measured.
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Progressing our waterway vision for Wales
This last financial year saw significant progress in our key 
delivery areas of waterway development, government partnership 
and public engagement. Although the waterways of Wales are 
currently funded from Westminster, the benefits are delivered 
locally. The Welsh Assembly Government values the economic 
and social potential of our waterways and our local team plays  
a key role in strengthening ties with organisations such as canal 
societies and community groups. These partnerships permit  
the delivery of effective and cohesive improvements to our  
core product – the waterway network of Wales. 

The Welsh Assembly Government’s ‘One Wales’ agenda is a key 
driver in the development of our waterways as primary economic 
generators and inclusive social networks. Its emphasis on health, 
recreational and economic benefits has required development  
of effective partnerships. Board Member John Bridgeman has 
taken on a specific role to co-ordinate and develop this vision. 
The Cross Party Group for Waterways is a popular forum which 
keeps our aims and objectives high on the political agenda  
with a series of topical presentations. A dedicated Strategic 
Action Group has been established as a primary interface  
to drive economic and social developments in the South East 
Wales region.

Monmouthshire & Brecon Canal re-opens
BW honoured its commitment to repair the Monmouthshire  
& Brecon Canal, which suffered a major unforeseeable breach  
in 2007. After spending £1m on repairs in 2007/08, followed  
by £7.5m in 2008/09 we are pleased to report the canal  
was re-opened on time and within budget on 29 March 2009.
While our efforts clearly focused on bringing the Monmouthshire 
& Brecon Canal back into full operation, progress continued  
on other major projects. In September 2008, Pontcysyllte 
Aqueduct’s bid for World Heritage Status moved into its final 
phase with a three day assessment by UNESCO assessors  
at the 11-mile site along the Llangollen Canal. At the end  
of June 2009 we were thrilled when UNESCO announced  
that our bid had been successful.

Showcasing Wales’ canals
The waterways of Wales continue to play a growing role  
in our nation’s economic and social prosperity. Promoting  
these leisure amenities to increasing visitor numbers forms  
an essential aspect of our remit in Wales. A well structured 
agenda at the Royal Welsh Agricultural Show ensures 
stakeholders at every level can share in our vision for Wales, 
through accessible written material to oral presentations  
on dedicated waterway topics. Maintaining a high public profile 
throughout the lifespan of the Monmouthshire & Brecon Canal 
project yielded a positive end result. First Minister Rhodri Morgan 
AM and Waterways Minister Huw Irranca-Davies MP shared 
centre stage to deliver a positive message about the future  
of our waterways to a packed Goytre Wharf audience.

WALES 
REVIEW
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SCOTLAND 
REVIEW

Since devolution, British Waterways Scotland (BWS) has been 
sponsored and funded by the Scottish Government, allowing  
us to develop a bespoke approach reflecting the individual 
characteristics and opportunities of our canals and the Scottish 
Government’s strategic objectives: Wealthier and Fairer; 
Healthier; Safer and Stronger; Smarter and Greener. 

Following a positive outcome from the last Scottish Spending 
Review, the Scottish Government’s strong commitment is 
reflected in planned increases to our baseline grant from £11.3m 
in 2007/08 to £11.6m in 2008/09, £11.8m in 2009/10 and 
£12m in 2010/11. We have pledged to match these baseline 
grant increases with improved revenue streams.

Wealthier & fairer
During the year, we welcomed the findings of a report by 
independent economic consultants which demonstrated the 
major contribution of canals to Scotland’s economy, stimulating 
£282m of private investment and supporting almost 5,000 jobs.

Projections show that our restoration of the Lowland Canal 
network, begun with our £78m Millennium Link project 
connecting the Forth & Clyde and Union canals, has the potential 
to generate £1.5bn of investment and over 12,500 jobs by 2015  
if investment in Scotland’s canals continues at the current level.

We are also committed to encouraging the widest possible use 
of our canals. Recent marketing campaigns have, in particular, 
challenged existing public perception that ‘non users tend to feel 
little connection, dismissing the waterways as only being relevant 
to boaters and anglers’. Our first campaign, held in Edinburgh  
this year, achieved a 71% increase in awareness and 38% 
increase in use.

Overall, our promotional activities helped stimulate 24.5m visits  
to the Scottish canal network this year, up 2.68% from 23.9m 
the previous year. Throughout the year, BWS also engaged  
with some 93,498 people through a packed events programme  
(up from 40,245 the previous year). Events ranged from the 
Kirkintilloch Canal Festival and the Glasgow River Festival  
to numerous smaller local community events such as organised 
walks, cycling, canoeing and fun runs. 

Working in partnership to deliver more
We cannot realise our vision for Scotland’s canal network  
in isolation and during the year we continued to forge close 
working relationships with a broad spectrum of public and private 
sector partners delivering a range of exciting projects:
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The HELIX: We continued to work with Falkirk Council and 
Central Scotland Forest Trust on this major project to revitalise 
and regenerate a massive area between Falkirk and Grangemouth 
into a mixed use eco-park promoting greener and healthier travel. 
When completed, The HELIX (which was awarded £25m from 
the Big Lottery Fund’s Living Landmarks Fund) will contribute  
to the Scottish Government’s aspiration to improve the ease  
of entry to the Forth & Clyde Canal from the River Carron. This 
will be achieved by creating a canal link between Grangemouth 
on the River Forth and the Forth & Clyde Canal. 

West Dunbartonshire: As well as an innovative solution to  
the alleviation of flood risks, the proposed Lomond Canal along 
the Leven Valley, which is currently at feasibility stage, forms  
part of hugely exciting aspirations to unlock development 
opportunities across West Dunbartonshire, from Bowling  
(the western gateway to the Forth & Clyde Canal) to Balloch  
and Loch Lomond & The Trossachs National Park. 

Speirs Locks and Maryhill Locks: Working with our partners, 
Glasgow City Council and ISIS, the regeneration of the Glasgow 
canal corridor is recognised as key to the transformation  
of the north of the city. Our masterplan for Speirs Locks  
was recognised with a prestigious BURA award for Strategy  
and Masterplanning and both masterplans received ‘exemplar’ 
status from the Scottish Government’s new Scottish Sustainable 
Communities Initiative (SSCI). 

Edinburgh Quay: This award-winning landmark development,  
a joint venture with Miller Developments, has delivered over 
24,000 sq metres of high quality mixed use office, residential  
and leisure space, over 1,000 local jobs and an estimated 
£86.6m into the Edinburgh economy. It has also proved a 
catalyst for the extension of the Exchange District west along 
Fountainbridge, attracting several high profile financial services 
sector tenants.

Muirtown Basin, Inverness: Significant advances were  
also made on the long-term development of the most northerly  
node on the Caledonian Canal.

Ardrishaig, on the Crinan Canal: In partnership with Ardrishaig’s 
community, Argyll & Bute Council and other partners, we began 
to develop a ‘placemaking’ masterplan to transform  
the waterfront into a vibrant, sustainable community. 
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Key to our partnership approach is the work of the British 
Waterways Scotland Group (BWSG). Meeting three times a year, 
BWSG represents our corporate and commercial interests in 
Scotland’s devolved political environment. We are also committed 
to the Scottish Canals Development Group, a collective  
of organisations with a common interest in sustaining  
our vibrant canals chaired by the Scottish Government.

Healthier, safer and stronger
Creating Community Ownership  
The Waterways Trust Scotland (TWTS) continues to encourage 
community and voluntary sector engagement with our network  
in partnership with BWS and other organisations. TWTS achieved 
its target of raising £1m this year and 880 volunteer days  
with an accrued value of over £44,000 through towpath 
improvement events.

TWTS also organised the first annual Bigman event at Maryhill 
Locks to celebrate Maryhill, its canal and people and the 
proposed Bigman bridge which will join the three communities 
presently separated by the canal. The exciting programme  
of events attracted over 2,500 visitors. 

In addition, we acknowledge the work of the voluntary canal 
societies which help communities engage with their local  
canals through boat trips.

Boating in Scotland
On the Caledonian Canal the burgeoning canoe market,  
which currently generates £750,000 annually to the Highlands’ 
economy, is growing by 25% per annum from a base  
of 2,500 paddlers.

The total number of boats licensed in Scotland in 2008/09  
was 3,354, compared with 3,567 in 2007/08, a decrease  
of 5.97%. This reflects our unavoidable decision to close  
the sea lock on the Crinan Canal for a major repair during  
the height of the season.
 
Against this slight decrease, we recorded hugely successful 
scores in our annual boat owner satisfaction survey with 
propensity to recommend at 76%. Holiday boaters similarly 
registered 74% up from 70% in 2007/08. 

Our contribution to efforts to position Scotland as a world-class 
holiday destination was recognised when the Caledonian Canal 
was voted the ‘Best Overall Holiday Experience’ in Le Boats 
Tourism Survey across Europe.

Smarter
The Falkirk Wheel, the world’s first and only rotating boat lift,  
is now one of the country’s leading visitor attractions, attracting 
5,000,829 visits and 130,944 boat trip passengers, according  
to figures released by the Association of Leading Visitor 
Attractions (ALVA) in February 2009. The ALVA figure 
represents a slight decrease (-2.5%) against the previous year 
but it is heartening that this is the lowest drop amongst the top  
ten Scottish attractions and only one of this top ten showed  
an increase (of 1%).

As part of our ongoing drive to improve the commerciality  
of our operations, during the year, we began a process to explore 
the potential of private sector involvement in the day to day 
management of The Falkirk Wheel.  

Greener
Placemaking 
We are committed to protecting and developing both the built 
heritage of our canals, which are Scheduled Ancient Monuments, 
and the natural environment surrounding our canals for the 
benefit of future generations. Projects completed during the year 
included the transformation of the Auchinstarry Basin near Kilsyth, 
where we introduced environmentally sustainable practices and 
ecological technology, and we developed Scotland’s first eco pub, 
The Boathouse, through BW’s Waterside Pub Partnership.

Wide-ranging customer-focused improvements included: new 
boater facilities (more pontoons, landing stages and slipways); 
embankment repairs; dredging and towpath improvements  
in partnership with local councils; amenity improvements;  
signage and interpretation; and vegetation management, 
altogether bringing more benefits to communities and visitors 
using Scotland’s canals.
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BOARD 
MEMBERS
Tony Hales CBE, Chairman 
Tony is Chairman of Workspace Group plc. He was previously 
Chief Executive of Allied Domecq, a Non-Executive Director  
of HSBC Bank plc and Welsh Water plc and a Chairman  
for NAAFI Ltd. Age 60. (D, F, G)
 
Richard Bowker CBE, Vice Chairman 
Richard is the Group Chief Executive of National Express Group 
Plc, a leading international transport business. The former 
Chairman and Chief Executive of the Strategic Rail Authority,  
he is also a Board Member of the Countryside Alliance, a Trustee 
of the Settle Carlisle Railway Trust and the Deputy President  
of the Heritage Railway Association. Richard is also a keen 
boater having cruised extensively around the network on his  
own boat. Age 42. (B, D) 
 
John Bridgeman CBE TD 
John is a former Director General of Fair Trading, Member of the 
Monopolies and Mergers Commission and CEO of British Alcan 
Aluminium plc. He is Chairman of the Regulatory Committee  
of the British Horseracing Authority, Chairman of the Audit and 
Standards Committees for Warwickshire’s County Council and 
Police Authority, Complaints Adjudicator for the Association for 
Television on Demand and an independent consultant in Corporate 
Strategy, Competition Policy and Consumer Affairs. Age 63.  
(A, B, F) 
 
John Bywater 
John retired as board director of Hammerson plc, the FTSE100 
property company, in 2007 and is currently the Managing 
Director of Caddick Developments Ltd, based in Yorkshire. He is 
a non-executive director of Workspace plc and also a non-
executive director of West Bromwich Building Society. John also 
is a Trustee of Opera North based in Leeds. Age 61. (C, G) 
 
Maggie Carver
Maggie is a former financier and Non-Executive Director  
of a number of companies, mainly in the media sector,  
including Channel Five Television Group Ltd. She is currently  
a director of Independent Television News Ltd (ITN) and 
Managing Director of Milton Keynes Mobility Ltd, a business 
selling products for the elderly and disabled, giving her 
knowledge of access issues. Age 44. (C, D) 
 
Rodney Green 
Rodney joined the Board on 1 May 2009. Previously he was 
Chief Executive of Leicester City Council. He has also been 
Assistant Chief Executive, West Glamorgan County Council,  
and Assistant County Education Officer, Surrey County Council. 
He has also served on the national Advisory Panel for the 
Beacon Scheme which disseminates excellence and innovation 
in public service; and on the national Migration Impacts Forum. 
Age 56. 
 
 
 

Dr. Jon Hargreaves CBE 
Jon joined the Board on 1 April 2008 to represent Scottish 
interests after extensive experience in the water industry,  
most recently as Chief Executive of Scottish Water. He is also 
Chair of the British Waterways Scotland Group. He has had 34 
years experience in the water industry together with experience 
in international markets. Age 59. (E, C) 
 
Nigel Hugill 
Nigel is former Chairman of Lend Lease Europe and Managing 
Director of Chelsfield plc, (both major property and development 
businesses). He is Special Adviser to the Homes and Communities 
Agency, a member of the General Council of the British Property 
Federation and the Independent Transport Commission. He is  
a Governor of the London School of Economics and a Trustee  
of the Architecture Foundation. Age 51. (B, G) 
 
Eric Prescott 
Eric is the Chief Executive of Leonard Cheshire Disability -  
one of the UK’s leading pan disability charities. He is also  
the Non - Executive Chairman of LogiKal ltd - a programme 
management service provider. He is the former President  
and Managing Director of ALSTOM UK and other UK 
infrastructure companies. He is a trustee of a charity working 
with disadvantaged children and young offenders. As a former 
member of the CBI’s Presidents Committee, he worked  
on climate change and sustainability issues. He is a keen angler 
with over 45 years’ experience of fishing the UK’s canals.  
Age 52. (A, B) 
 
Pommy Sarwal 
Pommy is a Non-Executive Board member of the Boards of The 
Port of London Authority,  Infrastructure India plc, Christie Group 
plc, Chatham Historic Dockyard and Hyde Housing Association. 
He has wide-ranging financial management experience of both 
the private and public sectors and is a former Corporate Finance 
Partner at Deloitte for whom he is a retained consultant. He has  
a keen interest in heritage and conservation. Age 58. (B, F) 
 
Duncan Sutherland  
Duncan joined the Board to represent Scottish interests. He is 
Managing Director of Inpartnership. Previously he was Director  
of City Development for Coventry City Council and achieved many 
city centre projects including Coventry Canal Basin. He has also 
worked at Inner City Enterprises plc, was Chief Executive of the 
EDI Group Ltd and has been involved in national organisations 
such as Historic Burghs Association of Scotland Advisory Council 
and was an Executive Committee member of the Scottish  
Council for Development & Industry. Age 57. (C, E, G)
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ExECUTIVE  
DIRECTORS
Robin Evans BSc, FRICS
Chief Executive
Robin joined British Waterways in 1999 as Commercial Director 
and became Chief Executive in December 2002. Prior to that he 
spent four years as Palaces’ Director for Historic Royal Palaces 
and was Chief Executive of The Landmark Trust for eight years. 
Age 55. 
 
Mark Bensted IEng, AMIStructE
Director, London
Mark has been responsible for the operational, property, leisure 
and regeneration activities of British Waterways London since 
1990. Prior to joining British Waterways, Mark worked in the 
construction industry for Taylor Woodrow and Kyle Stewart.  
Age 51. 
 
Steve Dunlop BEd (Hons)
Director, Scotland
Steve was previously Director of Regeneration at Newcastle City 
Council. He started his career in leisure management before 
moving to a number of high profile senior positions in local 
government, latterly as Director of Community Services  
at Falkirk Council. Age 47. 
 
Nigel Johnson BSc (Econ), Solicitor
Corporate Services Director and Secretary to the Board
Nigel worked as a corporate lawyer in the finance industry  
for 18 years and was a senior lawyer in Westminster before 
joining British Waterways. Age 54. (A)

Stuart Mills, BSc, MRICS
Director of Property
A chartered surveyor, Stuart joined BW in 1990 after working 
with private sector property consultants, Drivers Jonas. He has 
worked extensively across the country in various property roles, 
and more recently, as Head of Property, was responsible  
for setting up a number of joint ventures. Age 41
 
 

Vince Moran BA, FCIPD
Customer Operations Director
Vince joined British Waterways following extensive personnel 
and general management experience in production, 
manufacturing and service activities with the coal industry  
and Chubb Security plc. Age 53. 
 
Philip Ridal BEng, FCA, MCT
Finance Director
A member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and a 
member of the Association of Corporate Treasurers, Philip has 
held a variety of financial roles in UK listed property companies, 
including the Mowlem construction group, and is the former 
Finance Director of Manchester Airports Group plc. Age 55. (A) 
 
Simon Salem BA, MBA
Marketing and Customer Service Director
Simon has over 20 years’ experience of marketing, PR, corporate 
affairs and fundraising. Before joining British Waterways  
he worked for London Transport. He has worked extensively  
in the leisure and tourism industry. Age 51. 
 
Jim Stirling OBE, BSc, MBA, CEng, FICE, MIStructE
Technical Director
Jim joined British Waterways as Manager, Scotland in 1992  
and became Director, Scotland in 1997 and Technical Director  
in 2005. Jim spent many years in civil engineering, construction 
and development both in the UK and abroad. Age 56.

Board members 
The British Waterways Board is appointed by the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs and (in respect of two members) by the Scottish Government. The appointments  
are intended to ensure a good balance of skills and experience which are relevant to British 
Waterways’ wide ranging remit.

Membership Key
A. Director of BW Pension Trustees Ltd
B. Member of The Audit Committee
C. Member of The Remuneration Committee
D. Member of The Nomination Committee
E. Member of The BW Scotland Group
F. Member of The Fair Trading Committee
G. Member of The Property Group Committee
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FINANCIAL  
REVIEW

This year’s financial results are adversely affected by the severe 
downturn in the property markets and the recession generally. 
BW derives part of its income from property development activity 
through its joint ventures. Income from these sources has 
suffered in this financial year. 

The value of BW’s non operational property portfolio has also 
shown the effects of the recession with a 15% reduction in the 
portfolio for the year (£66m). However that reduction compares 
favourably with the IPD UK index capital return for 2008 of -26% 
for all commercial property and -18% for residential property. 
BW’s investment portfolio contains some very secure ground  
rent investments which have not been as badly affected  
as other commercial asset classes. At Wood Wharf in Docklands,  
the grant of outline planning consent for redevelopment has had 
a positive overall effect on value reductions in the property 
development portfolio. The residential portfolio has been revalued 
upwards by 13% following a thorough and detailed valuation 
exercise. Whilst the overall reduction in value is significant, 
reversing the two previous year’s growth, it should be set against 
a sustained rise in BW’s property values over the last five years.

Commercial income increased by 11% mainly due to a one-off 
property easement premium. Other sources of income have held 
up well against the recession with a positive underlying trend  
in all main income areas.

BW is part funded by grant-in-aid from Defra for the waterways 
in England and Wales and from the Scottish Government for 
Scottish waterways. Grant-in-aid funding can only be provided  
‘in the case of need’ and accordingly BW targets a break-even 
result on its operational profit and loss account from year to year. 
The result on operational activities, after attributable taxation,  
was a surplus of £0.7m compared with a deficit of £1.8m  
in the previous year.

Despite increasing pressure on funding we have maintained 
expenditure on waterway maintenance and customer services  
at a similar level at £69.4m (2008: £68.8m) and expenditure  
on major works increased to £28.6m (2008: 21.5m). Expenditure 
on third party funded projects is driven by the availability of 
funding and activity reduced by 26% to £36.1m as construction 
on major projects reached or neared completion.

Group reserves reduced by 21% to £378.7m reflecting 
reductions in the market value of our property investments  
and joint venture property developments and an increase in the 
pension fund deficit. Capital gains and losses on non-operational 
property activities are transferred to and from capital reserves.
Losses incurred in joint ventures relate to the write down of the 
values of property development assets in those joint ventures. 

These losses represent a permanent impairment in the value 
capital subscribed and, as they are unlikely to be recovered  
in future years, have been treated as capital losses and taken  
to capital reserves. 

Trading income
Total Group income, including third party funding, increased  
by 2% to £223.3m. Group commercial income increased by 11%  
to £112.9m mainly due to some one-off premiums in respect  
of third party property development activity adjacent to the 
waterways. Excluding this item, there has been a 2% reduction  
in property income due to income foregone on property disposals. 
Utility income has held up well in the downturn showing an 
increase of 6% to £21.4m. While terminations from water sales 
customers are up significantly on previous years, new business, 
particularly with larger utility customers, is increasing.

Boat licence income has increased by 13% reflecting an increase 
in yield per long-term licence of 6% and the 4% increase in the 
number of licences issued. Part of the increase in numbers was 
achieved from further reductions in evasion as well as growth  
in the boating market. 

Mooring income increased by 11% due to the increases 
in mooring rates in line with market price and reduced  
void periods.

Contributions to third party funded works overall reduced  
by 26% to £36.1m. Activity on the larger restorations continued  
at a similar level to the previous year, with the main projects  
under construction being the Liverpool Link Canal extension  
and the Droitwich Canals restoration. Contributions towards  
other third party funded projects reduced in 2008/09  
as projects reached or neared completion.

Government grants for this year increased by £6.4m to £74.3m  
in aggregate compared with £67.9m for the previous year.  
The grant in aid received from Defra was £62.7m (2008: 
£56.6m) which was higher than the previous year by £6.1m.  
This was mainly due to the reallocation of grant by Defra from 
2009/10 to 2008/09 to offset operational losses which enabled 
us to retain planned expenditure on waterway maintenance. 
Future grant-in-aid is not expected to continue at this level  
and some reductions in the next few years are likely.  
For the three years from 2008/09 to 2010/11 we expect  
to receive £166.8m from Defra of which £61.6m was received  
in 2008/09. Grant receivable from Scottish Government 
increased by £0.3m to £11.6m. 
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Summary of year’s results £m (excluding government cost of capital charge and subsidy)

2008/09 2007/08 Change %

Commercial income 112.9 102.1  10.6%

Third party contributions to works 36.1 49.1 -26.5%

Government grants 74.3 67.9 9.4%

Total revenue 223.3 219.1  2%

Waterway maintenance and major works 100.1 95.1  5.3%

Other operating expenditure 75.1 69.3 8.4%

Costs incurred on third party funded projects 42.5 56.2 -24.4%

Total expenditure 217.7 220.6 -24.4%

Operating profit / (loss) 5.6 (1.5)  

Net interest (3.4) (0.2)  

Share of profits and losses in joint ventures (33.3) (2.4)

Realised gains on sale of investment properties & assets 4.7 19.4

Unrealised revaluation (losses) /gains on investment properties (66.4) 17.2

(Deficit) / surplus before tax (92.8) 32.5

Tax credit 19.9 3.8

(Deficit) / surplus after tax (72.9) 36.3 12%

Group consolidated reserves 378.7 477.8 -20.0%

Group commercial income summary £m BW Group England & Wales Scotland

2008/09 2007/08 Change 2008/09 2007/08 2008/09 2007/08

Property rentals, wayleaves and premiums 45.6 38.9 17% 45.0 37.6 0.6 1.3

Utility income and water sales 21.4 20.2 6% 20.0 18.9 1.4 1.3

Boat licence income 15.1 13.4 13% 14.7 13.0 0.4 0.4

BWML total income 6.7 6.4 5% 6.7 6.4 - -

BW mooring permits* 6.0 5.4 11% 5.6 5.1 0.4 0.3

BW retail sales* 3.7 4.4 -16% 1.9 2.2 1.8 2.2

Maintenance and other income 14.4 13.4 7% 14.2 12.5 0.2 0.9

Group commercial income 112.9 102.1 11% 108.1 95.7 4.8 6.4

Group third party contributions to works £m
Canal restoration contributions 18.1 17.2 5% 18.1 17.2 - -

Contributions to other third party funded works 18.0 31.9 -43% 17.2 31.3 0.8 0.6

Group third party contributions 36.1 49.1 -26% 35.3 48.5 0.8 0.6

Group turnover excluding joint ventures 149.0 151.2 -1% 143.4 144.2 5.6 7.0

Grant receivable from government 74.3 67.9 9% 62.7 56.6 11.6 11.3

223.3 219.1 2% 206.1 200.8 17.2 18.3

Boating income statistics England & Wales Scotland

2008/09 2007/08 Change % 2008/09 2007/08 Change %

Long-term boat licence income £m 14.3 12.9 11% 0.07 0.06 9%
Number of long-term boat licences issued 33,879 32,566 4% 568 565 1%
Boat licence income per vessel £ 423 398 6% 115 112 3%
Moorings income £m 5.6 5.1 10% 0.4 0.3 27%
Number of mooring permits issued* ** 6,096 6,081 0% 568 555 2%
Mooring income per permit* £ 924 831 11% 670 540 24%
 * Excluding BWML
** England & Wales includes 3 year permits issued in prior years
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Analysis of operating costs £m BW Group     England & Wales Scotland

2008/09 2007/08  Change 2008/09 2007/08 2008/09 2007/08

Waterway maintenance and customer service 70.9 68.8 3% 61.9 59.2 9.0 9.6
Major infrastructure works 28.6 21.5  33% 27.2 19.0 1.4 2.5
Canal dredging 2.1 4.8 -56% 1.9 4.2 0.2 0.6
Business unit operating costs 32.8 31.0 6% 27.8 26.2 5.0 4.8
BWML operating costs 6.0 5.7 5% 6.0 5.7 - -
Dowry funded assets 2.9 3.3 -12% 2.9 3.3 - -
HQ and centralised service functions 31.9 29.3 9% 30.4 29.3 1.5 -

175.2 164.4 7% 158.1 146.9 17.1 17.5
Canal restoration costs 21.1 21.4 -2% 21.1 21.4 - -
Costs of other third party funded works 21.4 34.8 -38% 19.8 34.3 1.6 0.5

217.7 220.6 -1% 199.0 202.6 18.7 18.0

24  

Boat licences     England & Wales
2008/09 2007/08 Change %

Private pleasure boats – canals & rivers
Powered  25,652  24,714 3.8%
Unpowered  728  595 22.4%

Total 26,380 25,309 4.2%

Private pleasure boats – rivers
Powered  4,675  4,575 2.2%

Unpowered  53  34 55.9%

Total 4,728 4,609 2.6%

Houseboats 87 79 10.1%

Business craft
Leisure business craft  1,748  1,789 -2.3%

Trade plates, freight and workboats  936  780 20.0%

Total 2,684 2,569 4.5%

Total long-term licences issued 33,879 32,566 4.0%

A commentary on boating in Scotland can be found on page 19 in the Scotland Business Review
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The Group’s share of turnover in joint ventures increased  
to £26.0m (2008: £4.2m) This increase is due to residential 
property sales in ISIS, the sale of land for supermarket 
development in the Gloucester Quays joint venture and  
the sale of residential development land in Glasgow in the  
Timber Basin joint venture. Whilst profits have been made  
on the sale of development sites, loss provisions have been 
required for development work in progress in ISIS and Gloucester 
Quays to reflect the lower property values. BW’s share of after  
tax losses increased to £33.3m (2008: £2.4m loss). 

Operating costs
Total operating costs, excluding third party contributions, 
increased by 7% to £175.2m. 

Despite increasing pressure on funding we have maintained 
expenditure on waterway maintenance and customer services  
at a similar level at £70.9m (2008: £68.8m). Efficiencies have 
been gained from the use of functional team working which  
is having a significant impact on the overall maintenance of  
the infrastructure with dedicated maintenance regimes applied 
consistently across all waterways. The continued focus  
on Minimum Safety Standards has delivered improvements  
to access routes, lock and bridge landings, and visitor moorings. 
The impact of these changes can be seen across the whole 
country. The introduction of the maintenance contract with 
Fountains plc to deliver much of our vegetation and facilities 
management in London and South East has delivered significant 
efficiencies and they were successful in winning the tender  
for all waterways in England & Wales with effect from April 2009. 

Expenditure on major works and canal dredging in aggregate 
increased to £30.7m (2008: 26.3m) in part reflecting the costs 
incurred on repairing the Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal 
breach. The total cost of repairs to the Monmouthshire and 
Brecon Canal have been £8.5m over the two years since  
the breach in 2007. The canal re-opened for navigation  
on schedule in March 2009. 

The item captioned business unit operating costs comprises  
the costs of running the nine waterway offices across Britain 
together with the costs that are directly attributable to delivering 
commercial income. HQ and central services costs comprise  
the cost of the Group head office, based at Watford, together 
with the cost of the centralised services functions that support 
the waterways and the income generating businesses. These 
centralised shared functions are based mainly in Leeds and 
Watford and include financial accounting, procurement, boat 
licensing, information technology, human resources, marketing 
and customer services, technical engineering staff  
and legal services.

Business unit operating costs increased by 6% to £32.8m, 
largely due to the increased costs of managing our property 
portfolio. The main increases have come from the change in 
empty property rates legislation, the full year effect of service 
charges on properties acquired in 2007/08 as well as the  
impact from the worsening economy such as irrecoverable 
service charges, bad debts and void costs for vacant and 
redundant properties. Costs elsewhere in the business  
units were held to previous year levels or reduced. 

Operational activities £m 2008/09 2007/08

Operating profit / (loss)  5.6  (1.5) 
Share of operating results of joint  
   ventures (after tax)

 (33.3)  (2.4) 

Transfer permanent losses in joint 
   ventures

28.7  
-

Transfer property revaluation loss 
   in joint ventures

 2.5 -

Interest receivable  2.4  3.3

Interest payable  (5.8)  (3.5)

Surplus / (deficit) on operational  
   activities before taxation

0.1 (4.1)

Attributable corporation tax 0.6 2.3

Net surplus / (deficit) retained 0.7 (1.8)

Non-operational property activities 2008/09 2007/08

Profit on disposal of investment properties  4.7  13.1 
Profit on sale of head office property -  6.3 

Unrealised losses/gains on revaluation  
   of investment properties

 
(66.4)

 
17.2

Unrealised loss on revaluation  
   of property in joint ventures (2.5) -
Impairment of investments in joint 
   ventures (28.7) -

(Deficit) / surplus on non-operational  
   property activities before taxation (92.9) 36.6
Capital gains tax on disposal profits 0.3 (4.0)

Deferred tax credit / (charge)  
   on unrealised gains 19.0 5.5

(Deficit) / surplus on non-operational  
   property activities before taxation

(73.6) 38.1

Transfer to realised capital reserves 73.6 (38.1)

Net surplus / (deficit) retained - -
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Surplus / (deficit) on operational activities
The surplus / (deficit) on operational activities, after attributable 
taxation, increased to a net surplus of £0.7m (2008: £1.8m deficit).

Gains and losses on non-operational property activities
The difficult conditions in the property market lead to revaluation 
losses for 2008/09 of £66.4m. Whilst this represents a 
significant reduction in the value of the BW portfolio, the property 
market has seen IPD capital returns on commercial property  
of minus 26% in 2008 (minus 18% residential). BW has  
done better than this at minus 11.5%.

The amount transferred from capital reserves is £73.6m  
(2008: £38.1m transfer to reserve), which represents the  
loss on revaluation of investment properties, impairment  
of investments in joint ventures offset by the profit on  
disposal of investment properties net of attributable taxation.

Treasury management and liquidity
Cash balances are invested only in money market deposits  
for periods not exceeding three months. BW maintains separate 
bank accounts for operational activities (trading account) and  
for non-operational activities (commercial capital account).  
At the year end the operational cash balances stood at £12.2m  
(2008: £12.0m) and the non-operational activity cash balances 
stood at £40.4m (2008: £19.8m). A further £2.8m (2008: £1.7m) 
is held in third party funding accounts for regeneration and 
restoration schemes together with £5.9m (2008: £4.1m) held  
in wholly owned subsidiary companies which operate separately 
from BW.

BW also has borrowings from the Port of London Properties 
(POLP); these are at a floating rate of interest being 1% plus 
Bank of England base rate. The amount owed to POLP  
was £12.9m in both 2009 and 2008.
 
A net amount of £51.7m (2008: £26.5m) of cash was realised 
during the year from the sale of investment properties net  
of amounts applied to property investments and tax payments.  
The non-operational cash balances are held to meet tax liabilities 
and funding commitments to joint ventures. 

Long-term borrowings decreased by £1.0m to £6.0m 
representing 1.8% (2007: 1.7%) of total reserves.

Borrowing and liquidity risk management
BW is included in public sector borrowing controls  
and is not permitted to borrow money or incur indebtedness 
other than as authorised by HM Treasury. BW’s authorised 
borrowings include loans from the National Loans Fund,  
from Port of London Properties and an overdraft facility  
of £3m. Working capital loans are available from HM Treasury  
on an ‘in year’ basis up to the total authorised borrowing  
limit of £35m in aggregate for all borrowing and debt.

BW has interests in a number of property development joint 
ventures that are stand-alone businesses which are independently 
funded with external bank debt without recourse to BW. In each  
of the joint ventures an assessment is made whether the interest 
payments on borrowings should be hedged having regard to the 
quantum of the debt, the period over which the borrowings are 
planned to be outstanding and the sensitivity of the project  
to changes in interest rates.

At 31 March 2009 BW’s share of total bank borrowings  
in joint ventures were £84.6m (2008: £46.6m). Of these total 
borrowings 65% (2008: 59%) is either at fixed rates of interest  
or a fixed interest rate swap is in place.

BW’s share of bank borrowings in joint ventures
 2008/9  2007/8
 £m £m
Gloucester Quays 44.8 10.5
ISIS Waterside Regeneration 15.5 13.1
Waterside Pubs Partnership 11.6 9.8
Edinburgh Quay 6.8 6.0
Wood Wharf 3.2 3.0
Other 2.7 4.2
 84.6 46.6

BW uses surplus liquidity in the commercial capital account  
to manage the borrowing risk in joint ventures. BW’s 
comparatively low exposure to the financial markets together  
with active management of liquidity has ensured it is well placed 
to withstand the unprecedented turmoil experienced in financial 
and other markets.

Pension fund
The accounts are prepared in accordance with IAS 19,  
the IFRS accounting standard which relates to accounting  
for pension funds.

In line with other similar pension funds during the year, the 
investment assets performed in line with the general financial 
market downturn showing a total reduction in value of £40.6m,  
or 15.2% compared with the previous year end position. As at 31 
March 2009 the fund liabilities were 76% (2007: 89%) covered 
by the value of the assets. The actuarial gain on the liabilities 
reflects the reduction in the present value of liabilities caused  
by the increase in the discount rate.

The table on the right shows the movements on the pension  
fund based on IAS 19.

Every three years the Trustees of the Fund are required to have 
the fund valued by an independent actuary. The results of the 
actuarial valuation carried out at 31 March 2007 have been 
finalised by the Trustees and submitted to the Pensions Regulator. 
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2008/09 2007/08
Summary of changes in pension fund deficit £m £m

Deficit as 1 April  (33.8)  (54.2) 

Current service cost  (5.1)  (6.1) 

Past service cost adjustment  (0.4)  (0.5) 

Discount unwinding on pension scheme liabilities  (19.8)  (16.8) 

Return on pension scheme assets  (40.6)  4.4 

Actuarial gains  19.6  32.2 

Contributions in cash from the employer  7.1  7.2

Deficit as at 31 March  (73.0)  (33.8) 

31 March 31 March
Assets and liabilities in pension scheme £m 2009 2008 Change %

Market value of assets  226.2  266.8  -15.2% 
Present value of liabilities  (299.2)  (300.6)  -0.5% 

Deficit  (73.0)  (33.8)  

Funding %  76%  89%  

Cash flow 2008/09 2007/08
£m £m

Operating profit / (loss)  5.6  (1.5) 
Dividends from joint ventures  -  1.6

Non cash items in operating loss  1.8  3.1

Movement in working capital & provisions  6.1  9.0

Net interest receivable 1.0 0.9

Operating cash flow 14.5 13.1

Operational capital expenditure (net) (2.2) (4.6)

Purchases of investment properties (1.4) (13.8)

Disposal of properties and investments 58.2 46.2

Investment in joint ventures (40.3) (23.0)

Payments to acquire trade or businesses - (1.3)

Taxation payments (5.1) (5.9)

Net cash flow 23.7 10.7

Cash balances as at 31 March 61.3 37.6
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The deficit of £38.5m on the fund as at 31 March 2007 is being 
funded by payments from BW over a 15 year period from March 
2008. The next actuarial valuation will be carried out  
as at 31 March 2010.

Balance sheet
Group reserves have reduced by £99.1m to £378.7m  
(2008: £477.8m) representing a reduction of 20% over  
the year. This reduction is predominantly made up of an 
investment property revaluation losses of £47.4m (net of 
deferred tax), and an increase in the deficit on the pension  
fund of £28.2m, net of deferred tax.

The profit and loss account reserve is split in the table above  
to show the deficit on the pension fund separately from the 
accumulated profit and loss reserves on operational activities. 

Risk management 
Our approach to risk management is given in the Corporate 
Governance Report on page 40. This shows the importance 
attached to the ongoing clarification of risks, ensuring effective 
control processes exist and for embedding risk management into 
BW’s culture. The main risks stem from the waterway 
infrastructure and from our commercial activities.

There is an ongoing inspection, assessment and prioritisation  
of remedial action to assets with a high consequence of failure. 
There remains a balance of essential work to complete  
to achieve a sustainable overall condition.

Given the nature of our work and responsibilities we are 
particularly exposed to changes to these agreed standards  
by new legislation and regulation. The impacts will be clearer  
as the full requirements emerge from, for example, the Water 
Framework Directive.

Increasingly necessary and important sources of additional 
funding are being achieved through partnerships. These ventures 
allow further exploitation of BW’s waterway assets by accessing 
external investment funds and development expertise. Processes 
have been developed to minimise risk in the selection of joint 
venture partners, monitor performance, forecast and manage 
cash liquidity and ensure appropriate governance and clarity  
in allocating appropriate responsibilities between partners.  
Our joint ventures include significant property developments  
in which there are various commercial risks. 

We actively engage the expertise of our chosen partners  
in the field to manage these risks effectively within the 
constraints of the wider economic cycle. 

There are risks associated with implementing our proposed 
business and organisational changes. These focus on behaviours 
for consistency in delivering standards, customer service and 
safety in a cost effective manner. We manage these risks 
through codes of practice to ensure fair trading, recognised 
project control techniques, communication, regular performance 
appraisal and individual development plans reflecting the new 
business priorities. 

Summary of movements on profit & loss reserve

£m
Operating
Activities

Pension
Deficit Total

Balance as at 1 April 2008 (2.3) (23.4)  (25.7) 
Deficit on operating activities for the year after tax 0.7 -  0.7

Reduction in the pension fund liability (net of deferred tax) - (27.2) (27.2) 

Transfer prior year joint venture permanent losses to capital reserve 4.4 - 4.4 

 

Balance as at 31 March 2009 2.8 (50.6) (47.8)
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Our top priority is the safety of our customers, contractors and 
employees on the waterways. We continually improve our safety 
processes and measure our safety performance. Safety training, 
procedures, signage, regular inspection and maintenance  
of assets and the development of relevant competencies  
are examples of our safety framework.

In our wider objectives, we have a commitment to deliver social, 
environmental and heritage benefits. We have a regular 
assessment of all our heritage assets and actively follow up 
buildings at risk. Risk based assessments in accordance with  
our environmental code of practice are applied to all works 
undertaken and we have introduced sustainability targets to 
reduce the impact of carbon emissions and the use of resources. 
Safety risks, vandalism and impediments to access by all are 
managed by our educational role and community engagement 
through organisations with strong involvement in social inclusion 
and volunteers.

Our regeneration activities, including those affecting the Olympic 
site, deliver benefits from our active waterspace management to 
wider redevelopment schemes. Competent project management, 
co-ordination with partners delivering shared visions contribute  
to timely achievement of outcomes.

398BrWa_AR0809_TEXT_AW_v1.0.indd   29 8/7/09   18:25:28



30  

398BrWa_AR0809_TEXT_AW_v1.0.indd   30 8/7/09   18:25:28



 Accounts: Contents 31

CONTENT OF 
ACCOUNTS

32 Board members’ report
34 Statutory and financial framework
36 Corporate governance
42 Directors’ remuneration report
46 Independent auditors’ report
48 Group income statement
48 Group statement of recognised income and expense
48 BW statement of recognised income and expense
49 Balance sheets
50 Group cash flow statement
51 BW cash flow statement
52 Notes relating to the accounts
85 Scotland accounts
87 BW Accounts Direction
88 Five year summaries

398BrWa_AR0809_TEXT_AW_v1.0.indd   31 8/7/09   18:25:28



32  Accounts: Board members’ report

The board members present their annual report on the affairs 
of BW, together with the accounts and auditors’ report,  
for the year ended 31 March 2009.

Principal activities
BW cares for a 2,200 mile network of canals and navigable 
rivers throughout Britain, working to provide a sustainable 
future for the inland waterways and generate maximum benefit 
and enjoyment to all from this unique environmental and leisure 
resource. We work with a broad range of public, private and 
voluntary sector partners to unlock the potential of the inland 
waterways and generate income for reinvestment in the 
waterways for the benefit of the millions who visit and care  
for the waterways every year.

Business review
A detailed review of BW’s performance during the year 
(including key performance indicators) and expected future 
developments is contained in the Business Review section  
on pages 4 to 19.

Results
The audited accounts for the year ended 31 March 2009  
are shown on pages 48 to 84.

Board members 
The board members who served during the year are shown  
on page 20. Their terms of engagement are summarised  
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 42. 

A Register of Interests is maintained by the Corporate Services 
director through whom public inspection can be arranged. 

Fixed assets
Details of movements in fixed assets during the year,  
including the revaluation of investment properties,  
are set out in Notes 9 and 10 to the accounts.

BW does not incorporate revaluations of operational properties 
in the accounts. Based upon external valuations at 31 March 
2009, it is the opinion of the board members that the 
operational property, excluding the canal track, towpaths  
and reservoirs, has a market value in the region of £56.2m  
(2008: £61.2m) at 31 March 2009. 

Charitable and political contributions
Whilst BW has not made any charitable or political contributions, 
the Chairman and Vice Chairman sacrificed their fees  
for February and March 2009 and asked that it be used  
to fund a good waterway cause.

Payment policy 
It is BW’s policy to agree payment terms with its suppliers  
at the outset of a transaction, and abide by these terms,  
subject to satisfactory performance by the supplier and the 
timely presentation of an accurate invoice. Amounts owed  
to suppliers are generally settled by the end of the month 
following receipt of invoice. At the year end, the amount  
owed to trade suppliers was equivalent to 36 days’ credit 
(2008: 35 days). 

BOARD MEMBERS’ 
REPORT
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 Accounts: Board members’ report 33

Equal opportunities 
BW is committed to equality of opportunity and has policies and 
procedures in place to ensure continuous improvement.  
BW fully recognises its legal responsibilities, particularly in 
respect of race relations, age, sex and disability discrimination.

Employees 
BW places considerable value on the involvement of its 
employees and has continued its practice of keeping them 
informed on matters affecting them as employees and  
on the various factors affecting business performance.  
This is achieved through formal and informal meetings  
allowing the two-way flow of information between management  
and employees and a monthly newspaper supplemented  
by local newsletters. 

BW has common terms and conditions of employment and 
single table bargaining with employee representatives through 
National and Business Unit Forums for all employees other 
than senior employees. Consultation on employment and other 
related matters takes place at these forums in a spirit of 
co-operation and open exchange of information and ideas.

In 2009 the arrangements for consultation with senior 
employees were refreshed with the establishment of  
a directly elected senior management representation panel.

All employees are covered by an annual performance and 
development review process. The personal development of our 
people in their work is supported and is underpinned by our 
reward strategy that links pay to job and skills growth and to 
individual performance. We are investing in developing the 
leadership capabilities of our senior managers and in identifying 
the next generation of leadership talent.

Audit
Grant Thornton UK LLP were appointed as external auditors  
of BW for the year ended 31 March 2009 by the Secretary  
of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs in accordance 
with Section 24(2) of the Transport Act 1962.
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34  Accounts: Board members’ report – statutory and financial framework

STATUTORY AND 
FINANCIAL 
FRAMEWORK

Statutory basis
The British Waterways Board (BW) is a public corporation, 
which was established by the Transport Act 1962 to manage 
the inland waterways, and associated docks and estates, which 
had previously been the responsibility of the British Transport 
Commission. 

BW is responsible for approximately 2,200 miles of canals and 
river navigations in England, Scotland and Wales, together with 
their associated reservoirs, docks, repair yards and workshops.

The Transport Act 1968 classified these waterways into:

a) The Commercial Waterways, which were to be kept  
 principally available for the commercial carrying of freight  
 and maintained in a suitable condition for use by  
 commercial freight carrying vessels.

b) The Cruising Waterways, which were to be kept principally  
 available for cruising, fishing and other recreational  
 purposes and maintained for use by vessels constructed  
 or adapted for the carriage of passengers and driven  
 by mechanical power.

c) The remainder, which have to be dealt with in the most  
 economical manner possible (consistent, in the case  
 of retained waterways, with the requirements of public  
 health and the preservation of amenity and safety),  
 but subject nevertheless to a duty (contained in the British  
 Waterways Act 1995) to take account of the desirability  
 of protecting them for future use as cruising waterways  
 or for other public recreational use.

Under s.27 of the Transport Act 1962, the government may 
give directions of a general character to BW as to the exercise 
of its functions and in February 1999 the government 
published a Framework Document containing its aims  
and objectives for BW. Under the terms of the Framework 
Document, BW is required by the government to operate  
and maintain its waterways to standards that reflect use and 
prospects of use and any land drainage requirements. Such 
standards do not always fully reflect the historic standards  
for the channel dimensions of Commercial and Cruising 
Waterways prescribed by the Transport Act 1968.

The government requirement in the Framework Document  
is expressed to be subject to BW’s statutory obligations. 
Nevertheless the government (Scottish Ministers in respect  
of waterways in Scotland) has power to make Orders varying 
the historic standards prescribed in the 1968 Act. Furthermore,  
the currently prescribed standards may only be enforced in 
special proceedings under that Act. The government (and 
Scottish Ministers) has power to intervene in any such 
enforcement proceedings and to curtail them if it certifies  
to the court it intends to make an Order specifying different 
statutory standards. This power may be exercised if compliance 
with the standards being enforced under the proceedings 
would require the payment of further grant by the government  
(Defra or Scottish Government).

The Framework Document also sets out BW’s wider 
relationship with government and responsibilities of the Board 
and Chief Executive, as well as setting a framework for BW’s 
relations with users, the Waterways Ombudsman and the Inland 
Waterways Advisory Council.

Consistent with its statutory obligations, powers and objectives 
agreed with government, BW runs its affairs on a commercial 
basis and promotes the fullest use of the waterways for leisure, 
recreation and amenity, and freight transport where appropriate.
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Grant
Whilst BW obtains the majority of its revenues from its 
commercial and other business activities, it receives support 
from government through annual deficit funding grants to assist 
it in meeting its statutory obligations. In England and Wales 
such grant support is funded by Defra and in Scotland  
it is funded by the Scottish Government.

Conditions for the payment of grant and details of other 
controls applicable to BW as a public corporation are set out  
in financial memoranda issued by government.

Part of the grant received from government is used for the 
purchase of vehicles, plant and equipment for maintaining the 
waterways as economically as possible but on which no return 
on investment can be obtained. This is treated in the accounts 
as a capital grant and the income deferred and brought into 
account in line with the depreciation charges on the assets 
concerned.

BW is precluded from drawing government grant in advance  
of need. 

Objective to avoid loss and not draw grant in advance  
of need
The above requirement of not drawing grant in advance of need, 
combined with the statutory responsibility to avoid a loss  
on revenue account, taking one year with another, leads BW  
to target to break-even on profit and loss account each year.

Borrowings and capital investment
The government sets the maximum amount of grant and any 
access to loans from the National Loans Fund to fund capital 
expenditure. BW is not normally allowed long-term borrowings 
other than from the National Loans Fund. BW’s borrowings  
are subject to a statutory limit of £35m. The Treasury annually 
renews guarantees of bank overdraft facilities in order for BW 
to meet day to day fluctuations in receipts and payments.

BW’s profit generating capital expenditure can be funded 
through access to National Loans Fund loans, subject to 
government limits. In recent years BW has only been permitted 
to borrow amounts equal to the total of earlier loans due for 
repayment. Within these limitations, BW has been restructuring 
its asset portfolio by disposal and reinvestment to improve its 
ability to achieve its business objectives. In February 1999 the 
Deputy Prime Minister announced that the government had 
decided to phase out most of BW’s outstanding debt as it 
matures, thus removing from BW the need to take out new 
loans to repay existing loans.

BW is also required to obtain government consent for all 
expenditure projects over £6m (over £10m for property 
acquisition) or when there are novel or contentious features  
or to take an interest in a body corporate. 

Preparation of accounts
BW is required to prepare audited annual accounts which 
reflect Companies Act requirements and comply with best 
commercial accounting practice, although the information  
to be disclosed is amended and extended by Direction of the 
Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs  
as shown on page 87.

Expenditure on repairs and renewals of the basic canal 
infrastructure is written off to profit and loss account  
as it is incurred. Investment property is revalued annually  
by external valuers.

398BrWa_AR0809_TEXT_AW_v1.0.indd   35 8/7/09   18:25:29



36  Accounts: Board members’ report – corporate governance

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to achieving the highest standards  
of corporate governance. This is key to the objective of BW 
being an exemplar public organisation that maximises the 
public benefit it creates. Accordingly the Board has resolved 
that, save for necessary adaptations consequent upon its actual 
status as a statutory Public Corporation, it should adhere  
to and apply the standards of corporate governance applicable 
to a quoted public limited company. In doing so, it also meets 
(and exceeds) the Accounts Direction to meet the disclosure 
requirements ‘of companies legislation currently in force’. 

The applicable standards for this reporting year are those  
set out in the Combined Code on Corporate Governance  
and this statement explains how the Board has applied  
those standards throughout the reporting year. 

Board – operation and membership
One of the principal differences between BW and a quoted 
company relates to the structure of the Board and the 
appointment of its members. As such, sections A4, A7 and B  
of the Combined Code relating to the appointment, re-election 
and remuneration of board members are not applicable to BW. 

BW is governed by a Board comprising a Chairman and Vice 
Chairman and (currently) eight other non-executive members 
appointed by the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs and (in respect of two members) Scottish 
Ministers. Their appointment is fixed for a period of three years 
and their remuneration is set by the Secretary of State and 
Scottish Ministers. Subject to performance, board members 
may be reappointed once without competitive selection.  
The appointments are intended to ensure a balance of skills 
and experience relevant to the various sectors of the business. 
Mr Tony Hales was appointed Chairman from 10 July 2005, 
and met the independence criteria on his appointment. His 
appointment was made in accordance with the guidance of the 
Office of the Commissioner for Public Appointments (OCPA) 
and therefore on merit and against objective criteria. In May 
2008 Mr Hales was re-appointed Chairman for a second term 
of three years from July 2008. The Chairman has enough  
time available to devote to the job.

The Board meets regularly (at least six times during the year 
with additional meetings as required) and brings an 
independent judgement to its oversight of the direction, 
strategy and corporate objectives of BW. Reporting to the 
Board are executive directors who have direct responsibility  
for operations and management. They also are responsible  
for the development of business strategy and policies,  
subject to approval by the Board. Biographical details  
of the board members and executive directors can  
be found on pages 20 and 21.

All the board members are non-executive and therefore are 
independent from management. Any business association  
or other relationship which could interfere with the exercise  
of their independent judgement or any other potential conflict 
are required to be declared. Any declaration is noted in the 
minutes and, in appropriate cases, the board member will 
withdraw from the meeting during consideration of the 
business to which the declaration relates. 

The Chairman has ensured that the board members have been 
provided with appropriate and timely information and that their 
enquiries have been properly met. Board papers are sent out  
a week in advance of the relevant meeting to allow the 
members fully to prepare for meetings, and minutes of 
committee meetings are circulated to all members. The Board 
is kept informed of developments within the business through 
regular presentation by management. Executive directors are 
normally present during board meetings though the Chairman 
held meetings, or parts of meetings, of the Board without the 
executive directors present. Board meetings are held at 
different locations around the business and are preceded by 
visits and meetings with BW employees and local stakeholders. 

The Board has a schedule of matters specifically reserved  
to it for decision and has also defined those delegated to 
Board committees and the executive directors. The Board 
appointed the Vice Chairman, Richard Bowker CBE, as its 
senior independent director for the purposes of the Combined 
Code. The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are clearly 
separated and the division of responsibilities is defined  
in the delegation arrangements.
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All board members have access to the advice and services  
of the Secretary to the Board, and may take independent 
professional advice at BW’s expense after notifying the 
Chairman. The Secretary ensures that new board members 
receive appropriate induction on appointment.

Where necessary, BW provides the necessary resources for 
professional development and updating the knowledge and 
capabilities of both the board members and executive directors. 
The Secretary may only be removed with the approval  
of the Board.

The Board has a prescribed methodology for determining 
appropriate levels of governance and control for subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associated undertakings of BW.  
The methodology provides a risk profile that is used  
as a guide to the appointment of directors and the  
appropriate level of management reporting.

Conduct and performance evaluation
The Board is committed to achieving high standards of 
conduct. The Seven Principles of Public Life recommended  
by the Committee on Standards in Public Life have been 
applied to itself and its people and these are complemented 
by a code of conduct and ethics statement.

The Board evaluates its performance annually. In 2009 the 
Board undertook a self-evaluation exercise, though it has used 
the services of an external consultant for evaluation of its 
performance in the past and intends to do so at appropriate 
intervals in the future. A Board improvement plan is updated  
in the light of each evaluation exercise. 

The Chairman undertakes appraisals of individual board 
member performance and the Vice Chairman appraises  
the Chairman. The Board meets without the Chairman  
present at least once a year to consider the appraisal  
of his performance.

Audit committee
The Board’s Audit Committee comprises five non-executive 
Board members. Details of the current members are given  
on page 20. The Board is satisfied that at least one member  
of the Audit Committee has recent and relevant financial 
experience. The Committee has written terms of reference  
that are available on the BW website, and meets at least three 
times a year to review the internal audit plan, progress against  
that plan, and summary findings of the internal and external 
auditors. In addition to reviewing the financial results and 
accounting policies, the Committee monitors the effectiveness 
of risk management and internal control systems for the Board. 

By invitation the Chairman attends the meetings, together  
with the Chief Executive and the Head of Audit and, when 
appropriate, executive directors and the external auditors.
The Committee also meets the external auditors and  
Head of Audit each without executive directors present.  

The Committee reviews the effectiveness of the external 
auditors and of internal audit annually and considers an 
external effectiveness review of the internal audit unit  
every five years. The last such review was in 2006.

The Audit Committee oversees the nature and amount  
of non-audit work undertaken by Grant Thornton UK LLP  
each year to ensure that the external auditors’ independence  
is safeguarded. All non-audit services above £12,000 to be 
performed by the external auditors are required to be approved 
by the Audit Committee. The Board’s policy is for a presumption 
that non-audit work will be put out to competitive tender. 
Details of the external auditors’ fees are given in Note 5  
on page 61.

The Audit Committee is responsible for making 
recommendations to the Secretary of State regarding the 
appointment of the external auditor. Following an evaluation  
by the Audit Committee, Grant Thornton UK LLP were 
appointed by the Secretary of State (in consultation with 
Scottish Ministers) as external auditors and reappointed  
for the period from 1 April 2008.
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Nominations committee
The Board has a Nominations Committee and terms of 
reference are available on the BW website. It comprises  
four non-executive board members, details of which are  
given on page 20. It provides support and advice to the  
board Chairman when he is consulted by Ministers on the 
appointment of persons to the Board and reviews the board 
composition (its mix of skills, experiences and characteristics) 
from time to time. It also considers succession planning.

Remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee, comprising four non-executive 
board members (details of whom are given on page 20),  
has as its main task consideration annually of the performance 
of the executive directors and determination of their 
remuneration levels. The Chairman of the Board attends  
by invitation but is not a member of the Committee. Terms  
of reference for the Remuneration Committee are also 
available on the BW website. Further details of the work  
of the Committee are given in the Director’s Remuneration  
Report on pages 42 and 43.

Fair Trading committee
The Fair Trading Committee, comprising three non-executive 
board members (details of whom are given on page 20)  
has as its main task an informed scrutiny and oversight  
of compliance by BW and its subsidiaries of their fair trading 
commitments and obligations. Terms of reference for the  
Fair Trading Committee are available on the BW website.

The work of the Fair Trading Committee concerns BW  
fair trading practice in connection with a wide range of its 
commercial activities or those of its subsidiaries as well as 
continuing oversight of its compliance with competition law.  
It reviews all decisions of the Waterways Ombudsman  
on fair trading related complaints.

In 2008/09 the Fair Trading Committee considered issues 
such as pricing policy in respect of boat licences and moorings, 
the role of the New Marinas Unit in facilitating the supply of 
new off-line moorings; Trading Agreements with commercial 
operators; the operation of the Internal Complaints Procedure 
and the Waterway Ombudsman’s annual report. 

Property committee
The Property Committee, comprising four Non-executive board 
members (details on whom are on page 20), has as its main 
task a strategic oversight of the commercial property business 
of BW, in particular monitoring the performance of the 
commercial property portfolio against external benchmarks.  
It also reviews policies and strategies and may obtain reports. 
The role of approving large property transactions outside  
the limit of the delegated authority of executive directors 
remains with the Board. The Committee also keeps under 
review at each meeting progress on the major Wood Wharf 
joint venture development.

Relations with shareholders
Unlike a listed company, BW does not have shareholders  
so that Section D of the Combined Code does not apply.  
The Board is responsible to the Secretary of State for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and to Scottish Ministers 
and maintains an ongoing dialogue at all levels within both 
governments. This includes regular contact by the Chairman, 
Chief Executive, Finance Director and (in Scotland) Scotland 
Director, including scheduled quarterly meetings with agendas 
set in accordance with the respective financial memorandums. 
The Chairman’s meetings include reference to the board 
members’ performance evaluation, and whether those 
reappointed would continue to be effective by adequate 
commitment to the role and time.

Attendance
Details of attendance at the principal Board and Committee meetings in 2008/09 were:

  Board Audit Remuneration Fair Trading Property
Total number of meetings 8  3  2   3  6
Tony Hales 8 (3) (2)   3  6
Richard Bowker  5 3 -  - -
John Bridgeman 6  3  -  3 -
John Bywater 6 -  2  - 4
Maggie Carver 8  -  2   - -
Jon Hargreaves 6  -  2   - -
Nigel Hugill 6  3  -   -  4
Eric Prescott  6 3 -  3 -
Pommy Sarwal 6 3   - -
Duncan Sutherland 7  -  1  -  - 5

1: Tony Hales, Chairman, is not a member of the Audit Committee, nor of the Remuneration Committee but attends their meetings by invitation.  
( ) – attended by invitation
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The Board holds an Annual Meeting at which it communicates 
the key business results and plan for the future to the main 
user groups and partners.

BW has an advisory group, the British Waterways Scotland 
Group (BWSG) to support the development of the business  
in Scotland within the devolved political environment.  
The BWSG is a non-statutory group working to support BW’s 
Board and its executive directors. It has a counselling, 
consultative and influencing function externally and internally, 
rather than a decision-making role and has an open remit  
to bring to the Board and/or the executive directors for 
consideration any issue of concern to a majority of the members.

In England and Wales, under its Openness and Accountability 
policy, BW has facilitated the creation of the British Waterways 
Advisory Forum (BWAF). This is a body, independent of BW, 
whose membership comprises organisations of national scope 
with an interest in the waterways managed by BW. Through 
meetings between BWAF and BW such stakeholder 
organisations will have direct access to the Chairman, board 
members and senior management to raise significant issues  
of concern or common interest. 

The Waterways Ombudsman Scheme
An independent Waterways Ombudsman is available to 
consider complaints against BW. The terms of the scheme 
under which the Ombudsman operates are available from the 
Waterways Ombudsman’s website (www.waterways-
ombudsman.org).

Operation of the scheme is overseen by a Waterways 
Ombudsman Committee under the chairmanship of Professor 
Jeffrey Jowell QC, former Professor of Public Law at University 
College London. The Committee comprises a majority  
of persons who are not connected with BW and includes 
members selected by the BWAF. 

The Waterways Ombudsman, Hilary Bainbridge, is a full 
member of the British and Irish Ombudsmen Association  
which has strict independence criteria for such membership.  
She was reappointed Waterways Ombudsman by the 
Committee for a second term of three years in March 2008.

Under the Waterways Ombudsman Scheme, the Ombudsman 
may consider complaints against BW by users and others  
that have not been resolved under BW’s internal complaints 
procedure. It is a non-statutory scheme funded by BW.  
More information on the work of the Ombudsman since  
the last annual report is given on page 8.

Internal control
The Board has maintained the procedures necessary to comply 
with the requirements of the Combined Code relating to 
internal control. It has conducted a review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal controls, including financial and 
operational, and risk management systems.

The Board members acknowledge their ultimate responsibility 
for BW’s system of internal control and for reviewing its 
effectiveness. These internal controls are designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Risk identification and management
There is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating  
and managing the significant risks faced by BW.  
The Board regularly reviews this process. 

Risks are identified in each business unit plan and are reviewed 
by the executive directors and the Board. The key risks are 
subject to regular review by the executive directors to identify 
new and changing risks. The results are incorporated into the 
Chief Executive’s operating report to the Board. The Board also 
considers specific reports on key risks, including the statutory 
arrears. Each director and General Manager annually makes  
a representation of assurance outlining how risk management 
and the control environment has provided reasonable 
assurance of effective and efficient operations throughout the 
period. The Chief Executive considers this with each director 
(and the Customer Operations Director with each General 
Manager) during the annual corporate governance review  
and a statement is given to the Audit Committee summarising 
the significant risks, controls and required action points.

This is supplemented by ongoing risk assessments at each 
business unit jointly by management and internal audit.

Control environment
There is a clear organisation structure with delegated 
responsibilities and authorities. The Board is committed  
to achieving high standards from its people. A code of conduct 
and ethics statement, which includes a whistle-blowing 
procedure, is supported by high safety, customer care and 
recruitment standards, an appraisal process and a policy  
of unlocking the potential of staff.

Information and communication
The executive directors submit a rolling three year Business 
Plan, detailed annual budgets and key performance indicators 
on its strategic priorities to the Board for approval. The plan 
describes the implementation of the Board’s long-term 
strategic vision and is supported by individual business unit 
plans that apply consistent economic and financial 
assumptions. Monthly operational reports and financial 
summaries together with regular forecasts are produced  
for each business unit and reviewed by the Executive.  
Progress against the key performance indicators is supplied  
on a quarterly basis to the Executive for review. Detailed 
reports and projections are presented to the Board.

Monitoring
During the year the Audit Committee:
•	 reviews	the	internal	and	external	audit	plans
•		 considers	reports	from	management,	internal	and	external	 
 audit on the system of risk management, internal control  
 and any significant control weaknesses
•		 discusses	with	management	the	actions	and	progress	 
 in dealing with identified problem areas.
The Chairman of the Audit Committee reports the outcome  
of the Audit Committee meetings and any significant internal 
control issues to the Board. The Board receives the minutes  
of all Audit Committee meetings.
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Board members’ responsibilities in respect  
of the group accounts
The Board is required to prepare group accounts for each 
financial year which comply with the Accounts Direction issued 
by the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs in respect of BW, see page 87.

In preparing those accounts, the Board is required to:
•		 take	all	reasonable	steps	to	secure	that	the	operating	 
 and financial review complies with the Accounts Direction
•		 select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	 
 them consistently
•		 make	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	 
 and prudent
•		 state	whether	applicable	accounting	standards	have	been	 
 followed, subject to any material departures disclosed  
 and explained in the accounts
•		 prepare	the	group	accounts	on	the	going	concern	basis	 
 unless it is inappropriate to presume that the organisation  
 will continue in business.
The Board confirms that the group accounts comply  
with the above requirements.

In the case of each board member or director:
•		 so	far	as	the	board	member	or	director	is	aware,	there	 
 is no relevant audit information of which the company’s 
 auditors are unaware, and 
•		 all	the	steps	that	ought	to	have	taken	as	a	board	member	 
 or director have been taken in order to make himself  
 or herself aware of any relevant audit information  
 and to establish that the Board’s auditors are aware  
 of that information.
The Board is responsible for ensuring that proper accounting 
records are kept and that these disclose with reasonable 
accuracy, at any time, the financial position of BW and enable 
them to ensure that the accounts comply with the Direction.

The Board is also responsible for safeguarding the assets  
of BW and hence for taking reasonable steps to prevent  
and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Compliance with the combined code
The Board considers it has complied throughout the financial 
year and up to the date of approval of the annual report  
and accounts with the Combined Code, except for those 
matters disclosed in this statement or those that cannot  
be applied to BW because of its status as a statutory public 
corporation rather than a quoted public limited company.

BW is additionally subject to public sector controls,  
government monitoring and approval, parliamentary  
scrutiny and external reviews.

Going concern
The funding arrangements of BW differ from those of a public 
limited company. BW receives payment from government  
to assist it in meeting its statutory obligations, as referred  
to in the Statutory and Financial Framework on pages 34 to 35.  
It is anticipated that funding will continue at levels sufficient  
to enable BW to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. A more detailed going concern statement 
will be found in the ‘Basis of preparation’ section of the 
Accounting Policies on page 52.

By order of the Board 

Nigel Johnson
Corporate Services Director and Secretary to the Board
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DIRECTORS’ 
REMUNERATION 
REPORT 

NOT AUDITED

The BW Board 
The terms of board members’ appointments are determined  
by the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs or (in the case of two board members) Scottish 
Ministers. They are for a fixed term with the option for this  
to be extended by a further term.  The contracts are terminable  
upon notice not exceeding six months. The Secretary of State,  
or Scottish Ministers as appropriate, determines board 
members’ emoluments.

Details of board members’ fees are shown in the table  
on page 44.

Reporting to the Board, but not board members, are executive 
directors who have responsibility for management and  
for the development of business strategy and policies,  
subject to approval and general oversight by the Board. 

The Remuneration committee
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee 
responsible for determining and reviewing the terms  
of employment and remuneration for executive directors.  
The remuneration principles established for this senior group 
of employees provides the framework for remuneration policy 
within the business. The Committee comprises from three  
to five board members. The Committee members are:

Maggie Carver, chair
John Bywater
Jon Hargreaves (from 11/06/08)
Duncan Sutherland

The Chairman, Chief Executive and Corporate Services Director 
(Customer Operations Director prior to April 2009) attend  
the Committee by invitation to present recommendations  
and provide technical support but have no input into decisions 
affecting their own remuneration. 

In determining appropriate remuneration packages, the 
Committee commissions specialist independent advice, surveys 
conducted by external consulting firms and remuneration 
information on comparable organisations. Executive directors’ 
roles are independently evaluated, with responsibility levels 
assessed and compared with organisations of similar size in 
the public and private sectors. Kepler Associates are appointed 
as independent consultants to advise the Committee and 
undertake detailed reviews of executive remuneration  
as necessary.

The Committee operate to a Remuneration Policy designed  
to specifically reflect BW’s business requirements taking 
account of the specialist independent advice received.  
The executive directors have agreed with the recommendation 
to publicly disclose their remuneration. Full details are included 
in the table on page 44 and 45.

Remuneration policy 
Fuller information about executive remuneration than  
the following summary may be found on the BW website.

The Remuneration Committee’s overriding objective is to ensure 
that BW’s remuneration policy and remuneration packages  
are sufficient, taking account of BW’s financial position  
and the wider remuneration context in the business, to attract,  
retain and motivate a high quality team of executive directors  
to deliver the business strategy.

Based on the information and recommendations provided  
by independent remuneration consultants, the Committee  
has agreed that BW should benchmark remuneration packages 
to market median levels with a proportion of variable pay in 
the form of annual bonus. Unlike the majority of benchmark 
organisations, a Long Term Incentive Plan has not been an 
element of executive remuneration at BW. Although the 
Committee has recognised that as the business strategy 
develops, it may be appropriate to introduce a Long Term 
Incentive Plan at a future stage, it has put on hold any plans  
to do so in the present economic and funding environment.
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A summary of each element of the remuneration package  
for Executive Directors is set out below.

1 Basic salary
Basic salaries are normally reviewed annually on 1 July 
and increases are determined by reference to comparator 
information taking into account each director’s contribution 
during the year. Details of basic salary levels for 2008/09  
for each executive director are shown in the table on page 44. 
No increase in these salary levels is planned for 2009/2010.

2 Annual bonus (as applied in respect to previous  
 financial year 2007/08 only)
Bonus payments are normally made on 1 July of the financial 
year following that in respect of which they were awarded.  
The total bonus payments for each Executive director that 
are shown in the table on page 44 reflect performance in the 
2007/08 financial year, not 2008/09. The directors have 
decided collectively that they will not accept any bonus for 
2008/09 which would otherwise have been paid on 1 July 
2009 and reported in the 2009/10 accounts. The following 
description of the bonus scheme methodology is that applied  
to financial year 2007/08.

A maximum total annual bonus of 30% (40% for the Chief 
Executive) of basic salary could have been awarded subject to 
the achievement of corporate performance targets measured 
by Economic Value Created (EVC), Contribution before Tax 
(CBT) revenue and personal performance measured against 
the achievement of individual targets. Fundamental measures  
of safety and customer satisfaction were in place and had  
to be satisfactorily achieved before consideration was given  
to any bonus payment. Even where threshold measures were 
met, the Remuneration Committee reserved total discretion  
to award or withhold bonus payments taking account  
of any mitigating factors.

The bonus payments shown on page 44 were made in July 
2008 and relate to the previous financial year 2007/08.

2.1 Corporate performance element
Of the total bonus potential up to 10% (15% for the Chief 
Executive) of basic salary could have been awarded for the 
achievement of EVC targets, and up to 10% (15% for the 
Chief Executive) of basic salary for the achievement of CBT 
revenue targets.

2.2 Personal performance element 
Of the total bonus potential, up to 10% of basic salary 
could have been awarded for the achievement of a range of 
stretching targets set to encourage each director to achieve 
performance levels over and above the normal expectations  
of their role. Targets were directly linked to the achievement  
of key strategic business activities.

3 Other benefits
The executive directors are entitled to a company car  
(or an allowance in lieu of a company car), health insurance  
and critical illness insurance. Details of the levels of taxable 
benefit are shown in the table on page 44.

4 Pensions
All executive directors with over two years service participate  
in the BW Pension Fund which provides a pension on a defined 
benefit basis and based on basic salary. Details of the accrued 
pension levels are shown in the table on page 45. 

5  Notice period
Executive directors are entitled to 12 months’ notice  
of termination of contract by BW. Directors are required  
to give BW six months’ notice.

6 External appointments for executive directors
The Board recognises that executive directors may be invited 
to become non-executive directors of other companies 
unconnected with BW’s activities and that such appointments 
can broaden their knowledge and experience to the benefit  
of BW. On the basis that it does not impact upon their 
executive duties, directors are generally allowed to accept 
one such appointment and retain any resulting fee. In addition 
executive directors may also serve as non-executive directors 
of joint venture companies. In such circumstances fees are 
not payable to executive directors as activities of this nature 
are part of the normal responsibilities of the directors. The 
disclosable external interests of executive directors are set out 
in Note 26 to the accounts on page 83.

Directors’ bonus targets for 2008/09
Executive director bonus based on performance in 2008/09 
would have been payable in July 2009 and fully reportable in 
the 2009/10 Accounts.

The targets set by the Remuneration Committee for 2008/09 
were changed from those applicable to 2007/08 in that half 
of the potential bonus was assessed against a single corporate 
performance target related to revenue contribution before 
tax (CBT) and half the potential bonus was to be assessed 
against personal performance targets. The 2008/09 personal 
performance targets were fewer in number and subject  
to improved scoring methodology.

Although the Executive directors collectively decided in 
February 2009 that they would not accept any bonus in 
respect of their performance in 2008/09, the Remuneration 
Committee considered the performance outturn at its meeting 
in April 2009. The Committee assessed that no bonus would 
have been payable against the corporate performance target 
primarily due to the reduction in revenue from property and 
joint ventures caused by the property market downturn. The 
committee further came to the view that bonus would have 
been payable against a majority of the personal performance 
targets had it not been for the earlier waiver.
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BW Board
Date of expiry of

current term

Contracted time
committed

during the year
Days

2008/09
Fees

£

2007/08
Fees 

£
Tony Hales, Chairman* 9/7/11 76 41,858 49,053

Richard Bowker, Vice Chairman* 31/8/10 up to 42 15,623 15,382

John Bridgeman 24/9/09 up to 42 17,450 15,757

John Bywater 31/1/10 up to 42 14,951 14,632

Maggie Carver (from 10/10/07) 9/10/10 up to 42 15,451 7,220

Jon Hargreaves (from 1/4/08) 31/3/11 up to 42 16,367 -

Nigel Hugill 24/9/09 up to 42 14,951 15,757

Eric Prescott (from 10/10/07) 9/10/10 up to 42 14,951 6,983

Pommy Sarwal (from 10/10/07) 9/10/10 up to 42 14.951 6,983

Duncan Sutherland 24/9/09 up to 42 15,950 15,631

Susan Achmatowicz (to 9/10/07) - - - 8,437

Cambell Christie, Vice Chairman (to 30/3/08) - - - 20,534

George Fleming (to 9/10/07) - - - 7,123

Terry Tricker (to 9/10/07) - - - 9,225

182,503 192,717

*Tony Hales and Richard Bowker sacrificed their fees for February and March 2009 and asked that it be used to fund a good waterway cause.

Executive directors
Salary

£

Bonus* 
(2007/08)

£

Taxable
benefits

£

Termination
payments

£

2008/09
Total

£
Salary

£

Bonus* 
(2006/07)

£

Taxable
benefits

£

2007/08
Total

£

Robin Evans, Chief Executive 219,902  47,080 11,347 - 278,329 211,457  61,500  11,084 284,041

Mark Bensted 136,250  21,250 14,010 - 171,510 122,563  36,225  13,728  172,516 

Steve Dunlop  126,250 19,550 9,776 - 155,576 112,500 23,100  9,298 144,898

James Froomberg (to 31/7/08) 56,167  25,050 7,850 155,000 244,067 164,000  34,875  14,390  213,265 

Nigel Johnson  156,563  23,800  10,790 - 191,153 150,437  32,175  10,157  192,769 

Stuart Mills (from 1/7/08) 105,000 18,800 4,566 - 128,366 - - - -

Vince Moran 145,813 25,560 8,620 - 179,993 140,438 31,050 8,119 179,607

Philip Ridal  181,563 30,240 2,681 - 214,484 175,278 34,679 2,449 212,406

Simon Salem  131,009 22,860 9,346 - 163,215 125,259  25,800  8,870  159,929

Jim Stirling 145,813 24,140 10,105 - 180,058 140,438  31,050  7,818  179,306

1,404,330 258,330 89,091 155,000 1,906,751 1,342,370 310,454 85,913 1,738,737
* Bonus payments made in July 2008 relate to awards made in respect of performance in financial year 2007/08. Directors have decided not to take any bonus  
  for financial year 2008/09.  

SUMMARY OF 
DIRECTORS’ 
REMUNERATION 08/09 
AUDITED

The information provided below in respect of the BW Board 
complies with the provisions of Schedule 7A of the Companies 
Act 1985, as required by the Accounts Direction of the  

Secretary of State. In addition, and with their agreement,  
BW has chosen to include information on the remuneration  
of the executive directors.
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Accrued  
pension at 31 

March 2009
£pa

Accrued lump 
sum at 31 

March 2009
£

Increase 
in accrued 

pension 
during the 

year
£pa

Increase 
in accrued 
lump sum 
during the 

year
£

31 March  
2009

£

31 March  
2008

£

Increase in 
transfer value 
over the year 

net of directors’ 
contributions

£

Robin Evans  72,404 - 7,651 - 1,038,973  810,898 210,460

Mark Bensted  69,453 38,320 9,647 3,867 782,421  584,297 189,305

Steve Dunlop* 485 - 485 - 4,246 - 2,784

James Froomberg  32,647 - 8,012 - 391,319 256,931 125,839

Nigel Johnson  29,811 - 4,588 -  415,678 300,841 104,685

Stuart Mills** 33,440 6,434 218,216 - 49,525

Vincent Moran 34,668 - 4,499 -  441,872 315,030 117,410

Philip Ridal  7,607 - 4,640 - 110,235 38,851 46,116

Simon Salem  60,189 8.436 5,265 (655)  740,030  540,373 191,235

Jim Stirling 44,743 - 5,304 -  717,292  565,137 142,723

*Steve Dunlop joined the Fund in 2009. 
** Stuart Mills became a director with effect from July 2008. The figures shown represent the total pension accrued since he joined the Fund in 1990.

The accrued annual pension is the amount, on attaining normal 
pension age, to which the director would be entitled if he had 
left BW at the year end and include pension accrued from 
membership of the Pension Fund prior to appointment as a 
director in relevant cases. These amounts cover all retirement 
benefit entitlements for directors and there are no other funded 
or unfunded unapproved retirement benefit entitlements.

The transfer values, calculated by reference to GN11 published 
by the Board for Actuarial Standards, are of the accrued  
benefits under the scheme at the dates stated not including 
any additional voluntary contributions. 

Signed on behalf of the Board

Nigel Johnson
Corporate Services Director and Secretary to the Board

ACCRUED
PENSION Transfer value of 

accrued benefits
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INDEPENDENT  
AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE FOR ENVIRONMENT,  
FOOD AND RURAL AFFAIRS

We have audited the group and parent company financial 
statements (‘the financial statements’) of The British 
Waterways Board for the year ended 31 March 2009 which 
comprise the principal accounting policies, the Group income 
statement, the Group and parent company balance sheets,  
the Group and parent company cash flow statements,  
the Group and parent company statements of changes  
in members’ equity, the Group and parent company statement 
of recognised income and expense and Notes 1 to 27 These 
financial statements have been prepared under the accounting 
policies set out therein. We have also audited the information  
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described  
as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Secretary of State for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and British Waterways 
Board members in accordance with the Transport Act 1962. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs and British Waterways Board members, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Board members and auditor
The board members’ responsibilities for preparing the annual 
report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by  
the European Union and modified by the directions of the 
Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural  
Affairs are set out in the Statement of Board Members’ 
Responsibilities and described in more detail in the Board 
Members’ Report.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and  
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited  
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements  
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial 
statements give a true and fair view and are properly prepared 
in accordance with the Transport Act 1962 and any directions 
issued by the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs. We also report to you whether in our opinion the 
information given in the Board Members’ Report is consistent 
with the financial statements. The information given in the 
Board Members’ Report includes that specific information 
presented in the Business Review sections in pages 4 to 19 
that is cross referred from the Business Review section  
of the Board Members’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the British 
Waterways Board has not kept proper accounting records,  
if we have not received all the information and explanations  
we require for our audit, or if information specified by law 
regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions  
is not disclosed.
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We read other information contained in the annual report  
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial 
statements. The other information comprises only the 
Chairman’s Statement, the Business Review sections contained 
in pages 4 to 19, Board Members’ Report and the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report. We consider the implications for our 
report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements  
or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.  
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, 
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures  
in the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an 
assessment of the significant estimates and judgements  
made by the board members in the preparation of the financial 
statements, and of whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the Group’s and The British Waterways Board’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which we considered necessary  
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other 
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated 
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information  
in the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:
•	 the	Group	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view,	 

in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union 
and modified by the directions of the Secretary of State  
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, of the state  
of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2009, and of the 
Group’s losses for the year then ended;

•	 the	BW	Board’s	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view,	
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union 
and modified by the directions of the Secretary of State  
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, of the state  
of the BW Board’s affairs as at 31 March 2009;

•	 the	financial	statements	have	been	properly	prepared	 
in accordance with the directions of the Secretary  
of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs;

•	 the	information	given	in	the	Board	Members’	Report	 
is consistent with the financial statements; and.

•	 in	all	material	respects,	the	expenditure	and	income	have	
been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament  
and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 
which govern them.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Registered Auditors
Chartered Accountants
London
30 June 2009
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Note 2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Revenue 3 149.0 151.2 

Government grant 4 74.3 67.9 

Total revenue 223.3 219.1 

Government cost of capital subsidy 31.2 18.6 

254.5 237.7

 

Operating expenditure 5 (217.7) (220.6)

Government cost of capital charge (31.2) (18.6)

(248.9) (239.2)

Share of profits and losses of joint ventures (33.3) (2.4)

Profit on sale of investment properties 4.7 13.1 

(Loss) / gain on revaluation of investment properties (66.4) 17.2 

Profit on sale of asset held for sale - 6.3 

(Loss) / profit from operating activities (89.4) 32.7 

Finance income 7 2.4 3.3 

Finance costs 7 (5.8) (3.5)

(Deficit) / surplus before taxation (92.8) 32.5

Taxation credit 8 19.9 3.8 

(Deficit) / surplus after taxation (72.9) 36.3 

Transfer from / (to) capital reserves 23 73.6 (38.1)

Surplus / (deficit) transferred to profit and loss reserve 0.7 (1.8)

48  Accounts: Group income statement

 
2008/09

£m
2007/08

£m

Actuarial (loss) / gain on defined pension plans (37.8) 19.2 

Deferred tax associated with (loss) / gain on pension liability 10.6 (6.5)

Net income recognised directly in equity (27.2) 12.7 

(Deficit) / surplus for the year (72.9) 36.3 

Total recognised income and expense for the year (100.1) 49.0 

GROUP STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED
INCOME AND ExPENSE

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Actuarial (loss) / gain on defined pension plans (37.8) 19.2 

Deferred tax associated with (loss) / gain on pension liability 10.6 (6.5)

Net (loss) / income recognised directly in equity (27.2) 12.7 

(Deficit) / surplus for the year (71.5) 42.7 

Total recognised income and expense for the year (98.7) 55.4 

BW STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED 
INCOME AND ExPENSE

GROUP INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR TO 31 MARCH 2009
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BALANCE SHEETS  
AS AT 31 MARCH 2009

 Accounts: Balance sheets 49

 Group  BW
Note 2008/09

£m
2007/08

£m
restated*

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

restated*

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 68.9 70.7 54.3 56.5

Investment property 10 471.7 572.0 481.5 582.1

Intangible assets 11 1.3 1.4 - - 

Investments: 12
 in subsidiaries - - 12.7 12.2

 in joint ventures 84.1 76.9 89.0 80.7

Deferred tax asset 8 23.6 10.5 22.9 10.5

Total non current assets 649.6 731.5 660.4 742.0

Current assets
Inventories 13 1.5 1.5 1.1 0.9

Trade and other receivables 14 54.6 84.9 52.5 82.7

Cash and cash equivalents 15 61.3 37.6 55.5 33.1

Total current assets 117.4 124.0 109.1 116.7

Non-current assets held for sale 10 10.8 - 10.8 - 

Total assets 777.8 855.5 780.3 858.7

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 82.3 93.2 81.7 94.0

Current tax liabilities 1.4 2.1 1.3 2.0

Provisions for other liabilities and charges 17 9.8 12.0 6.5 9.1

Due to National Loans Fund 22 0.9 1.0 0.9 1.0

Total current liabilities 94.4 108.3 90.4 106.1

Other payables 16 144.9 125.0 144.7 124.9

Deferred tax liabilities 8 73.7 95.6 74.3 96.4

Employee retirement benefits 19 73.3 34.1 73.3 34.1

Deferred capital grant 20 6.8 7.8 6.8 7.8

Due to National Loans Fund 22 6.0 6.9 6.0 6.9

Total non-current liabilities 304.7 269.4 305.1 270.1

Total liabilities 399.1 377.7 395.5 376.2

Net assets 378.7 477.8 384.8 482.5

Capital and reserves
Reserves 23 15.4 14.4 15.4 14.4

Retained earnings 23 363.3 463.4 369.4 468.1

Total equity 378.7 477.8 384.8 482.5

Details of all prior year restatements are shown in note 27.

T Hales
Chairman

30 June 2009

R Evans
Chief Executive
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GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

 

2008/09
£m

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

2007/08
£m

(Deficit) / surplus before taxation (92.8) 32.5  

Items not involving the flow of cash:

Net finance cost 3.4 0.2

Loss from joint ventures 33.3 2.4

Gain on disposal of investment property (4.7) (13.1)

Loss / (gain) on revaluation of investment property 66.4 (17.2)

Depreciation 4.7 4.7

Amortisation of intangible assets 0.1 –

Difference between pension charge and cash contributions (1.6) (0.6)

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and non-current asset held for sale (0.4) (6.7)

Release of deferred capital grant (1.0) (0.6)

100.2 (30.9) 

Operating profit before changes in working capital changes 7.4 1.6

Movements in working capital

Decrease in inventories - 0.1 

Decrease / (increase) in receivables 7.5 (15.6)

Increase in payables 0.1 20.4 

7.6 4.9

(Decrease) / increase in provisions (1.5) 4.1

Cash generated from operations 13.5 10.6

Interest paid (1.9) (1.4)

Interest received 2.9 1.0 2.3 0.9

Net cash flows from operating activities 14.5 11.5

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment (3.7) (6.1)

Payments to acquire investment property (1.4) (13.8)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and non-current asset 
held for sale 1.5 12.5 

Proceeds from disposal of investment property 58.2 35.2 

Income taxes paid (5.1) (5.9)

Investments in joint ventures (40.3) (23.0)

Dividends from joint ventures - 1.6 

Payments to acquire trade or business - (1.3) 

Net cash flows from / (used in) investing activities 9.2 (0.8)

Cash flows from financing activities

Capital contribution from Defra 1.0 2.0 

Repayments of loans to National Loans Fund (1.0) (2.0)

Net cash flows from financing activities -  - 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 23.7 10.7

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 37.6 26.9

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 61.3 37.6
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BW CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

  

2008/09
£m

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

2007/08
£m

(Deficit) / surplus before taxation (91.1) 40.4

Items not involving the flow of cash:

Net finance cost 3.7 0.4 

Income from joint ventures - (1.6)

Gain on disposal of investment property (6.3) (13.2)

Loss / (gain) on revaluation of investment property 67.2 (21.3)

Depreciation 4.2 4.4 

Difference between pension charge and cash contributions (1.6) (0.6) 

Profit on sale of property, plant & equipment and non-current asset held for sale (0.4) (6.7)

Impairment of investment in joint ventures 32.1 -

Release of deferred capital grant (1.0) (0.6)

97.9 (39.2)

Operating profit before changes in working capital changes 6.8 1.2

Movements in working capital

Increase in inventories (0.2) -

Decrease / (increase) in receivables 26.4 (14.6) 

(Decrease) / increase in payables (18.3) 19.0
7.9 4.4

(Decrease) / increase in provisions (1.7) 3.0

Cash generated from operations 13.0 8.6

Interest paid (1.9) (1.4)

Interest received 2.7 0.8 2.1 0.7

Net cash flows from operating activities 13.8 9.3 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment (2.9) (4.9)

Payments to acquire investment property (1.9) (13.8)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and non-current asset 
held for sale

1.5 12.4

Proceeds from disposal of investment property 57.8 35.4

Income taxes paid (5.1) (5.3)

Investments in joint ventures and subsidiaries (40.8) (25.0)

Dividends from joint ventures - 1.6

Net cash flows from investing activities 8.6 0.4

Cash flows from financing activities

Capital contribution from Defra 1.0 2.0 

Repayments of loans to National Loans Fund (1.0) (2.0)

Net cash flows from financing activities -  - 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 22.4 9.7

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 33.1 23.4

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 55.5 33.1
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NOTES RELATING
TO THE ACCOUNTS
1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation
It is anticipated that funding will continue at levels sufficient  
to enable BW to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. 

The group’s business activities, together with the factors likely 
to affect its future development, performance and position are 
set out in the Business Review on pages 4 to 19.  
The financial position of the group, its cash flows, liquidity 
position and borrowing facilities are described in the Financial 
Review on pages 22 to 29. In addition Note 21 to the financial 
statements includes the group’s financial risk management 
objectives, details of its financial instruments and hedging 
activities; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Corporate Governance statement on pages 36 to 41  
sets out BW’s strong commitment to achieving the highest 
standards of governance. It includes details of Board oversight, 
the risk identification and management process as well as the 
control environment. 

The funding arrangements of BW differ from those of a public 
limited company. BW receives payment from Government  
to assist it in meeting its statutory obligations, as referred  
to in the Statutory and Financial Framework on pages 34 to 35. 

The Group has considerable financial resources together  
with long-term contracts with a number of customers and 
suppliers across different geographic areas and industries.  
As a consequence, the directors believe that the group is well 
placed to manage its business risks successfully despite  
the current pressures on government grant and the uncertain 
economic outlook. 

As highlighted in Note 12, the group participates in a number  
of joint venture arrangements to facilitate the development  
of various waterside properties. The current economic 
conditions create some uncertainty over the level of further 
cash investment required by these investments, however  
the group’s forecasts and projections, taking account  
of reasonably possible changes in joint venture funding 
requirements, show that the group should be able to operate 
within the level of its current cash resources. 

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the company and the group have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt  
the going concern basis in preparing the annual report  
and accounts. 

A summary of the principal accounting policies is set out below. 

A separate income statement for the parent company is not 
presented with the group financial statements as permitted  
by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985.  

Basis of accounting
Under Section 24(1)(b) of the Transport Act 1962, BW  
is required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts  
in such form and containing such particulars as the Secretary 
of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs may, with the 
approval of HM Treasury, from time to time direct. A copy  
of the Accounts Direction, at present in force, is set out  
on page 87.

Accounting convention
The accounts are prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board as adopted by the European 
Union, with the following exception, required by the Accounts 
Directions issued by the Secretary of State for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs: 

The movement from retained profits to capital reserves  
is presented at the foot of the Income Statement.  
Non-operational items to be transferred to capital reserves 
include the value of profits arising from the sale of property  
and other property rights, the realisation of property revaluation 
gains, net of corporation tax and unrealised revaluation gains 
net of deferred tax. Transfers are made from capital reserves  
in respect of non-operational unrealised property revaluation 
losses and permanent losses arising from investments  
in property joint ventures. A fully compliant IFRS Income 
Statement would present Profit after Tax as the final figure. 
The extra two lines presented by BW are required by the 
Accounts Direction to show the non operating element  
of the results transferred to the capital reserve and the 
on-going operational business being transferred  
to the profit and loss reserve. 

The following adopted IFRSs and interpretations as modified  
by the Accounts Direction were available for early adoption  
but have not been applied by the group in these financial 
statements: 

•	 IAS	1	Presentation	of	Financial	Statements	(revised	2007)		
 (effective 1 January 2009)
•	 IAS	23	Borrowing	Costs	(revised	2007)	 
 (effective 1 January 2009)
•	 IAS	27	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements		
 (Revised 2008) (effective 1 July 2009) 
•	 Amendment	to	IAS	39	Financial	Instruments:	Recognition		
 and Measurement - Eligible Hedged Items  
 (effective 1 July 2009) 
•	 Amendments	to	IFRS	1	First-time	Adoption	of	International		
 Financial Reporting Standards and IAS 27 Consolidated and  
 Separate Financial Statements - Costs of Investment in a  
 Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate  
 (effective 1 January 2009) 
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•	 Improvements	to	IFRSs	(effective	1	January	2009	other	than		
 certain amendments effective 1 July 2009)  
•	 IFRIC	15	Agreements	for	the	Construction	of	Real	Estate		
 (effective 1 January 2009)

BW anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and 
Interpretations in future periods will not have a material impact 
on the financial statements of the group.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 
statements of the British Waterways Board (BW) and all 
entities controlled by BW for the year ended 31 March 2009.  

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by BW. Control exists when 
the company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern  
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as  
to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial statements  
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control commences until  
the date that control ceases. 

The financial statements of all group companies are adjusted, 
where necessary, to ensure the use of consistent accounting 
policies. Acquisitions of subsidiaries are dealt with by the 
purchase method. The purchase method involves the 
recognition at fair value of all identifiable assets and liabilities, 
including contingent liabilities of the subsidiary, at the 
acquisition date, regardless of whether or not they were 
recorded in the financial statements of the subsidiary prior  
to acquisition. On initial recognition, the assets and liabilities  
of the subsidiary are included in the consolidated balance  
sheet at their fair values, which are also used as the bases  
for subsequent measurement in accordance with the group 
accounting policies. Goodwill is stated after separating out 
identifiable intangible assets. Goodwill represents the excess  
of acquisition cost over the fair value of the group’s share  
of the identifiable net assets of the acquired subsidiary  
at the date of acquisition.

Business combinations completed prior to the  
date of transition to IFRS as modified by the  
Accounts Direction
The Group has elected not to apply IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations retrospectively to business combinations prior  
to 1 April 2006 being the date of transition. Accordingly the 
classification of the combination (acquisition, reverse 
acquisition or merger) remains unchanged from that used 
under UK GAAP. Assets and liabilities are recognised at date 
of transition if they would be recognised under IFRS as 
modified by the Accounts Direction, and are measured using 
their UK GAAP carrying amount immediately post-acquisition 
as deemed cost under IFRS as modified by the Accounts 
Direction, unless IFRS as modified by the Accounts Direction 
requires fair value measurement. 

Capital management
BW is not normally allowed long-term borrowings other than 
from the National Loans Fund. Where borrowings are required 
for property and business development it is obtained through 
investment in joint venture vehicles that do not create any 
recourse to BW. 

Interests in joint ventures and associates
The Group has a number of contractual arrangements  
with other parties that represent joint ventures. These joint 
ventures are established through an interest in a company, 
partnership or other entity (a jointly controlled entity).  
The Group recognises its interest in the entity’s assets  
and liabilities using the equity method of accounting in 
accordance with the option in IAS 31 (Interests in Joint 
Ventures). The Notes to the Accounts disclose the names  
of joint ventures, the nature of the business and details of the 
shares held by BW. The Group’s interests in its associates, 
being those entities over which it has significant influence and 
which are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures, are accounted 
for using the equity method of accounting.  

Investment in subsidiaries, associates and  
joint ventures in BW’s accounts
Non-current asset investments are stated at cost,  
less any provision for impairment.

Intangible assets
In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations,  
an intangible asset acquired in a business combination 
is deemed to have a cost to the group of its fair value  
at the acquisition date. The fair value of the intangible  
asset reflects market expectations about the probability  
that the future economic benefits embodied in the asset  
will flow to the Group. 

An impairment review of goodwill and other intangible assets  
is carried out annually by directors, and any impairment  
charged to the income statement.

Impairment
The carrying value of BW’s assets, except deferred tax assets, 
are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If such an indication 
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The 
recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net selling 
price and its value in use. An impairment loss is recognised in 
the income statement whenever the carrying amount of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Goodwill is tested  
for impairment at each reporting date, or more frequently  
if there are indicators of impairment.

Property, plant and equipment
(a) Operational property

  Waterways, reservoirs and towpaths were written  
  off in the capital reconstruction on 1 January 1969   
  resulting from the Transport Act 1968. 

Land, buildings, and structures capitalised are:

  (i) Purchases of land and the construction and major  
   improvement of buildings.

  (ii) Additional assets and improvements to existing assets  
   of BW.

All other expenditure on improvements, repairs and renewals is 
charged to the income statement as it arises.

(b) Craft, plant and equipment

All expenditure on additions, improvements and replacements 
is capitalised.
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Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of 
depreciation and any provision for permanent diminution  
in value. Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and 
equipment, other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write 
off the cost, less estimated residual value (if any), of each asset 
on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life, as follows:

Freehold buildings   40 years

Leasehold land and buildings   Over the term  
        of the lease
 
Plant, machinery and structures  Between 5  
        and 25 years

Vehicles     5 years

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
Assets held for sale include assets that the Group intends and 
expects to sell within one year from the date of classification as 
held for sale. Assets classified as held for sale are measured  
at the lower of their carrying amounts immediately prior to their 
classification as held for sale and their fair value less costs  
to sell. Assets classified as held for sale are not subject  
to depreciation or amortisation.

Investment properties
Investment properties are classified as being held for long-term 
investment to earn rental income.  Investment properties are 
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs, and 
thereafter are stated at fair value, which reflects market 
conditions at the balance sheet date.

Transfers to, or from, investment property shall be made when, 
and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by end  
of owner-occupation or commencement of owner-occupation.  

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values  
of investment properties are included in the income statement 
in the year in which they arise.

Leased property, plant and equipment
(a) Group as a lessee
  All leases in are leases where substantially all the risks  
  and benefits of ownership of the asset have not  
  transferred to the lessee and are therefore classified  
  as operating leases. Rentals payable are charged  
  in the income statement on a straight line basis  
  over the lease term.

(b) Group as a lessor
  Assets leased out under operating leases are included 
  in property, plant and equipment and depreciated over their  
  estimated useful lives. Rental income, including the effect  
  of lease incentives, is recognised on a straight line basis  
  over the lease term.

  Where the Group transfers substantially all the risks  
  and benefits of ownership of the asset, the arrangement  
  is classified as a finance lease and a receivable  
  is recognised for the initial direct costs of the lease  
  and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  
  As payments fall due, finance income is recognised  
  in the income statement so as to achieve a constant rate  
  of return on the remaining net investment in the lease.

(c) Grant of long lease over investment property

BW has a statutory responsibility to maintain an interest  
in the future use of any land that is disposed of having 
issue onto or bordering the waterways. In situations where 
such disposals occur, the substance of the transaction  
is that the Group effectively disposes of its interest,  
but retains a reversionary interest, and reflects the 
resultant profit / loss at the point of the disposal. 

Since it retains this reversionary interest, BW has granted 
a long-term lease, but has no commercial interest in this 
and therefore no profit or loss arises from this lease.  
In order to account for the sale of long leasehold interests  
in land an asset and equivalent deferred income creditor 
are created.  The fair value is adjusted for the aggregate 
amount of the recognised deferred lease liability.  
This adjustment represents a right to deferred income. 

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

Revenue
The Group recognises revenue on an accruals basis when the 
amount of revenue can be reliably measured and it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the Group. Revenue  
is measured by reference to the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable by the group for goods supplied  
and services provided, excluding VAT and trade discounts. 
Revenue is recognised upon the performance of services  
or transfer of risk to the customer.  

(a) Sale of goods
  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when  
  the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the   
  goods have passed to the buyer. 

  (i) Property sales. Revenue is generally recognised  
   when title passes on completion of the sale,  
   in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue.

  (ii) Water sales. Sales of water supplied from our   
   waterway network under a water sales agreement  
   allow access to a continuous supply of water over  
   the period contracted. These are invoiced in arrears  
   and revenue is accrued on a straight line basis on the  
   assumption that water is used at a constant rate.

  (iii) Retail sales. Sales of goods from our waterway visitor  
   centres and British Waterways Marinas Ltd subsidiary  
   company chandleries are recognised on a point  
   of sales basis.

  (iv) Other sales of goods. These may include equipment
   for boaters such as lock and sanitary station keys,  
   information booklets and other waterway related items. 
   These are recognised either on a point of sales basis  
   or an accruals basis depending on the type of revenue.

(b) Rendering of services
  Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised  
  by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction  
  at the balance sheet date. Stage of completion is   
  measured by reference to the assessment of a suitably  
  qualified expert as to the progress of the contracted work.  
  Where the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably,  
  revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses  
  recognised that are recoverable.
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  (i) Property rents. Rental income from investment  
   property leased out under an operating lease is   
   recognised in the income statement on a straight-line  
   basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives  
   granted are recognised as an integral part of the net  
   consideration for the use of the property and are   
   therefore recognised on the same, straight-line basis. 

  (ii) Boat licences and mooring permits. These are invoiced  
   in advance and revenue is recognised on an accruals  
   basis over the term of the licence or permit.  

  (iii) Wayleaves and easements. This is income received  
   from third parties in return for access to BW’s land,  
   for example underground pipes. Where these   
   agreements are for fixed time periods revenue  
   is recognised on a straight line basis over the term  
   of the agreement.

  (iv) Maintenance agreements. This is income received  
   from third parties to maintain an area of the waterway  
   network. The revenue is recognised on a straight line  
   basis over the term of the agreement reflecting the  
   assumption that maintenance is performed at a   
   constant rate over the term of the agreement. 

  (v) Other income from third parties. This is income towards  
   restoring and improving the waterways network.   
   Revenue is recognised in proportion to the staged  
   completion of the work being funded. 

  (vi) Other income from services. These are recognised  
   either at the time of provision of the service or on an  
   accruals basis depending on the type of revenue.

(c) Interest income
  Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the  
  effective interest method - that is the rate that exactly  
  discounts estimated future cash receipts through the  
  expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying  
  amount of the financial asset).

(d) Dividends
  Revenue is recognised when the Group’s right to receive  
  payment is established.

Government grants
Government grant-in-aid provided to finance operating 
expenditure already incurred or for the purpose of giving 
immediate financial support to the entity with no future related 
costs shall be recognised as income of the period in which  
it becomes receivable.

A proportion of the grant-in-aid received from government  
can be allocated by BW for the purchase of plant, equipment 
and vehicles used for waterway operation and maintenance. 
The grant concerned is treated as deferred capital grant  
and released to the income statement over the expected  
useful lives of the assets concerned. 

Cost of capital charge
For the first time in 2007/08 Defra levied a cost of capital 
charge on BW in accordance with guidance set out in the HM 
Treasury Consolidated Budgeting Guidance. The charge 
represents the notional cost to the taxpayer of having 
resources tied-up in public sector assets. In 2007/08 the 
charge was calculated by reference to the average net assets 

of BW using a 3.5% real rate of return. The rate of return has 
been increased in 2008/09 to 7% to represent the weighted 
average cost of capital in line with guidance from HM Treasury.  

BW is targeted to break-even on revenue account therefore  
it does not earn sufficient profit to cover the cost of capital 
charge. The HM Treasury guidance requires Defra to pay  
a subsidy to BW so that it can make the payment. 

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 
payable and deferred tax. 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. 
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income 
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that 
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability 
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable 
on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding  
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is 
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences  
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised  
if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that 
affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, and interests in joint ventures except where  
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference  
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is provided on the full difference between  
the original cost of investment properties and their carrying 
amounts at the reporting date taking into account deductions 
and allowances which would apply if the properties concerned 
were to be sold.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed  
at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that  
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected  
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset  
is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income 
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited 
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt 
with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends  
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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Employee benefits
(a)  Defined benefit pension scheme
  
  BW operates a single funded defined benefit scheme  
  for all staff. In accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits,  
  the service cost of pension provision relating to the period,  
  together with the cost of any change in benefits relating  
  to past service, is charged to the income statement.  
  A charge equal to the increase in the present value of the  
  scheme liabilities (because the benefits are closer to   
  settlement) and a credit equivalent to the group’s   
  long-term expected return on assets (based on the market  
  value of the scheme assets at the start of the period) are  
  also included in the income statement. The difference  
  between the market value of the assets of the scheme  
  and the present value of accrued pension liabilities is  
  shown as an asset or liability on the balance sheet.  
  Any difference between the expected return on assets  
  and that actually achieved is recognised in the statement  
  of recognised income and expense along with differences  
  which arise from experience or assumption changes.

  Further information on pension arrangements is set out  
  in Note 19 to the accounts.

(b)  Other employee benefits
  
  Post-employment benefits other than pensions are   
  re-assessed annually at the reporting date by independent  
  qualified actuaries using discount rates consistent with  
  those required for pension liabilities under IAS19.

Finance costs
Finance costs of debt are recognised in the income  
statement over the term of such loans at a constant rate  
on the carrying amount.

Equity
BW’s status as a Public Corporation means that the company 
has neither share capital or share premium within its equity.  
The equity of the company comprises a number of individual 
reserves, the nature and purpose of each of which is outlined  
in Note 23.

Deferred income – dowries
BW has received cash dowries to take on the asset 
maintenance and operational obligations of other public  
sector organisations. Each dowry is accounted for as deferred 
income and released to the income statement as revenue  
in line with the net operating expenditure in accordance  
with IAS18 Revenue.

Financial instruments
BW has interests in a number of property development  
joint ventures that are stand-alone businesses and are 
independently funded with external bank debt without  
recourse to BW. Interest rate swaps and other derivative 
instruments are used by the joint ventures. The joint venture 
makes an assessment as to whether the interest payments  
on borrowings should be hedged having regard to the quantum 
of the debt, the period over which the borrowings are planned 
to be outstanding and the sensitivity of the project to changes 
in interest rates.

(a)  Borrowings
  BW’s borrowings are from the National Loans Fund (NLF);  
  these are at a fixed rate of interest until the repayment  
  date. BW also has borrowings from Port of London   
  Properties. These are recognised initially at fair value net  
  of transaction costs and subsequently at amortised cost  
  under the effective interest method. 

(b)  Cash and cash equivalents
  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand  
  and demand deposits, together with other short-term,  
  highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into  
  known amounts of cash and which are subject to an   
  insignificant risk of changes in value.

(c)  Trade and other payables
  Trade and other payables are recognised at fair value  
  (plus/net of transaction costs) and subsequently  
  at amortised cost. 

(d)  Trade and other receivables
  Trade and other receivables are recognised at fair value  
  (plus/net of transaction costs) and subsequently  
  at amortised cost. 

(e)  Deferred consideration
  Where BW enters into a significant sale of assets or rights  
  with deferred consideration terms, the amount receivable  
  is recognised in the income statement at the point  
  of legal completion.

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result  
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are 
not recognised for future operating losses. Where there are  
a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow 
will be required in settlement is determined by considering  
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item 
included in the same class of obligations may be small. 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage 
of time is recognised as interest expense.

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires 
the Group to make estimates and assumptions that affect  
the application of policies and reported amounts. Estimates are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors including expectations of future events  
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates 
and assumptions which have a significant risk of causing  
a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities are discussed below:

(a)  Investment property valuations
  The Group normally uses the valuation performed by its  
  external valuers as the fair value of its investment   
  properties. The valuation is based upon assumptions   
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  including future rental income, anticipated maintenance  
  costs, future development costs and the appropriate   
  discount rate. The valuers also make reference to market  
  evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.  
  The directors review the valuations in the light of current  
  market conditions at 31 March. A summary of the results  
  of this process is given in Note 10 to these accounts.

(b)  Unagreed rent reviews 
  Where the rent review date has passed, and the revised  
  annual rent has not been agreed, rent is accrued from  
  the date of the rent review based upon an estimation  
  of the revised annual rent. The estimate is derived from  
  knowledge of market rents for comparable properties.

(c)  Deferred tax   
  In calculating the deferred tax on the difference between  
  the original cost of investment properties and their carrying  
  amounts at the reporting date (see taxation policy above),  
  the tax base cost has been estimated using historic   
  external valuation data. 

(d)  Accounting for dowries
  BW has received cash dowries from public bodies in respect  
  of obligations to maintain assets and these amounts are  
  held as deferred income (Note 16). The Board regularly  
  assesses whether the amount held is sufficient to meet  
  the estimated future maintenance requirements of the   
  individual assets to ensure an onerous contract does  
  not exist.

(e)  Post-retirement benefits
  The determination of the pension cost and defined benefit  
  obligation of the group’s defined benefit pension scheme  
  depends on the selection of certain assumptions which  
  include the discount rate, inflation rate, salary growth,  
  mortality and expected return on scheme assets.  
  See Note 19 for further details. 

Judgements made in the process of applying  
accounting policies
The Group’s significant accounting policies are stated above. 
Not all of these significant accounting policies require 
management to make difficult, subjective or complex 
judgements. The following is intended to provide an 
understanding of the policies that management consider critical 
because of the level of complexity and judgement involved  
in their application and their impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

(a) Revenue recognition
  BW often receive payments for right of access to  
  its waterspace and surrounding areas which are classed  
  as either revenue receipts or lease premiums accounted  
  for in accordance with IAS 17, depending upon the   
  circumstances of the particular agreement. For example,  
  a contract that does not place any obligation to provide  
  services to the third party in respect of the income   
  received would be accounted as revenue on receipt,   
  whereas a contract that is for a fixed period of time over  
  which BW will provide services is a lease premium   
  accounted over the period of the lease. 

(b) Disposal of long leaseholds
  BW has preferred to grant long leasehold interests over its  
  freeholds rather than make outright freehold sales in order  
  to create covenanted obligations over waterside land use.  
  Under UK GAAP such grants were accounted as a sale  
  of a finance lease with the proceeds and profit recognised  
  on completion. 
  

During the IFRS implementation project, the initial view 
developed by BW and its advisers was that the resulting 
lease premium would need to be spread over the life  
of the lease, but that the diminution in value in the land 
(resulting from granting a long leasehold interest) would 
need to be taken to the income statement in the year  
in which the lease was granted, thereby creating a loss.  
This does not reflect the commercial substance  
of the transaction.

  The following accounting policy has been agreed  
  and judged to be not only in compliance with IFRS,  
  but also fairly reflects the commercial substance  
  of the transactions. 

  Where premiums are received in exchange for the grant  
  of a long leasehold interest, an asset and equivalent   
  deferred income creditor are created. Many of the   
  transactions giving rise to deferred lease premiums took  
  place a number of years ago and the Group has had  
  to apply its judgement to estimate the impact of certain  
  of the major transactions.  

(c)  Non-current assets held for sale
  Significant judgement has been required in assessing  
  whether non-current assets qualify for treatment  
  as a non-current asset held for sale. Judgement is required  
  in determining the fair value less costs to sell, which has  
  been evaluated based on our progress against the plan  
  to sell non-current assets at the balance sheet date.   
  Non-current assets are held at the fair value less costs  
  to sell. 

(d)  Trade receivables
  The Group is required to judge when there is sufficient  
  objective evidence to require the impairment of individual  
  trade receivables. It does this on the basis of the age  
  of the relevant receivables, external evidence of the  
  credit status of the counterparty and the status of any  
  disputed amounts.
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2008/09 England & Wales
£m 

Scotland
£m 

 Total Group
£m 

Income
Property rentals, wayleaves and premiums 44.6 0.6 45.2 
Utility income and water sales 20.0 1.4 21.4 
Boat licence income 14.7 0.4 15.1 
BWML total income 6.7 - 6.7 
BW mooring permits 5.6 0.4 6.0 
BW retail sales 1.9 1.8 3.7 
Maintenance and other income 14.2 0.2 14.4 
Canal restoration contributions 18.1 - 18.1 
Contributions to other third party funded works 17.2 0.8 18.0 
Government grant 62.7 11.6 74.3 
Release of deferred income on investment property 0.4 - 0.4 

Total income 206.1 17.2 223.3 
Cost of capital subsidy 31.2 - 31.2 

237.3 17.2 254.5 
Operating expenditure
Waterway maintenance and customer service (61.9) (9.0) (70.9)
Major infrastructure works (27.2) (1.4) (28.6)
Canal dredging (1.9) (0.2) (2.1)
Business unit operating costs (27.4) (5.0) (32.4)
BWML operating costs (6.0) - (6.0)
Dowry funded assets (2.9) - (2.9)
HQ and centralised service functions (30.4) (1.5) (31.9)
Canal restoration costs (21.1) - (21.1)
Costs of other third party funded works (19.8) (1.6) (21.4)

Release of deferred income on investment property (0.4) - (0.4)

Total operating expenditure (199.0) (18.7) (217.7)
Cost of capital charge (31.2) - (31.2)

(230.2) (18.7) (248.9)

Share of profits and losses of joint ventures (34.3) 1.0 (33.3) 
Profit on sale of investment properties 4.4  0.3 4.7 
Revaluation of investment properties (66.8) 0.4 (66.4)
(Deficit) / surplus for the financial year before interest and taxation (89.6) 0.2 (89.4)

Finance income 2.4 - 2.4 
Finance charges (5.8) - (5.8)
(Deficit) / surplus before taxation (93.0) 0.2 (92.8)

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets 747.6 30.2 777.8

Segment liabilities 395.6 3.5 399.1 

Net assets 352.0 26.7 378.7

2 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
BW has adopted IFRS 8 Operating Segmental in advance of its effective date, with effect from 31 March 2008. 

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis on internal reports about components of the Group  
that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment  
and to assess its performance.  

BW reports segmental information based on the principal stakeholder interests, the stakeholders being England and Wales  
the Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs and for Scotland the Scottish Government. The accounting policies  
of the reportable segment are the same as the Groups accounting policy described in Note 1.

The following tables present revenue and profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the Group’s operating  
segments for the years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008 based on management information produced in accordance  
with UK GAAP, and where applicable, IFRS and prior year restatements.       
    

398BrWa_AR0809_TEXT_AW_v1.0.indd   58 8/7/09   18:25:35



 Accounts: Notes relating to the accounts 59

Capital and reserves

BW Group equity funding for Scotland (13.2) 13.2 - 
Property revaluation reserve 180.6 5.1 185.7
Realised capital reserves 217.0 8.4 225.4 
Other reserves 15.4 - 15.4 
Retained earnings (47.8) - (47.8)
Total equity 352.0 26.7 378.7

2007/08 England & Wales
£m 

Scotland
£m 

 Total Group
£m 

Income restated restated restated*
Property rentals, wayleaves and premiums 37.6 1.3 38.9 

Utility income and water sales 18.9 1.3 20.2 

Boat licence income 13.0 0.4 13.4 

BWML total income 6.4 - 6.4 

BW mooring permits 5.1 0.3 5.4 
BW retail sales 2.2 2.2 4.4 
Maintenance and other income 12.5 0.9 13.4 
Canal restoration contributions 17.2 - 17.2 

Contributions to other third party funded works 31.3 0.6 31.9 

Government grant 56.6 11.3 67.9 

Total income 200.8 18.3 219.1 
Cost of capital subsidy 18.6 - 18.6 

219.4 18.3 237.7 

Operating expenditure
Waterway maintenance and customer service (59.2) (9.6) (68.8)
Major infrastructure works (19.0) (2.5) (21.5)
Canal dredging (4.2) (0.2) (4.4)
Business unit operating costs (26.2) (4.8) (26.7)
BWML operating costs (5.7) - (5.7)
Dowry funded assets (3.3) - (3.3)
HQ and centralised service functions (29.3) - (29.3)
Canal restoration costs (21.4) - (21.4)
Costs of other third party funded works (34.3) (0.5) (34.7)
Total operating expenditure (202.6) (18.0) (220.6)
Cost of capital charge (18.6) - (18.6)

(221.2) (18.7) (239.2)

Share of profits and losses of joint ventures (2.4) - (2.4) 
Profit on sale of investment properties 12.1  1.0 13.1 
Profit on sale of asset held for sale 6.3 - 6.3
Revaluation of investment properties 17.0 0.2 (17.2)
Surplus for the financial year before interest and taxation 31.2 1.5 32.7
Finance income 3.3 - 3.3
Finance charges (3.5) - (3.5)
Surplus before taxation 31.0 1.5 32.5

Assets and liabilities
Segmented assets 831.7 23.8 855.5
Segmented liabilities 373.4 4.3 377.7
Net assets 458.3 19.5 477.8

Capital and reserves
BW Group equity funding for Scotland (6.6) 6.6 - 
Property revaluation reserve 241.5 5.0 246.5

Realised capital reserve 234.7 7.9 242.6

Other reserves 14.4 - 14.4 

Retained earnings (25.7) - (25.7)

Total equity 458.3 19.5 477.8 

*See Note 27 on page 84.
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3 REVENUE
Revenue disclosed in the income statement is analysed as follows:

Operating Revenue Note 2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Sale of goods restated*

Water sales  5.0  4.2 

Retail sales 4.8 5.6

Rendering services   

Property rents  33.6  33.5 

Wayleaves and easements  28.1  21.8 

Moorings  9.8  9.0 

Boat licences  15.1  13.4 

Funding from third parties towards restoration  18.1  17.2 

Funding from third parties towards waterway maintenance and repair  24.2  31.9 

Other income from services  10.3  14.6 

 149.0  151.2 

Government grants 4 74.3  67.9 
Total revenue 223.3  219.1 
*See Note 27 on page 84.

Grant receivable from Defra 2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Grant received in year 61.6 55.4 

Accrued grant at 1 April (4.6) (4.6)

Accrued grant at 31 March 4.6 4.6 

61.6 55.4 

Deferred capital grant released to income statement 1.1 1.2 

62.7 56.6 

Grant receivable from the Scottish Government
Grant received in year 11.6 15.1 

Accrued grant at 1 April - (3.8)

11.6 11.3 

Total revenue grant accrued during the year 74.3 67.9

4 GRANTS RECEIVABLE FROM CENTRAL GOVERNMENT
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5 ExPENDITURE

(a) Operating expenditure in the year is analysed as follows: 2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Major infrastructure works and canal dredging 30.7 26.3 

Core waterway (day to day operations and maintenance) 73.8 72.1 

Expenditure on third party funded works 21.4 34.7 

Expenditure on restoration projects 21.1 21.4 

Other operating charges 70.7 66.1 

Operating expenditure 217.7 220.6 

Operating expenditure includes: 2008/09
£000

2007/08
£000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  4,695  4,702 

Loss on sale of operational non-current assets  (442)  (251)

Rents on leased properties  2,992  2,685 

Board members' emoluments  183  193 

In accordance with the exemption available under section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 BW has not presented its own  
income statement. Of the deficit for the year of £72.9m (2008: £36.3m surplus) recorded in the consolidated income statement,  
a deficit of £71.5 (2008: £42.7 surplus) results from BW’s accounts.    

(b) Auditors' remuneration 2008/09
£000

2007/08
£000

restated*

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the financial statements 121.0 116.3

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services  11.5  17.5 

Audit of the financial statements of the Company’s subsidiaries  17.8 17.2

150.3 151.0 

*See Note 27 on page 84.
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a The average number of persons (excluding Board members) employed during the year was:
Group

2008/09
Number

2007/08
Number

Total employed  2,012  1,953 

Full-time equivalent  1,991  1,927 

b Total employment costs (excluding Board members’ emoluments stated in the Remuneration Report ) were:
Group

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Wages and salaries  54.7 52.4 

Social security costs  4.7 4.5 

Pension costs 8.5 6.0 

Total employment costs 67.9 62.9 

6 STAFF COSTS

Finance costs
2008/09

£m
2007/08

£m
restated*

Interest payable on loans: 0.6 0.5 

Interest on loans from Defra under Section 19

   of the Transport Act 1962 0.9 0.7

Unwinding of discount on dowry liabilities 2.2 2.2

Net financing charge on pension fund assets and liabilities 3.0 - 

Other interest, including release of prior year accruals (0.9) 0.1 

Total finance cost 5.8 3.5 

Finance income
2008/09

£m
2007/08

£m
Bank interest receivable 2.2 2.1 

Other interest receivable 0.2 0.6 

Net finance credit on pension fund assets and liabilities - 0.6 

Total finance income 2.4 3.3 

*See Note 27 on page 84.

7 NET FINANCING COSTS
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Tax
2008/09

£m
2007/08

£m
Current tax 4.5 7.1 

Deferred tax (24.4) (10.9)

(19.9) (3.8)

Corporation tax is calculated at 28% (2008: 30%) of the estimated assessable profit for the period.    

The total charge for the period can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows:   
  

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

(Deficit) / surplus for the financial year before tax (92.8)  32.5 

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 28% (2008: 30%) (26.0) 9.7 

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profits (0.1) 0.1 

Current tax over provided in previous years (3.4) (1.2)

Deferred tax over provided in previous years (0.6) (0.1)

Tax effects of share of results of associates and joint ventures 8.2 (0.5)

Tax losses carried back - 0.5 

Disposal of investment property differences between accounts and tax basis 1.3 (5.6)

Effect of tax rate change on deferred tax balances - (6.7)

Losses not recognised 0.1 -

Impact of Industrial Buildings Allowance phasing out 0.6 -

Total tax credit (19.9) (3.8)

Tax expense to equity:
Defined benefit pension (credit) / charge in respect of actuarial losses / (gains)  (10.6) 6.5

Deferred tax
Group
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the by the Group and movements thereon  
in the current and prior reporting period. Deferred tax is calculated at 28% (2008: 30%).

8 TAxATION

Accelerated
tax depreciation

£m

Revaluation
of land and

buildings
£m

Retirement
benefit

obligations
£m

Tax
losses

£m

Other  
short term  

differences
£m

Total
£m

At 1 April 2007 3.3 102.4 (16.3) (0.8) 0.9 89.5

Charge to income 0.8 (4.2) 0.3 (0.3) (0.7) (4.1)

Charge to equity - - 5.8 - - 5.8

Effect of change in tax rate

- income statement (0.3) (6.6) - 0.1 - (6.8)

- equity - - 0.7 - 0.7

At 31 March 2008 3.8 91.6 (9.5) (1.0) 0.2 85.1 

Charge to income 1.3 (23.0) (0.4) (1.4) (0.9) (24.4)

Charge to equity - (10.6) - - (10.6)

At 31 March 2009 5.1 68.6 (20.5) (2.4) (0.7) 50.1
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8 TAxATION  
CONT.

BW

Accelerated
tax depreciation

£m

Revaluation
of land and

buildings
£m

Retirement
benefit

obligations
£m

Tax
losses

£m

Other  
short term  

differences
£m

Total
£m

At 1 April 2007 3.3 101.2 (16.3) (0.8) 1.3 88.7

Charge to income 0.7 (2.9) 0.3 (0.3) (0.4) (2.6)

Charge to equity - - 5.8 - - 5.8

Effect of change in tax rate

- income statement (0.3) (6.5) - 0.1 - (6.7)

- equity - - 0.7 - - 0.7

At 31 March 2008 3.7 91.8 (9.5) (1.0) 0.9 85.9 

Charge to income 1.2 (23.2) (0.4) (1.4) (0.1) (23.9)

Charge to equity - - (10.6) - - (10.6)

At 31 March 2009 4.9 68.6 (20.5) (2.4) 0.8 51.4

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Deferred tax liabilities 74.3 96.4 

Deferred tax assets (22.9) (10.5)

51.4 85.9 

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) 

for financial reporting purposes:         

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Deferred tax liabilities 73.7 95.6 

Deferred tax assets (23.6) (10.5)

50.1 85.1 

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances  

(after offset) for financial reporting purposes:   

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £8.5m (2008: £2.8m) available for offset against future profits.  
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of all of these losses.
      
In addition the Group has unrecognised tax losses carried forward of £0.3m (2008: £nil)     
 
At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was £nil (2008 £nil).      
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Operational Freehold 
Land Buildings  
and Structures

Operational  
Long Leasehold

Land and Buildings

 
Craft, Vehicles,  

Plant and Equipment

Costs
 

£m 
 

£m
 

£m
Total

£m
At 1 April 2007 49.7 3.1 64.7 117.5 
Transfers 0.1 - - 0.1 
Additions 1.0 0.8 5.0 6.8 
Disposals (0.5) - (1.9) (2.4)
At 31 March 2008 50.3 3.9 67.8 122.0 

Depreciation
At 1 April 2007 14.2 0.4 34.1 48.7 
Transfers (0.4) - - (0.4)
Provision for year 0.8 0.2 3.7 4.7 
Disposals (0.1) - (1.6) (1.7)
At 31 March 2008 14.5 0.6 36.2 51.3 

Net book value
At 31 March 2008 35.8 3.3 31.6 70.7 

Operational Freehold 
Land Buildings  
and Structures

Operational Long  
Leasehold

Land and Buildings

 
Craft, Vehicles,  

Plant and Equipment

Costs £m
 

£m £m
Total

£m
At 1 April 2008 50.3 3.9 67.8 122.0 
Transfers - (0.1) (0.1) (0.2)
Additions 0.3 0.3 3.2 3.8 
Disposals (1.6) - (2.9) (4.5)
At 31 March 2009 49.0 4.1 68.0 121.1 

Depreciation
At 1 April 2008 14.5 0.6 36.2 51.3 
Transfers (0.3) - (0.1) (0.4)
Provision for year 0.8 0.2 3.7 4.7 
Disposals (0.6) - (2.8) (3.4)
At 31 March 2009 14.4 0.8 37.0 52.2 

Net book value
At 31 March 2009 34.6 3.3 31.0 68.9 

9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
GROUP
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9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
BW

Operational Freehold 
Land Buildings  
and Structures

Operational Long 
Leasehold

Land and Buildings

 
Craft, Vehicles,  

Plant and Equipment

Costs
 

£m 
 

£m
 

£m
Total

£m
At 1 April 2007 40.9 0.6 62.0 103.5 
Transfers 0.1 - - 0.1 
Additions 0.2 0.6 4.0 4.8 
Disposals (0.5) - (1.7) (2.2)
At 31 March 2008 40.7 1.2 64.3 106.2

Depreciation
At 1 April 2007 13.3 0.2 33.9 47.4 
Transfers (0.4) - - (0.4)
Provision for year 0.7 0.1 3.6 4.4 
Disposals (0.1) - (1.6) (1.7)
At 31 March 2008 13.5 0.3 35.9 49.7 

Net book value
At 31 March 2008 27.2 0.9 28.4 56.5 

Operational Freehold 
Land Buildings  
and Structures

Operational Long  
Leasehold

Land and Buildings

 
Craft, Vehicles,  

Plant and Equipment

Costs £m
 

£m £m
Total

£m
At 1 April 2008 40.7 1.2 64.3 106.2 
Transfers - (0.1) (0.1) (0.2)
Additions 0.2 - 2.8 3.0 
Disposals (1.6) - (2.9) (4.5)
At 31 March 2009 39.3 1.1 64.1 104.5 

Depreciation
At 1 April 2008 13.5 0.3 35.9 49.7 
Transfers (0.3) - (0.1) (0.4)
Provision for year 0.6 0.1 3.5 4.2 
Disposals (0.7) - (2.6) (3.3)
At 31 March 2009 13.1 0.4 36.7 50.2 

Net book value
At 31 March 2009 26.2 0.7 27.4 54.3 
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Freehold Land
Buildings and Structures

Long Leasehold
Land and Buildings

Right to deferred  
income from long 

lease disposals

Valuation
Investment

£m
Investment

£m
Leased 

£m
Total

£m
At 1 April 2007 480.2 22.0 55.7 557.9 
Transfers (1.1) 0.6 - (0.5)
Additions 12.5 2.5 3.3 18.3 
Disposals (20.8) (0.1) - (20.9)
Revaluation 17.2 - - 17.2 
At 31 March 2008 488.0 25.0 59.0 572.0 

At 1 April 2008 488.0 25.0 59.0 572.0 
Transfers (4.7) (6.3) - (11.0)
Additions 1.4 0.1 25.9 27.4 
Disposals (45.8) (4.5) - (50.3)
Revaluation (59.3) (7.1) - (66.4)
At 31 March 2009 379.6 7.2 84.9 471.7 

BW Freehold Land
Buildings and Structures

Long Leasehold
Land and Buildings

Right to deferred  
income from long 

lease disposals

Valuation
Investment

£m
Investment

£m
Leased 

£m
Total

£m
At 1 April 2007 486.5 21.7 55.7 563.9 
Transfers (1.1) 0.6 - (0.5)
Additions 12.5 2.5 3.3 18.3 
Disposals (20.8) (0.1) - (20.9)
Revaluation 21.3 - - 21.3 
At 31 March 2008 498.4 24.7 59.0 582.1 

At 1 April 2008 498.4 24.7 59.0 582.1 
Transfers (4.7) (6.3) - (11.0)
Additions 1.9 - 25.9 27.8 
Disposals (45.7) (4.5) - (50.2)
Revaluation (60.1) (7.1) - (67.2)
At 31 March 2009 389.8 6.8 84.9 481.5 

In the income statement, the group has recognised £29.2m of rental income from investment properties and direct operating 
expenses of £10.7m.     

10 INVESTMENT PROPERTY
GROUP
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10 INVESTMENT PROPERTY
CONT.

The net book value of investment properties at 31 March comprises:
    Group       BW

2008/09
£m 

2007/08
£m

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

restated*

Historic cost 157.6 195.1 166.3 203.3 

Revaluation surpluses 229.2 317.9 230.3 319.8 

Right to deferred income 84.9 59.0 84.9 59.0 

471.7 572.0 481.5 582.1 

Investment properties were valued as at 31 March 2009 and as at 31 December 2007 on the basis of open market value in 
accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Manual of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Valuations for investment 
properties held by BW Marinas Limited were performed by Vail Williams, all others were performed by Gerald Eve and King Sturge. 
*See Note 27 on page 84.

    Group       BW
2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m
2008/09

£m
2007/08

£m
Non-current assets classified  
as held for sale

10.8 - 10.8 -

Non-current assets held for sale consist manly of properties that the group intends and expects to sell within one year of date  
of classification as held for sale. Non-current assets held for sale and are valued at the lower of carrying amounts and fair value  
less cost to sell. All non-current asset held for sale are in England and Wales.

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

At 1 April    1.4  0.8 

Additions   -    0.7 

Amortisation   (0.1)  (0.1)

At 31 March   1.3  1.4 

Intangible assets of £0.7m in 2007/08 and £0.8m in 2006/07 arose on the acquisition of inland waterway marina businesses.  
The Marina assets are being amortised evenly over their useful economic life of 20 years.

11 INTANGIBLES
GROUP
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12 INVESTMENT
SUBSIDIARIES

BW
Investments in subsidiaries:

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Shares at cost less amounts written off

At 1 April 12.2 10.2 

Additions 0.5 2.0 

At 31 March 12.7 12.2 

Subsidiary undertakings

BW’s principal subsidiary undertakings are as follows:
- Blackwall Estates Ltd manages property in London Docklands.
- British Waterways Marinas Ltd operates inland waterway marinas.
- British Waterways Pension Trustees Ltd acts as trustee to the British Waterways Pension Fund. The book value of BW’s  
  interest is represented by a debt of equal amount due to the subsidiary and both have been eliminated from BW’s accounts. 
- Granary Wharf Ltd and  Leeds Canal Basin Development Ltd are no longer trading.
- Wood Wharf Management Company Ltd manages property in London Docklands.
- BW Reinsurance Ltd provides reinsurance to BW in respect of property, motor and public products liability.
All subsidiaries are wholly owed by BW and with the exception of BW Reinsurance Ltd (which is in Ireland) are registered  
and operate within the United Kingdom.

JOINT VENTURES
BW
Investments in joint ventures: 

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Shares at cost less amounts written off

At 1 April 80.7 57.5 

Additional shares in joint ventures 1.8 - 

Net movements in loans to joint ventures 38.6 23.2 

Amounts written off investments (32.1) - 

At 31 March 89.0 80.7 
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12 INVESTMENT
JOINT VENTURES CONT.

Group
The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint venture, which are  
included in the consolidated financial statements, are as follows.   

Total 
2008/09

£m

Total 
2007/08

£m
Non-current assets 81.8 52.8 

Current assets 112.2 105.2 

Share of gross assets 194.0 158.0 

Current liabilities (18.9) (24.3)

Non-current liabilities (91.0) (56.8)

Share of gross liabilities (109.9) (81.1)

Share of net assets 84.1 76.9 

The Group’s share of income from joint ventures was £26.0m (2008: £4.2m) and share of operating expenses  
were £29.3m (2008: £4.8m).
The prior year comparatives have been restated (*See Note 27 on page 84).

Investments in joint ventures & associated undertakings
The following information relates to those joint ventures and associated undertakings of the Group at the year end whose 
results or financial position, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affect the figures of the Group. All joint ventures  
and associated undertakings of the Group are unlisted and are registered and operate in the United Kingdom.

Accounting period  
end date used in 
these accounts*

Equity interest 
held**

% Main activity
Joint ventures
ISIS Waterside Regeneration LP 31 December 2008 49.5% Property development

Waterside Pub Partnership LLP 31 December 2008 50% Pub management

Wood Wharf LP 31 December 2008 50% Property development

Gloucester Quays LLP 31 December 2008 50% Property development

City Road Basin Ltd 31 December 2008 49% Property development

Edinburgh Quay Ltd 31 December 2008 49% Property development

H2O Urban Ltd 31 December 2008 49% Property development

Paddington Basin Business Barges Ltd 31 December 2008 49% Office management

Timber Basin Ltd 31 March 2008 49% Property development

Associated undertakings
West India Quay Management Company Ltd 30 June 2008 12% Property management

* Statutory and management accounts have been apportioned to reflect twelve months ending 31 March 2009 
 and included in the BW accounts.
**Whilst BW retains a 49% shareholding in some joint venture companies, the voting rights and profit share is 50:50.
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13 INVENTORIES

14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 Group   BW
2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m 
2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m 
Trade receivables 31.6 32.3 29.1 30.6 

Less: Provision for impairment of receivables (2.5) (2.7) (2.4) (2.6)

Trade receivables - net 29.0 29.6 26.7 28.0 

Amounts owed from Group undertakings - - 0.2 0.2 

Prepayments and accrued income 16.2 45.3 16.0 45.1 

Deferred consideration agreements 3.8 4.0 3.8 4.0 

Value added tax 0.2 0.2 0.5 0.2 

Accrued grant-in-aid 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 

Other receivables 0.8 1.2 0.7 0.6 

54.6 84.9 52.5 82.7 

Included in prior year’s prepayments and accrued income is £18.6m for Government cost of capital subsidy,  
the equivalent item has been received in the current year.

The following trade receivables balances are past due but not impaired:

 Group   BW
2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m 
2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m 
Less than 1 month 5.7 6.2 5.6 6.0

Between 1 - 6 months 3.7 3.0 3.7 2.1

Greater than 6 months 1.4 2.8 0.9 3.3

Included in the trade receivables balances past due but not impaired are 12 (2008: 21) individual debtors with material  
balances totalling £5.1m (2008: £12.8m).

Movement on provisions for impairment of trade receivables are as follow:   
Group BW

2008/09
£m 

2008/09
£m 

Opening balance 1 April 2008 2.7 2.6

Charge for the year 0.9 0.9 

Unused amounts released (0.7) (0.7)

Uncollectible items written off (0.4) (0.4)

Closing Provision 31 March 2009 2.5 2.4

Credit risk in respect of receivables is limited, due to the groups customer base being large and diverse. Our historical experience 
of collecting receivables, supported by the level of defaults, is that the credit risk is low across all trade receivables. We do not 
consider fair values to be significantly different from their carrying values. Balances are considered for impairment on an individual 
basis and by reference to the extent they become overdue. The maximum credit risk exposure at reporting date is £115.9m  
(2008: £122.5m), being the sum of cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables.

 Group       BW
2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m 
2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m 
Raw materials 0.5 0.3 0.5 0.3 

Work in progress 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 

Finished goods and goods for resale 0.6 0.8 0.2 0.2 

1.5 1.5 1.1 0.9 
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15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

c Deferred income
Deferred income arises from the receipt of cash dowries received in respect of obligations to maintain assets acquired from 
other public bodies. These form part of the deferred income balance above. Movements during the year were as follows:

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Balance at 1 April
 Current 2.5 2.9 

 Non-current 45.8 45.2 

48.3 48.1 

Unwinding of discount 2.2 2.2 

50.5 50.3 

Release to income statement (2.2) (2.0)

Balance at 31 March 48.3 48.3 

Balance at 31 March 2008 analysed as follows:

 Current 2.4 2.5 

 Non-current 45.9 45.8 

48.3 48.3 

16 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 Group   BW
2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m 
2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m 
Cash at bank and in hand 61.3 37.6 55.5 33.1 

Cash and cash equivalents in the  
statement of cash flows

61.3 37.6 55.5 33.1 

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposits.  

a Current  Group   BW

2008/09
£m 

2007/08
£m 

2008/09
£m 

2007/08
£m 

Trade payables 14.4 14.2 14.1 13.9 

Taxation and social security 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 

Amounts owed to other group companies - - 7.1 6.0 

Accruals 18.6 36.4 17.6 35.9 

Deferred income 35.8 36.4 33.5 34.5 

Other payables 11.9 4.6 7.7 2.1 

82.3 93.2 81.7 94.0 

Included in prior years accruals is £18.6m for Government cost of capital charge, the equivalent cost has been paid  
in the current year.      

b Non-current  Group   BW
2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m 
2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m 
Deferred income 131.3 105.0 131.3 105.0 

Other payables 13.6 20.0 13.4 19.9 

144.9 125.0 144.7 124.9 

Included in ‘other payables’ is £12.9m (2008: £12.9m) for loan from Port of London Properties Ltd (see note 21).
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Deferred income also arises from the disposal of investment properties on long leasehold. A nominal reversionary interest  
in the asset is held on the Balance Sheet, together with an asset equal and opposite to the deferred consideration reflecting  
BW’s right to recognise this consideration through the income statement.  These form part of the deferred income balance. 
Movements during the year were as follows:

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Balance at 1 April

Current 0.2 0.2 

Non-current 58.8 55.5 

59.0 55.7 

Deferred income relating to disposals during the year 25.9 3.3

Balance at 31 March 84.9 59.0 

Balance at 1 April

Current 0.2 0.2

Non-current 84.7 58.8

84.9 59.0 

17 PROVISIONS

Group At 1 April Paid Charged Released At 31 March
2008/09 £m £m £m £m £m
Personal injury claims 1.0 (0.3) 0.2 - 0.9 
Third party and contractual claims 0.8 (0.2) 0.4 - 1.0 
Redundant property 0.3 - 0.4 - 0.7 
Canal infrastructure works 3.5 (1.7) - (0.7) 1.1 
Maintenance obligations 1.8 - - - 1.8 
BW reinsurance 2.9 - 0.4 - 3.3 
Other provisions 1.7 - 0.1 (0.8) 1.0 

12.0  (2.2)  1.5  (1.5)  9.8 

BW At 1 April Paid Charged Released At 31 March
2008/09 £m £m £m £m £m
Personal injury claims 0.9 (0.3) 0.3 - 0.9 
Third party and contractual claims 0.9 (0.2) 0.3 - 1.0 
Redundant property 0.3 - 0.4 - 0.7 
Canal infrastructure works 3.5 (1.7) - (0.7) 1.1 
Maintenance obligations 1.8 - - - 1.8 
Other provisions 1.7 - 0.1 (0.8) 1.0 

9.1 (2.2) 1.1 (1.5) 6.5 
BW holds all provisions as current liabilities, as they will be settled once the claim has been assessed. Provisions are recognised 
when the conditions of IAS 37 have been met.

Personal injury claims
The provision relates to individuals who have suffered  
a personal injury whilst on or using BW property,  
and represents BW’s best estimate of the legal fees  
and compensation that could be incurred.
Third party and contractual claims
The provision relates to contracts BW has entered into  
with third parties, and represent the additional costs to BW  
that could be incurred upon completion of the contract.
Maintenance obligations
The provision relates to contractual obligations BW has for  
the maintenance of assets it holds.    
Redundant property
The provision relates to properties which are surplus  
to requirements. The provision represents the future net 

commitments in order to discharge BW liability relating  
to the estimated cost to subletting within the remaining 
operating lease period.
Canal infrastructure works
The provision relates to specific infrastructure projects.  
The provision represents the future net commitments  
in order to discharge BW liability relating to them.
BW Reinsurance
The provision relates to specific irrecoverable claim provisions 
held in BW Reinsurance.
Other provisions
These are provisions which fall outside of the categories 
described above. It is expected that most of the other  
provisions will be utilised within the next year.
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18 OPERATING LEASES

Operating lease agreements where the Group is lessee
The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties, motor vehicles and items of machinery.  
These leases have an average duration of between four and 15 years. Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable 
operating leases are as follows:

Group and BW  

Leasehold properties

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

restated*
Not later than one year 1.6 1.8 

After one year but not more than five years 5.3 4.6 

After five years 76.2 73.5 

83.1 79.9

Group and BW  

Leasehold plant and equipment
2008/09

£m
2007/08

£m
Not later than one year 3.2 2.5 

After one year but not more than five years 6.7 2.1 

After five years 1.7 1.1 

11.6 5.7 

Operating lease agreements where the Group is lessor
Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group and BW  

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

restated*
Not later than one year 26.5 27.7

After one year but not more than five years 93.2 90.7

After five years 1,878.2 1,424.8

1,997.9 1,543.2

*See Note 27 on page 84.
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19 PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS

 Group   BW
31 March 
2008/09

£m

31 March 
2007/08 

£m

31 March 
2008/09

£m

31 March 
2007/08 

£m
a. Pension Liability 73.0 33.8 73.0 33.8

b. Other post retirement benefits 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3

Employee benefits 73.3 34.1 73.3 34.1

a. Pension Liability
BW operates a single funded defined benefit pension scheme for all staff. Contributions to the Scheme are determined  
by the Board, after considering the advice of independent professionally qualified actuaries, as part of the formal triennial  
actuarial valuations of the Scheme. The last formal triennial valuation of the Scheme using the projected unit method,  
was carried out as at 31 March 2007. The market value of the Scheme’s assets (excluding members’ additional voluntary 
contributions) at 31 March 2007 amounted to £262.5m and the value placed upon the benefits that had accrued  
to members, after allowing for the effect of future increases in their earnings, was £301.0m. The Scheme was therefore  
£38.5m in deficit and 87% funded on an ongoing basis.

The employer contribution rate was reviewed by the Scheme actuary as part of the valuation, and additional contributions  
will be paid to eliminate the deficit of £38.5m as at 31 March 2007 over a period of 15 years from 1 July 2008. The amounts  
of employer contributions agreed for the three-year period from 1 July 2008 are 14% of members’ pensionable earnings plus  
the additional contributions. The employee contribution rate was increased to 7% of pensionable earnings from 1 July 2008.

The next full actuarial valuation will be carried out as at 31 March 2010 and the valuation report will be issued  
by the end of June 2011.

The valuation of the Scheme used for IAS19 disclosures has been based on the most recent actuarial valuation of BW’s  
scheme at 31 March 2007 and updated to 31 March 2009 by Barnett Waddingham LLP, professionally qualified actuaries.  
The key assumptions used are as follows:

  Year ended 31 March

2008/09 2007/08

Discount rate 6.50% 6.65%

Expected return on scheme assets 5.66% 6.35%

Rate of increase in pensionable salaries 4.55% 5.05%

Rate of increase for pensions in payment and deferred pensions 3.00% 3.50%

Inflation assumption 3.00% 3.50%

Non-pensioner mortality 120% PMA00/110% 
of Year of birth  
medium cohort

120% PA00  
Year of birth  

medium cohort

Pensioner mortality 120% PMA00/110% 
of Year of birth  
medium cohort

120% PA00  
Year of birth  

medium cohort

Amounts recognised in the income statement
31 March 2009

£m
31 March 2008

£m
Current service cost 5.1 6.1

Interest cost 19.8 16.8

Expected return on assets (16.8) (17.4)

Past service costs 0.4 0.5

Total charged to operating profit 8.5 6.0

398BrWa_AR0809_TEXT_AW_v1.0.indd   75 8/7/09   18:25:41



76  Accounts: Notes relating to the accounts

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet and the expected future rates of return on scheme assets were:

                31 March 2009                         31 March 2008

% £m % £m 

Equities, Property, Hedge funds  
and Active currency

7.00 120.0 7.50 151.5

Bonds and Gilts 4.20 101.3 4.80 113.4

Cash 3.00 4.9 5.25 1.9

Total fair value of assets (restated) 226.2 266.8

Present value of scheme liabilities (299.2) (300.6)

Deficit in the scheme (73.0) (33.8)

Changes in scheme liabilities
2008/09 

£m
 2007/08 

£m

At 1 April (300.6) (316.6)

Current service cost  (5.1)  (6.1)
Current service costs  
funded by member contributions

 (2.0)  (2.1)

Interest Cost  (19.8)  (16.8)

Past service cost  (0.4)  (0.5)

Benefits paid and expenses  12.4  12.2

Actuarial gains  16.3  29.3

At 31 March (299.2) (300.6)

Changes in scheme assets
2008/09 

£m
 2007/08 

£m 

At 1 April 266.8 262.4

Expected return on scheme assets  16.8  17.4

Employer contributions  7.1  7.2

Member contributions  2.0  2.1

Benefits paid and expenses  (12.4)  (12.2)

Actuarial losses  (54.1)  (10.1)

At 31 March 226.2 266.8

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expenditure (SORIE)

31 March  
2008/09 

£m

31 March  
2007/08 

£m 

Actuarial loss on assets  (54.1) (10.1)

Actuarial gain on liabilities  16.3 29.3

Total gain recognised in SORIE before adjustment for tax  (37.8) 19.2

Movement in deficit in the scheme during the year
2008/09 

£m
 2007/08 

£m 

Deficit in the scheme at 1 April (33.8) (54.2)

Expenses recognised in income statement  (8.5)  (6.0)

Contributions  7.1  7.2

Actuarial gain recognised in SORIE (37.8)  19.2

Deficit in the scheme at 31 March before tax (73.0) (33.8)
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20 DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANT
  Group and BW   

 2008/09 
£m 

2007/08
£m 

Balance at 1 April
Government grants 6.9 8.0 

Other grants 0.9 0.3 

7.8 8.3 

Grant received during the year 
Other grants 0.2 0.6

Released to income statement 
Government grants (1.1) (1.2)

Other grants (0.1) - 

Balance at 31 March 
Government grants 5.8 6.9 

Other grants 1.0 0.9 

6.8 7.8 

History of experience gains and losses

     Year to 31 March

2009 2008 2007 2006*
Present value of defined benefit obligation (299.2) (300.6) (316.6) (309.8)

Fair value of scheme assets 226.2 266.8 262.4 250.5

Deficit (73.0) (33.8) (54.2) (59.3)

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities 16.3 29.3 8.0 (21.3)

Experience adjustments on plan assets (54.1) (10.1) (3.1) 35.7

* Experience gains and losses for 2006 have not been restated in accordance with IAS 19 and are stated in accordance  
with UK GAAP (FRS17). 

b. Other post retirement benefits
Under the terms of the 1962 Transport Act, employees transferring from the British Transport Commission to successor bodies 
were entitled to retain their reduced cost travel benefits. Successor bodies, including BW, were made responsible for procuring 
the benefits on their behalf.

Currently 216 pensioners retain entitlement to this benefit. A provision to cover the present value of the future cost of these 
benefits is included in the balance sheet.

The provision was re-assessed at 31 March 2009 by independent qualified actuaries using discount rates consistent  
with those required for pension liabilities under IAS19.

Movement in provision during the year 2008/09 
£m

 2007/08 
£m 

Deficit in the scheme at 1 April (0.27) (0.23)

Expenses recognised in income statement (0.02) (0.01)

Contributions 0.03 0.02

Actuarial gain / (loss) recognised in SORIE 0.01 (0.05)

Provision at 31 March (0.25) (0.27)
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21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Details of BW’s statutory and financial framework are set out 
on page 34 and 35 and because of BW’s status as a public 
corporation, BW is not exposed to the degree of financial risk 
as faced by other business entities due to relatively low levels 
of debt. The government sets the maximum amount of grant 
and access to loans from the National Loans Fund. The 
treasury annually renews guarantees of bank overdraft facilities.

BW has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and 
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day 
operational activities rather than being held to change by  
the risks facing BW in undertaking its activities. BW is not 
significantly exposed to risks from currency fluctuations as 
business is conducted predominately in sterling. 

Liquidity risk
BW maintains short-term liquidity by judicious management  
of its cash deposits. BW is not exposed to significant liquidity 
risk due to ongoing government funding and the ability to 
release cash as necessary from investment properties or 
borrow from the National Loans Fund.

Interest rate risk
The main risk arising from BW’s financial instruments is interest 
rate risk. With the exception of National Loans Fund (NLF) 
loans all financial instruments are subject to the prevailing UK 
floating rate of interest. 

The financial assets held by the BW and the company are cash 
equivalents (Note 15) and Trade and other receivables (Note 
14), the fair value is not materially different to carrying amount.

All of BW’s borrowings are from the National Loans Fund and 
are at fixed rates of interest until the repayment date. The fair 
value of debt to the National Loans Fund (see Note 22) at 31 
March 2009 is £5.5m (2008: £7.5m), calculated using a 
discount factor of 3.5%. The carrying value of the BW 
Borrowings at 31 March 2009 is £6.9m (2008: £7.9m).

BW has interests in a number of property development  
joint ventures that are stand-alone businesses and are 
independently funded with external bank debt without recourse 
to BW.  In each of the joint ventures an assessment is made 
whether the interest payments on borrowings should be 
hedged having regard to the quantum of the debt, the period 
over which the borrowings are planned to be outstanding and 
the sensitivity of the project to changes in interest rates. At 31 
March 2009 Group share of total bank borrowings in joint 
ventures was £84.6m (2008: £46.6m). Of this total borrowings 
65% (2008: 59%) is either at fixed rates of interest or a fixed 
interest rate swap is in place.

The financial liabilities held by BW and the company are trade 
and other payables (Note 16), and the fair value of these 
liabilities is not materially different.

Credit risk
The credit risk in cash and cash equivalents is limited because 
the treasury investment policy has been defined as being 
restricted to counterparties that are specific UK registered 
banks which have Standard & Poor’s long-term ratings of at 
least A with limits for deposit duration and amount for each 
bank. These policies are continually monitored and updated  
for the prevailing market conditions. The Group has no 
significant concentration of credit risk from its customers  
as exposure is spread over a large number of entities.

Capital management
The capital of the business comprises equity and loans from 
the National Loans Fund. The objectives, policies and 
processes for the management of capital is set out in the 
Statutory and Financial Framework report on page 35. The 
monitoring and control framework is set out in the Corporate 
Governance statement on pages 36 to 41.

Group 
Financial assets
2007/08 Fixed interest rate

 note

Floating 
interest 

rate 
£m

< 1 year
%

2 - 5 years
%

> 5 years
%

Non interest 
bearing 

£m
Total

£m
restated*

Trade and other receivables 14 - - - - 84.9 84.9
Cash and cash equivalents 15 37.6 - - - - 37.6
Total financial assets  37.6 - - -  84.9  122.5 

Financial liabilities
NLF - fixed rate loan (note 22) 22  -  1.0  3.6  3.3  -  7.9 
POLP - loan (1% + BoE base rate) 16  12.9  - - -  -  12.9 
Trade and other payables 16  -  - - -  205.3  205.3
Total financial liabilities    12.9  1.0  3.6  3.3  205.3  226.1 
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BW 
Financial assets
2007/08 Fixed interest rate

note 

Floating 
interest 

rate 
£m 

< 1 year
% 

2 - 5 years
% 

> 5 years
% 

Non interest 
bearing 

£m 

 
Total

£m
restated*

Trade and other receivables 14 - - -  - 82.7 82.7
Cash and cash equivalents 15 33.1 - -  - - 33.1
Total financial assets  33.1 - -  -    82.7 115.8

Financial liabilities
NLF - fixed rate loan (note 22) 22  - 1.0 3.6 3.3  - 7.9
POLP - loan (1% + BoE base rate) 16  12.9  -  -  -  -  12.9 
Trade and other payables 16  -  -  -  - 206.0 206.0
Total financial liabilities    12.9 1.0 3.6 3.3 206.0 226.8

BW 
Financial assets
2008/09 Fixed interest rate

note

Floating 
interest 

rate 
£m

< 1 year
%

2 - 5 years
%

> 5 years
%

Non interest 
bearing 

£m
Total

£m
Trade and other receivables 14 - - - -  52.5  52.5 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 55.5 - - - - 55.5
Total financial assets 55.5 - - -  52.5 108.0

Financial liabilities
NLF - fixed rate loan 22  - 0.9 2.7 3.3  - 6.9
POLP - loan (1% + BoE base rate) 16 12.9 - - -  -  12.9 
Trade and other payables 16 - - - - 213.5 213.5
Total financial liabilities  12.9  0.9 2.7  3.3 213.5 233.3
The Port of London Properties Ltd loan interest is calculated at 1% plus Bank of England base rate (BoE BR). A 1% and 2% 
increase in BoE BR would increase cost in the income statement by £0.1m and £0.2m respectively and reduce reserves  
by £0.1m and £0.2m. *See Note 27 on page 84.       

Group 
Financial assets
2008/09 Fixed interest rate

note

Floating 
interest 

rate 
£m

< 1 year
%

2 - 5 years
%

> 5 years
%

Non interest 
bearing 

£m
Total

£m
Trade and other receivables 14 - - - -  54.6  54.6 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 61.3 - - - -  61.3 
Total financial assets  61.3 - - -  54.6 115.9

Financial liabilities
NLF - fixed rate loan (note 22) 22 - 0.9 2.7 3.3 - 6.9
POLP - loan (1% + BoE base rate) 16 12.9 - - - -  12.9 
Trade and other payables 16 - - - - 214.3 214.3
Total financial liabilities  12.9  0.9 2.7  3.3 214.3 234.1 
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Borrowing authorised by Defra 2008/09
£m 

2007/08
£m 

Amount of debt due to National Loans Fund 6.9 7.9

Bank overdraft facility 3.0 3.0

Borrowing authorised by Defra 9.9 10.9 

The bank overdraft facility is guaranteed by HM Treasury annually.

Analysis of changes in financing during the year

Capital debt
2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m 
At 1 April 7.9 9.9

New loans 11.0 -

Loans repaid (12.0) (2.0)

At 31 March 6.9 7.9 

 Group and BW
Loans are repayable as follows: 2008/09

£m 
2007/08

£m 

In one year or less 0.9 1.0

Between one and two years 0.7 0.9

Between two and five years 2.0 2.7

In greater than five years 3.3 3.3

Total 6.9 7.9 

Details of individual loans:
Maturity date Rate of Interest

% 
Amount

£m
Maturity

Date
Rate of Interest

%
Amount

£m
2 Apr 2009 10.25 0.9 2 Oct 2012 9.50 0.7 
2 Apr 2010 11.13 0.6 2 Apr 2020 8.63 1.0 
2 Apr 2010 10.88 0.1 2 Apr 2021 8.50 1.0 
2 Apr 2011 9.25 0.3 2 Apr 2022 7.75 0.3 
2 Apr 2012 10.25 0.6 2 Apr 2023 5.88 0.3 
2 Apr 2012 9.00 0.4 2 Apr 2024 5.00 0.7 

The Government makes capital contributions to BW to enable BW to repay those loans maturing before 2013 (£3.6m)  
as they mature, thus removing from BW the need to take out new loans to repay them.

22 DUE TO NATIONAL LOANS FUND
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23 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Balance at 1 April 2008 242.6 246.5 (25.7) 463.4 4.1 10.3 14.4 477.8 
Net income recognised directly  
in equity   (27.2)    
Deficit for the financial year  
after taxation   (72.9)   

Total deficit for the year - - (100.1) (100.1) - - - (100.1)
Transfer of profits on sale  
   of investment properties net of tax 5.0 - (5.0) - - - - -
Unrealised surplus on revaluation  
   of investment properties - (51.4) 51.4 - - - - -
Realisation of property revaluation  
   gains of previous years 11.0 (11.0) - - - - - -
Unrealised investment property gains     
   transferred to operational property - 1.6 (1.6) - - - - -
Transfer of permanent losses arising    
   from investments in property   
   joint ventures.  (28.8) - 28.8 - - - - -
Transfer of prior year permanent  
   losses arising from investments  
   in property joint ventures.  (4.4) - 4.4 - - - - -
Receipt from Defra  - - - - - 1.0 1.0 1.0 
Balance at 31 March 2009 225.4 185.7 (47.8) 363.3 4.1 11.3 15.4 378.7

Retained earnings Reserves

Realised 
Capital 

Reserve

Investment 
Property 

Revaluation 
Reserve

Profit and 
Loss  

Account

Total 
retained 
earnings

Unrealised 
Capital 

Reserve
Capital 

Contribution
Total 

reserves Totals

Group £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
restated* restated*

Balance at 1 April 2007 210.4 240.7 (36.7) 414.4 4.1 8.3 12.4 426.8
Net income recognised directly  
in equity   12.7  
Surplus for the financial year  
after taxation   36.3

Total surplus for the year - - 49.0 49.0 - - - 49.0
Transfer of profits on sale of investment   
   properties net of tax 17.3 - (17.3) - - - - -
Unrealised surplus on revaluation  
   of investment properties - 19.0 (19.0) - - - - -
Realisation of property revaluation  
   gains of previous years 14.9 (14.9) - - - - - -
Unrealised investment property gains     
   transferred to operational property - 1.7 (1.7) - - - - -
Receipt from Defra - - - - - 2.0 2.0 2.0
Balance at 31 March 2008 242.6 246.8  (25.7) 463.4  4.1 10.3  14.4  477.8  
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Retained earnings Reserves

Realised 
Capital 

Reserve

Investment 
Property 

Revaluation 
Reserve

Profit and 
Loss  

Account

Total 
retained 
earnings

Unrealised 
Capital 

Reserve
Capital 

Contribution
Total 

reserves Total

BW £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
restated* restated*

Balance at 1 April 2007 212.5 233.4 (33.0) 412.9 4.1 8.3 12.4 425.3 
   Net income recognised directly  
   in equity   12.0     
   Surplus for the financial year  
   after taxation   43.2     
Total surplus for the year - - 55.2 55.2 - - - 55.2
Transfer of profits on sale of investment   
   properties net of tax 17.2 - (17.2) - - - - -
Unrealised surplus on revaluation  
   of investment properties  - 19.6 (19.6) - - - - -
Realisation of property revaluation    
   gains of previous years 14.1 (14.1) - - - - - -
Unrealised investment property gains    
   transferred to operational property - 1.7 (1.7) - - - - -
Receipt from Defra - - - - - 2.0 2.0 2.0 
Balance at 31 March 2008 243.8 240.6 (16.3) 468.1 4.1 10.3 14.4 482.5 

Balance at 1 April 2008 243.8 240.6 (16.3) 468.1 4.1 10.3 14.4 482.5 
   Net income recognised directly  
   in equity   (27.2)   
   Deficit for the financial year  
   after taxation  (71.5)    
Total deficit for the year - - (98.7) (98.7) - - - (98.7)
Transfer of profits on sale of investment   
   properties net of tax 5.1 - (5.1) - - - - -
Unrealised surplus on revaluation  
   of investment properties  - (49.5) 49.5 - - - - -
Realisation of property revaluation    
   gains of previous years 18.7 (18.7) - - - - - -
Unrealised investment property gains   
   transferred to operational property - 1.6 (1.6) - - - - -
Receipt from Defra - - - - - 1.0 1.0 1.0 
Balance at 31 March 2009 267.6 174.0 (72.2) 369.4 4.1 11.3 15.4 384.8 

The realised capital reserve includes the value of profits arising from the sale of property and other property rights and the 
realisation of property revaluation gains of previous years, net of corporation tax. The investment property revaluation reserve 
includes unrealised gains on property valuation. The unrealised capital reserve includes the excess of the fair value of assets 
acquired on acquisition of a business over the fair value of the consideration paid. Capital contributions are from Defra to enable 
BW to repay National Loans Fund loans maturing before 2013 as they mature (see Note 22).
*See Note 27 on page 84.         

24 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure for which BW had contracted at 31 March 2009 was £1.3m (2008 : £1.0m).
Capital commitments arising within joint ventures and subsidiaries. Capital expenditure which had been contracted  
at 31 March 2009 was £21.2m (2008: £61.1m).
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25 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

a) Contingent liabilities arising from third party claims, valued at £0.5m (2008: £0.5m), are not included in the balance  
sheet as it is not considered likely that the amounts will fall due for payment. 

b) There are a number of contingent liabilities that arise in the normal course of business which if realised are not expected  
to result in a material liability to the Group. The most significant of these relates to ongoing litigation where any adverse 
outcome is not expected to exceed £0.4m. The information usually required by IAS 37 is not disclosed, because the directors 
believe that to do so would seriously prejudice the outcome of the litigation. The Group recognises provisions for liabilities  
when it is more likely than not a settlement will be required and the value of such a payment can be reliably estimated.

26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year the Group and BW entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other related parties.  
There were no direct transactions with directors of BW. Transactions entered into, and trading balances outstanding  
at 31 March with other related parties, are as follows:         
             

Group 2008/09

Related party

Services rendered 
to related party

£m 

Purchases from 
related party

£m 

Amounts owed 
by related party

£m 

   Entities sponsored by Defra 0.8 - 0.3
   Entities with directors in common - 0.2 -
   Joint ventures 5.8 - 117.1
   Port of London Properties - - (12.9)

Group 2007/08

Related party

Services rendered 
to related party

£m 

Purchases from 
related party

£m 

Amounts owed 
by related party

£m 
   Entities sponsored by Defra  0.5 -  0.5 

   Entities with directors in common 1.2 0.1 2.1

   Joint ventures 1.0 - 76.3

BW 2008/09

Related party

Services rendered 
to related party

£m 

Purchases from 
related party

£m 

Amounts owed 
by related party

£m 

   Entities sponsored by Defra  0.8 - 3.3
   Entities with directors in common - 0.2 -
   Joint ventures and subsidiaries 5.9 - 117.2
   Port of London Properties - - (12.9)

BW 2007/08

Related party

Services rendered 
to related party

£m 

Purchases from 
related party

£m 

Amounts owed 
by related party

£m 
   Entities sponsored by Defra 0.5 -  0.5 

   Entities with directors in common 1.2 0.1 2.1

   Joint ventures and subsidiaries 1.0 - 76.3

Prior year amounts have been restated.

BW policy is to appoint Directors and senior members of staff to the Board of all group undertakings and other key partners  
to ensure that BW’s interests are properly represented. 

Compensation of key management personnel
Key management personnel are considered to be the directors and their remuneration is disclosed within the Remuneration 
Report on pages 42 to 45.
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a Balance sheet
 Amounts ‘Due to National Loans Fund’ have been split into their current and non current components.
 £1.0m has been added to current liabilities and equal amount subtracted from non current liabilities.

b Segmental (Note 2)
 Prior comparatives have been restated to IFRS from UK GAAP. 

c Revenue (Note 3)
 Additional sub-categories of income have been introduced in line with IAS 18.

d Expenditure (Note 5)
 Within Auditor remuneration £13,800 has been reclassified from ‘Audit of the financial statements of the Company’s
 subsidiaries’ to ‘Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the financial statements’.

e Net Finance Cost (Note 7)
 Whilst the total finance cost reported in 2007/08 is correct, the allocation across categories of interest has been restated.

f Investment property (Note 10) 
 BW analysis of net book value of investments properties between historic costs and revaluation surpluses  
 has been restated.

g Investments (Note 12)
 The joint ventures income and expenses disclosure has been restated to IFRS from UK GAAP. As a result, operating
 expenditure has increased by £1m.

h Operating leases (Note 18)
 ‘Future minimum rentals payable’ and ‘Future minimum rentals receivables’ calculations have been updated, to take into   
 account the IFRS requirements to include lease rentals to the end of the lease period, rather than the first break clause,  
 which was used in the previous year. The increase on operating lease agreements where the group is a lessee is £64.7m  
 and the increase in the operating lease agreements where Group is a lessor is £1,237.3m.

i Financial instruments (Note 21)
 Reference to loans in joint ventures has been restated to quote the correct Group share of bank loans (£46.6m).
 The trade and receivables’ balances have been restated to include all of trade and receivables, resulting 
 in an increase in total financial assets of £80.3m. 

j Statement of changes in equity (Note 23)
 Whilst the total equity reported in 2007/08 is correct, the allocation across sub-categories of retained earnings  
 has been restated. 

k Capital commitments (Note 24)
 The capital commitments arising in joint ventures and subsidiaries have been restated to £61.1m.

l Related party transactions (Note 26)
 Groups’ figures have been restated to include transactions with joint ventures. This is shown as an additional
 line under the Group section.

 

27 RESTATEMENT OF COMPARATIVES
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SCOTLAND ACCOUNTS

Income statement for the year to 31 March 2009 2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Direct Income 5.6 7.0

Scottish Government grant 11.6 11.3

Total Revenue 17.2 18.3

Major works (1.4) (2.5)

Staff costs (6.3) (6.1)

Depreciation (0.4) (0.4)

Other operating charges (10.6) (9.0)

Total Expenditure (18.7) (18.0)

Operating profit (1.5) 0.3

Share of operating profits and losses of joint ventures 1.0 -

Profit on sale of investment properties 0.3 1.0 

Revaluation of investment properties 0.4 -

Dividends received from joint ventures - 1.0 

Interest receivable - - 

Surplus for the financial year before tax (transferred to BW Group reserves) 0.2 2.3

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2009 2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Non-current assets
Tangible assets 17.2 17.3

Investments in joint ventures - 3.6

Share of BW Group investment joint ventures 10.0 –

27.2 20.9

Current assets
Stocks - 0.1

Debtors 2.0 2.8

Cash at bank and in hand 1.0 - 

3.0 2.9

Current Liabilities
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year (2.8) (3.5)

Non-current liabilities
Deferred capital grant (0.7) (0.8)

Net assets 26.7 19.5

Financed by
Investment property revaluation reserve 5.1 5.0

Realised capital reserve 8.4 7.9

Funding from BW Group 13.2 6.6

26.7 19.5
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Notes to Scotland Accounts

Grants receivable from Scottish Government 2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Grants received in the year 11.6 15.1

Accrued grant at 1 April - (3.8)

11.6 11.3

Deferred capital grant released to the income statement - -

11.6 11.3

Tangible fixed assets (net book value) 2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

Freehold land, buildings and structure operational 5.0 4.8

Freehold land, buildings and structure investment 10.0 10.2

Capital plant and equipment 2.2 2.3

17.2 17.3

Investments in joint ventures
In April 2008 agreement was reached between BW, Scottish Government and Defra to provide greater transparency in the 
accounts for BW Scotland and its stakeholders. As well as reviewing charges for cross-border support from BW headquarters 
and central services, the agreement included the provision of a notional dividend from BW Group to reflect the share of profits 
received from the existing investment in Scotland through joint ventures (Edinburgh Quay, Timber Basin, ISIS Glasgow and the 
Waterside Pubs Partnership). As a consequence the notional dividend received from BW Group is included in the BW Scotland 
income statement and the capital investment is accounted in England & Wales.  
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The Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
in exercise of the powers conferred by section 24 of the Transport 
Act 1962 and of all other powers enabling him in that respect, 
and with the consent of the Treasury and in consultation with  
the Scottish Government, hereby makes the following direction.

1. The annual accounts, which it is the duty of the British 
Waterways Board (hereinafter referred to as British  
Waterways) to prepare in respect of the year ended  
31 March 2009 shall comprise: 

(a) in respect of British Waterways and its subsidiaries
  
  (i)   a Board Members’ report;
  (ii)  a Group income statement;
  (iii) a Group statement of recognised income and expense; 
  (iv) a Group balance sheet; and 
  (v)  a Group cash flow statement; and

(b) in respect of British Waterways  (public corporation)

  (i)  statement of recognised income and expense;
  (ii) a balance sheet; and
  (iii) a cash flow statement

including in each case such notes as may be necessary  
for the purposes referred to in paragraph 2 below.

2. The annual accounts referred to above shall give a true and  
fair view of the profit or loss, state of affairs and cash flows  
of British Waterways and its subsidiaries. Subject to the 
foregoing requirements, without limiting the information given, 
and save as described in Schedule 1 to this direction, the 
annual accounts shall also, where applicable, comply with:

(a) the accounting and disclosure requirements of companies  
 legislation currently in force;

(b) the accounts disclosure requirements of paragraph 43 of  
 Chapter 9 of the Financial Services Authority listing rules;

(c) the best commercial accounting practice and accounting 
 standards issued by the International Accounting Standards  
 Board as adopted by the European Union; and

(d) any additional disclosure or accounting requirements that  
 the Treasury may issue from time to time in respect  
 of public corporations’ accounts. 

3. The balance sheet shall be prepared under the historical cost 
convention modified by the revaluation of investment properties.

4. Clarification of the application of the accounting and disclosure 
requirements of the Companies Act and accounting standards 
is given in Schedule 1 to this Direction. The annual accounts shall 
include the information set out in Schedule 2 to this direction.

5. The Direction shall be reproduced as an annex  
to the annual accounts.

6. The Direction issued in April 2008 is hereby revoked.

Dated 1 April 2009
Signed by authority of the Secretary of State

Sarah Nason
A Senior Civil Servant in the Department for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs. 

Schedule 1
In the income statement, the profits and losses on non-operational 
property activities shall be transferred to capital reserves.

Schedule 2
(I)  The board members’ report shall
  
  (a)  contain the information which the Companies Act  

   1985 requires to be disclosed in the directors’ report,  
   where appropriate;

  (b) state that the accounts have been prepared in a form  
   notified by the Secretary of State with the consent  
   of the Treasury in accordance with the relevant   
   statute and

  (c) include a brief history and statutory background  
   of British Waterways.  

 
(II)  The annual accounts, or the notes thereto, shall disclose:  

 the turnover and other operating income, operating costs,  
 each analysed as follows:

  (i)  British Waterways’ subsidiary companies
  (ii) British Waterways’ share of joint ventures  

   and associates

(III) The annual accounts shall also disclose details of:

  (a) rents receivable for the year showing separately  
   rents from investment property and rents  
   from other property; 

  (b)  interests during the year in other transport  
   undertakings and other trade investments;

  (c)  government grant received during the year reconciled  
   to income from grant as shown in the profit  
   and loss account; 

  (d)  indebtedness to the Secretary of State (National Loans  
   Fund) at the year end including details of maturity dates,  
   interest rates and information about the use of British  
   Waterways’ borrowing powers. 

  (e)  the Chairman’s and board members’ emoluments for  
   the year provided written consent has been obtained  
   to disclosure under the Data Protection Act 1998 and  
   if consent to disclosure is withheld then a statement  
   to that effect against the name of the individual (this  
   consent is not required where a requirement to disclose  
   is a condition in the employment contract).

BRITISH WATERWAYS  
ACCOUNTS DIRECTION 
GIVEN BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE FOR THE DEPARTMENT FOR ENVIRONMENT, 
FOOD AND RURAL AFFAIRS IN RESPECT OF THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
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INCOME STATEMENT BW Group
2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06 2004/05

Direct income from: £m £m £m £m £m

Property 61.7 55.3 55.0 64.0 55.7

Leisure uses 24.9 22.4 20.5 25.2 23.3

Water sales 5.0 4.2 4.1 4.5 4.5

Retail sales 4.8 5.6 - - -

Funding from third parties towards restoration 18.1 17.2 5.3 14.5 17.0

Funding from third parties towards waterway 
maintenance and repair

24.2 31.9 12.1 4.5 3.4

Other income 10.3 14.6 19.8 1.7 1.8

Direct income 149.0 151.2 116.8 114.4 105.7

Government grant 74.3 67.9 72.1 76.1 73.4

Total revenue 223.3 219.1 188.9 190.5 179.1

Operating (loss) / profit 5.6 (1.5) (0.4)  0.4  (7.4) 

Share of profits and losses from joint ventures (33.3) (2.4)  7.3   7.7   1.1  

Profit on sale of investment properties 4.7 13.1 8.3 11.5 14.8

(Loss) / Gain on revaluation of investment properties (66.4) 17.2 44.1 - -

Gain on sale of other fixed asset investments  -   - -  3.5  -   

Profit on sale of asset held for sale  -    6.3  - - -

Net finance cost (3.4) (0.2) (0.4) (3.0) (3.5) 

(Deficit) / surplus before taxation (92.8)  32.5   58.9   20.1   5.0  

Taxation 19.9  3.8  (11.5) (6.8) (2.7) 

(Deficit) / surplus after taxation (72.9)  36.3   47.4   13.3   2.3  

BALANCE SHEET
Assets employed:
Non-current assets  649.6   731.5   702.1   583.0   530.8  

Non-current assets held for sale  10.8  - - - -

Current assets  117.4   124.0   104.5   92.7   82.3  

Total assets 777.8  855.5   806.6   675.7   613.1  

Current liabilities (94.4) (108.3) (92.6) (77.7) (72.6) 

Non-current liabilities
Other payables (144.9) (125.0) (107.9) (51.6) (45.7) 

Deferred tax liabilities (73.7) (95.6) (106.6) - -

Provisions for liabilities and charges  -   - - (11.9) (8.5) 

Employee retirement benefits (73.3) (34.1) (54.4) (41.5) (51.4) 

Deferred capital grant (6.8) (7.8) (8.4) (10.0) (11.6) 

Debt (6.0) (6.9) (9.9) (10.5) (14.1) 

Total non-current liabilities (304.7) (269.4) (287.2) (125.5) (131.3) 

Total liabilities (399.1) (377.7) (379.8) (203.2) (203.9) 

Net assets 378.7 477.8 426.8 472.5 409.2

FINANCED BY
Equity (retained earnings and other reserves) 378.7  477.8   426.8   472.5   409.2  

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) were adopted with effect from 1 April 2006. Figures prior 2006/07 are presented in UK GAAP.   
 

FIVE YEAR SUMMARIES
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CONTaCT 
dETailS 

Head Office
64 Clarendon Road
Watford
WD17 1DA
T 0845 671 5530
F 01923 201400

Customer Service Centre
64 Clarendon Road
Watford
WD17 1DA
T 0845 671 5530
F 01923 201304
enquiries.hq@britishwaterways.co.uk

BW Scotland
Canal House
Applecross Street
Glasgow G4 9SP
T 0141 332 6936
F 0141 331 1688
enquiries.scotland@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
 
North West Waterways
Waterside House, Waterside Drive
Wigan WN3 5AZ
T 01942 405700
F 01942 405710
enquiries.northwest@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
 
Yorkshire Waterways
Fearns Wharf, Neptune Street
Leeds LS9 8PB
T 0113 281 6800
F 0113 281 6886
enquiries.yorkshire@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
 
Wales & Border Counties Waterways
Navigation Road
Northwich CW8 1BH
T 01606 723800
F 01606 871471
enquiries.wbc@britishwaterways.co.uk
 

East Midlands Waterways
The Kiln, Mather Road
Newark NG24 1FB
T 01636 704481
F 01636 705584
enquiries.eastmidlands@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
 
West Midlands Waterways
Peel’s Wharf, Lichfield Street
Fazeley, Tamworth B78 3QZ
T 01827 252000
F 01827 288071
enquiries.westmidlands@
britishwaterways.co.uk
 
South West Waterways
The Dock Office
Commercial Road
Gloucester  GL1 2EB
T 01452 318000
F 01452 318076
enquiries.southwest@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
 

South East Waterways
Elder House
510-524 Elder Gate
Central Milton Keynes MK9 1BW
T 01908 302500
F 01908 302510
enquiries.southeast@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk
 
BW London
1 Sheldon Square
Paddington Central
London W2 6TT
T 020 7985 7200
F 020 7985 7201
enquiries.london@ 
britishwaterways.co.uk

  89

In April 2009 BW announced proposals to change its internal structure in England & Wales, 
including the creation of 11 smaller, ‘hands-on’ waterway units. Consultation is under way  
to decide the precise boundaries and names for these new waterway units ahead of them  
coming into effect in October 2009 when we will publish new contact details on our website,  
www.britishwaterways.co.uk/contact-us
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British Waterways
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www.waterscape.com, your online guide  
to Britain’s canals, rivers and lakes.
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